TORREeNT TRAUSIDE LTD
O\\32882

|

L

AD9 21/10/2023 #61
COMPANIES HOUSE

SATURDAY

Annual Report and Accounts 2023

vpplc.com



In This Report

Strategic Report

01 Business Model and Strategy
02 Groyp Businesses

04 Long Term Success

a6 Financial Highlights

vy
=
=
)
L=3
s
=
o
h-]
S
S
=

07 Chairman’s Statement

08 Business Review
15 Responsible Business Report

35 Financial Review @
37 Viability Staterment g
38 Risk Management 3
39 Principal Risks and Emerging Risk Areas
Governance o
]
43 The Board 2
44 Governance 9%
48 Nomination Committee g
49  Audit Committee Repart =
52 Remuneration Committee Report Annual Statement
55 Directors” Remuneration Policy g
62 Annual Report on Remuneration ?ﬁ
70 Directors’ Report g
73 Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities s
74 Independent Auditors’ Report %'

Financial Statements

83 Consolidated Income Statement

84 Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
84 Consclidated Statement of Changes in Equity

85 Consolidated Balance Sheet

86 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

87 Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity
88 Parent Company Balance Sheet

89 Parent Company Statement of Cash Flows

90 Notes

Shareholder Information

128  Five Year Summary
129  Alternative Performance Measures
130  Directors and Advisors

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023  vppic.com




Business Model and Strategy

Vp is a specialist rental business providing products and services to a diverse range
of end markets including infrastructure, construction, housebuilding and energy in

the UK and internationally.

We aim to deliver high quality returns to our shareholders and other stakeholders,
sustained over the long term whilst embracing our environmental, social and

governance responsibilities.

Resilient and
Proven Specialist
Rental Model

- Market leading positions in
niche sectors

- Diverse end markets in UK and
internationally

- Long term time horizon

- Embrace change and innovate

- Exceed custorner expectations

- Value added service proposition

KPis

Sustainability
Focus

- Defined strategy
« Reduce emissions and waste
- Innovate with green products

» Safe and sustainable
business

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 vppilc.com

Employer of

Choice; Provider

of Choice

« Attract and retain the
best people

+ Product service reliability and
operational excellence

- Learning and development
commitment

First Class Asset
Management

- Quality products at
competitive prices

- Maintain assets through
rental life cycles

» Strong balance sheet and

cash generation for fleet

growth and acquisitions
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Group Businesses

1'i§ UK Forks

¥ ratenals Handling Specialists

UK Forks are the UK’s leading specialist hirers of
telescopic handlers used to improve safety and
productivity on construction and housebuilding

sites.

SRIANIERIAL [ el LB

L'+] BrandonHire Station

¥ The UK’s Tool and Equipment Hire Specialist
Brandon Hire Staticn is the leading provider of
tools and associated products to industry,
construction and home owners.

ﬁ Brandon v Stalion . 8

OPEN ) WHE
PUBLIC & TAADE

ESS

Safely, Survey, Test & Measurement

ESS is the leading specialist provider of safety,
survey, communications and test & measurement
equipment rental in the UK.

i'i] Groundforce

i  soecialist Construction Solutions

Groundforce is the market leading provider of
excavation support systems to the water, civil
engineering and construction industries with
operations in the UK, the Republic of Ireland and
mainland Europe.

L4 TPA

ple Pariable Roadways

TPA Portable Roadways is one of Europe’s largest
suppliers of temporary access solutions. Operating
from bases in the UK and Germany, TPA provides
portable roadways and temporary access solutions to
markets including transmissicn, construction, rail and
outdoor events.

02 vppic.com  Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023




Group Businesses
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\/ij MEP Hire

ple Mechanital, Fhectrical & 1ow tevel Acess Spenalists

MEP Hire is the UK’s largest provider of
mechanical and electrical press fittings and low
Jevel access platforms to the construction, fit
out, mechanical and electrical markets.

W LEREFESYE L tTetn i ieiy
P Railway Plant. Railwoy People

Torrent Trackside are specialist suppliers of rail
infrastructure portable plant and trackside
services to Network Rail, London Underground
and their appointed contractors.

Vi Airpac Rentals

¥ Energy Industry Solutions

Airpac Rentals Energy Industry Solutions is an
international business supporting a wide range
of energy markets including, well test, pipeline
testing, rig maintenance, LNG and geothermal
drilling.

£ R Group

TR is Australasia’s leading technical equipment
rental group providing test and measurement,
communications, calibration and audic visual
solutions in Australia, New Zealand and South
East Asia.
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Long Term Success

Vp plc has a leng and distinguished history as a major rental business. Founded
in 1954, the Company floated on the UK Stock Market in 1973 as Vibroplant plc.

In 2000, the Company exited its then core general plant hire business to focus on
higher return, value added, specialist rental activities and subsequently changed
its name to Vp plc.

The Group has since developed a wide range of sector leading, specialist rental
businesses serving a diverse range of end markets in both UK and International
markets.

TPA

UK Forks and
i division ESS
acquired
US powered Exit from
access USA
business
established ¢
First J
move into
specialist , €
Vibratory plant : e
El‘;':ft" :;re Airpac ¢  Hire Station
(Northern) ' ; Rail: Torrent | formed through
Limited \ " Trackside : merger of
founded € " acquired . 5 regional tool
‘ arirt - businesses
P . Groundforce
acquired EraCil
Shoring from SGB Renamed
division Vp plc
established 1
Floated an
main market
Vibroplant
plc
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Acquisition of
MA&S Hire

Acquisitions of
Higher Access

and TR Pty g
: Vp celebrates (Australia) 2
MEP 60 years 2
acquired
| L w0y 5
€ | Acquisition of ]
‘ g . Brandon Hire
; AT i
i e © Acquisition =
| S of Test & 5
| Geogralpmcal Measurement &
Do | expansion: 2
P . Global {Airpac g
. Acquisition of . Bukom) Eire &
l Bukom Cilfield (Groundforce) 5
- Services ' Germany (TPA)
i {Airpac Bukom
i formed)

Revenue History

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 vpplc.com 05



Financial Highlights

GROUP REVENUE 3828 715
3629 .
350.9

3080 °

£377.5m

2019 20200 2021 2022 2023

ADJUSTED PROFIT a8 471

BEFORE TAX, . 405
AMORTISATION AND ' 389
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS™ : :

233

£40.5m

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

RETURN ON AVERAGE CAPITAL EMPLOYED”

14.40%

9.2

14.4

2019 2020 20271 2022 2023

STATUTORY PROFIT/(LO55) BEFORE TAX

356
336

£30.7m

307

(2.3)

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

ADJUSTED BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE®

95.1
719.0
7.2
46.8

91.0

79.0p

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

375
36.90
3p.2 305 .
250 .

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

37.5

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

NET DEBT EXCLUDING LEASE LIABILITIES”
167.7

159.8
1344

£1344m = I

2009 2020 2027 2022 2023

STATUTORY BASIC EARNINGS /(LOSS) PER SHARE

652 64

S81p e ]

2019 2020 2021 2027 2023

These measures are explaned and reconciled in the Alternative Performance Measures seclion on page 129
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Chairman’s Statement

I am very pleased to report on a year

of solid progress against a background
of stable but occasionally challenging

markets.

For the year to 31 March 2023, adjusted profit before tax,
amortisation, impairment of intangible assets and
exceptional items™ rose by 4% to £40.5 million (2022:
£38.9 million) on revenue ahead 6% to £371.5 million
(2022: £350.9 million). Adjusted EBITDA" improved to
£92.9 million (2022: £88.9 million}).

Capital investment in the rental fleet was £59.9 million
(2022: £59.8 million} as we responded to specific
mvestment opportunities and our continued  transition
towards maore enviranmentally friendly solutions.  Supply
chain challenges eased sormewhal during the year, although
localised bottlenecks are still present in certain areas.

Year-end net debt excluding lease habililes  was £134.4
millien (2022: £130.6 million}.

Return on average capital employed™ was 14.4% (2022:
14.5%) in line with our long term target, an excellent
result which reflects ance again the underlying quality of
the Growup's earnings. Adjusted earnings per share” of 79.0
pence per share (2022: 71.2 pente per share}, grew faster
than profit due to the impact of deferred tax re-
measurements discussed in Note 8.

Al the AGM, scheduled to be held on 20 July 2023, the
Board will be recommending paymert of 3 final dividend of
26.5 pence per share (2022: 25.5 pence per share} making
a total for the year of 37.5 pence per share (2022: 36.0
pence per share). Subject to shareholder approval, it is
proposed to pay the final dividend on 4 August 2023 to
members reqistered at 23 June 2023 This proposed level
of dividend is based on our policy to distribute on a two
limes covered eamnings basis over the cycle.

In April 2022, at the request of the controlling sharehalder,
Ackers. P Investment Company Limited, the Board
launched a formal sales process.  Although significant
interest was {orthcoming, the Board unanimously
concluded that none of the proposals would meet the
Board’s objectives of delivering an outcome that would
satisfy the interests of all stakeholders. Termination of the
process was announced on 16 August 2022. The process
incurred exceptional costs of £1.7 milhen. Throughout the
pracess, we continued 1o run in a “business as usual”
mode and | am pleased 1o report that we have nol
observed any negative conseguences from the process,
either internally or externally.

Whilst the Covid-19 pandemic is thankfully behind us, it
has impacted much of the business landscape within

eremy Pitkington

which we operate. This has made recovery more hesitant
in certain markets than we had originally expected but
nevertheless the Group has made further good progress
this year.

During the year, both Steve Ragers and Allison Bainbridge
retired after 13 and 17 years respectively with the Group.
It is my pleasure 1o extend a heartfelt thanks to both for
their exemplary service and to wish them a long and
enjoyable retirement.

It is also my pleasurable duty to welcome three new
members to the Board. Anna Bielby joined on 1 January
2023 as our new Chief Financial Otficer and brings deep and
relevant experience to the role. Mark Botlomley and Stuart
watson joined the Board as non-executive Directors at the
same time with Stuart assuming the role of Audit Chairman
to replace the retinng Steve Rogers. Mark will, at the AGM,
assume the role of Remuneration Committee Chairman,
succeeding Phil White who remains on the Board. We look
forward ta enjoying the benefit of the experience and new
insights that these appointments will bring.

we have a successful long term track record of meeting
and avercoming ecenomic challenges and we believe we
can identify profitable growth opportunities to continue to
deliver the sector leading results our stakeholders have
come to expect.

It remains my great pleasure to thank all our employees
for their hard work and commitrment that has made these
resulls very satisfactory.

Jeremy Pilkington
Chairman
6 June 2023

“These measures are explained and reconciled in the Alternative Performance Measures section on page 129

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023  vpplc.com
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Business Review

Overview

Vp plc is a rental business providing
specialist products and services to a
diverse range of end markets including
infrastructure, construction, housebuilding,
and energy. The Group comprises a UK

and an International Division.

Revenue
Adjusted operating profit before amortisation,

impairment of intangible assets and exceptional items”

Adjusted operating margin”®
investment in rental fleet

Return on average capital employed”
Statutory operating profit

Chief Executive. Netl Stothard

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
£371.5 million £350.9 million

£46.0 million £43.3 million

12.4% 12.3%
£59.9 million £59.8 million

14.4% 14.5%
£39.3 million £43.0 million

These measures are explained and reconciled 10 the Allernalive Performance Measures section on page 129.

The year to 31 March 2023 was a period of further
positive development for the Group. In spite of
significant macro-economic headwinds the Group
delivered tangible progress as we proactively evolved
the business in response to those trading conditions
and with many of our core markets maintaining
demand during the period.

Group adjusted operating profit before amortisation,
impairment of intangible assets and exceptional items”
increased by 6% to £46.0 million compared with prior year
of £43.3 million. Adjusted operating margin” held up well,
increasing to 12.4% (2022: 12.3%). Maintaining margin is
particularly pleasing given the significant supply chain cost
inflation experienced throughout the year This resilience
Hlustrates our ability to react guickly to changing
crcumstances and to protect the quality of our profits
through a combination of price ingreases to customers,
efficient operational management and a keen eye on cosls.
Group revenue alse grew by 6% to £371.5 million (2022
£350.9 millien). The increased revenue was derived from a
combination of price increases and activity growth from
certan of our markets.

Qur Return on Average (apital Employed ™ (ROACE) continues
lo be stiong at 14.4% (2022: 14.5%} and close o our long

038

term, through the cycle, ROACE target of 15%.

Maintaining a modern and reliable rental fleet, including
the widespread ntroduction of cleaner, greener product
solutions remains a key driver of our capital Investrnent
programme.  Gross nvestment in rental fleet of £59.9
million was at a similar level to prior year of £59.8 million.
Fleet disposals proceeds were £24 .6 million (2022: £17.4
million).  Net capital expenditure therefore reduced to
£35.3 million (2022. £42.4 rmillion). The disposal of fleet in
the year generated profits on disposal of £9.1 million
(2022: £7.0 million).

we entered the period under review with healthy order
books for new capital investrnent, partially to support growth
and partially as replacement of products retinng from the hire
fleet in the normal life cycle. Supply chains were particularly
challenging in terms of lead times as well as cost and we
soughl to maximise our appartunity with some pre-emptive
ardering. In response to those markets where the rate of
growth slowed, we subsequently reduced fleet capex in the
second half of the year and increased disposals.

Qur fleet capex included a large proportion (£15 million} of
more environmentally friendly products which replaced, in
many cases, petrol / diesel driven alternatives.

vpple.com Vp ple Annual Report and Accounts 2023



Business Review

The Group experienced relatively cansistent, but differing
conditions 1n 1ts core markets. Both the UK and Internationat
divisions made good progress.  Our UK performance was
positive, despite generally weaker confidence in the wider
economy. Our Internaticnal businesses particufarly in South
East Asia, Australia and New Zealand experienced belier
trading conditions with an overall improving outlook.

The Infrastructure markets in the UK remained generally
supportive and we experienced solid demand from rail,
transmussion and the waler sectors in particular.  After a
stiong performance with HS2 in the prior year, the
slowdown of waorkstreams during 2022 translated into
lower levels of activity on this praject.

Our other large market exposure is in general non-residential
consiruction where demand remained relatively slable but
still lacking any further signs of tangible recovery. In house
building, we enjoyed good demand throughout mast of the
yeal. Into the new calendar year residential construction
slowed a little but this has stabilised as we enter our new
financial year and we remain optimistic about longer term
prospects in this sector

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023  vpple.com

The Group's aperating profit befare amortisation, imparment of
intangible assets and exceptional items” was primanly sourced
in the UK divisian, it the International division made good
Drogress year on year.

Towards the end of the financial year we carned out some
restructuring across a number of our business units where
we had identified tangible efficiency opportunities. These
actions incurred £33 mulion of exceptional costs in the
year mostly relating to properties and should help deliver
further improvement in Group performance in the new
financial year.

We have twg business units (Groundforce and TPA) that
also operate 1 mainland turope and the Republic of
Ireland, which report into the UK division. Their respective
contributions are included within the UK divisional result.
If we look at the Group’s trading outside of the UK, and
take into consideration the European business units,
revenues were £63.3 mdlon (2022: £50.9 million) which
represents an increase of 24% n the year. The overall
geographic source of revenue for the Group was split 83%
frorn the UK and 17% from outside of the UK.
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Business Review

UK Division
Adjusted operating profits before
amortisation, impairment of intangible

assets and exceptional items” in the UK
division increased to £42.9 million compared

with £471.8 million in the prior year.

Revenues of £333.4 million (2022: £320.2

mitlion) were 4% up on prior year.

Revenue
Adjusted operating profit before amortisation,

impairment of intangible assets and exceptional items®

investment in rental fleet

Year ended
31 March 2022

£320.2 millien

Year ended
31 march 2023

£333.4 million
£42.9 million £41.8 million

£53.6 million £55.2 million

Tins measure is explained and reconaled 0 the Alternative Performance fdeasures section on page 129.

The UK division, comprises seven main business units:
UK Forks, Groundforce, TPA, Brandon Hire Station, ESS,
MEP Hire and Torrent Trackside. Whilst mainly
operating in the UK, TPA and Groundforce also have
operations in mainland Europe, primarily in Germany,
Austria and the Republic of ireland. All of the UK
divisions support the three core market sectors of
infrastructure, construction and housebuilding.

The following section comments on the highlights and key
actions for these UK business units during the year

UK Forks made further progress in the year. Whilst revenue
growih was modest, careful management of the tleet and
the operational cost base enabled the division o deliver
good vear on year profit growth. UK Forks encountered the
same cost inflation challenges as elsewhere in the Group
and management protected margin through 8 combination
of increased hire rates, keen assel management, including
disposing of surplus equipment, and a strong control over
spares and overhead costs The iesidental construction
sector held up well untl the final quarter of the hnanaial year
when there was a small step down 1n demand which quickly
slabilised al new levels of aclivity. The business ook the
oppoitunity In the fourth quarter to accelerate disposal of
surplus rental fleet as utilisation, which had been running
extremely fugh, eased to a more normalised level A
customer first approach has conlinued to pay off as the long-
standing relationships with our core customers including the
national house builders were maintained i the year. During
the period the overall fleet size by number increased by 6%,

16

though, this was primarily in the first half of the year. Whilst
market demand has marginally reduced into the new
financial year, the business is operationally geared up to that
change and we remain confident of making further progress
despile some elements of market weakness.

The Groundforce UK & Ireland Dusiness enjoyed good
levels of demand doven by a generally more buoyant civil
engineening sector. Groundforce UK & Ireland comprises 3
number of constituent specialist aclivities, the largest of
which 15 the UK Shoring division. This business benefitted
fram growing demand from general infrastructure schemes
including Hinkley Pont, H52 and AMP7, although the latter
was a litle quieter than had been anticipated. Groundiorce
secured preferred suppher status lo Scolush Water on their
SR27 five year capital investment programme. This work
should contribute into the new financial year  Whilst
revenues grew 100 year on year, this was primanly from
increased utibsation of existng fleet and hire rate
improvernent, with fleet capex flat year on year The
business continued to innovate and successfully ntroduced
Side Grip hammers to the piling rental fleet providing quicker
installation of pile sheets and enhancing health and satety
benefils. The shoring specification app “Your Solution’ was
developed further n the penod and experienced strong
customer acceptance as a sefft-serve preliminary design tool.
Prospects for the new vear remain good with ongoing
demand from major infrastructure projects and the
expectation of further activity in the water sector particularly
with Scottish Water

viple,.corti
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Business Review

UK Division

The Groundforce Europe business had an exceflent year
reporting its best ever performance, driven by traditional core
shoring rental in Germany and complemented by a range of
major excavalion support projects in Germany, Austria, France
and Scandinavia. The business, which was a greenfield start
up in Germany some years age, has secured increasing brand
recogniion and a1 growing acceptance of U hydiaudic
solutions offered by the Groundforce fleet. Or the back of a
strong trading year we intend to invest in the mirastructure of
the business creating a platform for further successful growth
in supportive markets.

TPA UK had a quieter trading year prnimarily due to 3
significant slowdown in HS2 activity, atter enjoying buoyant
demand from Phase1 of the project in the prior year. In
addition, as a result of the energy cnsis heading into the
winter the National Grid delayed outage work, a key area
of demand for TPA, to munimise the risk of energy supply
shortages. This resulted in a transmission sector slowdown
aver the winter. Despite these unexpected challenges, the
TPA team made significant progress in sourcing alternative
work In the construction and outdoor events segments in
particufar, and these mitigated much of the shortfall.
Investment in fleet focused on nnovation with the
introduction of a new wider aluminium track panel offering
increased Hexibilily and efficiency to both the customer and
the TPA operations team. Innovation in technology was also
a feature with the launch of an app which simplifies the
measurement and quolation process when speafying an
access solution at a site. A further pitiative was the
introduction of an online carbon calculator which identifies
the lower carbon impact of utilising a portable roadway
access solution in comparison 1o a traditional stone road
construction solution  Locking into the new financial year,
TPA anticipates improving demand in both transmission and
HS2 work to complement activity 1n the construction, rail
and the outdoor event markets.

The TPA Europe business had a more challenging year,
primarily due to significant increases in supply chain costs
particularly in transport, tegether with some ternporary
shortfalls in staffing due 1o a difficult employment market.
The target markets of transmission and renewables remain
positive. Moving into the new financial year, the business is
In 3@ good position to embrace the opportunities those
markets offer.  Geographically, TPA Furope operates in
Germany and Auslria, We anlicipate an improved trading
environment for the TPA Eurcpe business in the new
financial year.

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023  vopic.corn

Brandon Hire Station, the market leader for tool hire
within the UK, delivered modest year on year revenue
growth against a relatively difficult market backdrop.
Whilst operating across all three of the Group’s largest
market segments i.e. ¢onstruction, infrastructure and
housebuilding, it is most exposed 1o the non-residential
construction markel whidh remains subdued and In
relative terms more 1mpacted by the overall economic
uncertainty.  The business increased prices by ¢ 10% at
the beginning of the calendar year by way of mitigating of
cost inflation in the business. Brandon Hire Station made
maodest changes to its branch network merging / closing
five branches reducing the overall branch count to just
under 15C. Brandon Hire Station signed a five vear
exclusive trading agreement with Watkin Jones plc, the
Build to Rent and Student accommodation Group together
with secunng a number of other long standing key
account renewals.

Capital investment in fleet was strong in the first halt but
slowed as demand eased during the year. A transition to
a cleaner, greener fleet has been a consistent focus for
fleet investment and as usual the routine retirement of
older, less environmentally triendly rental assets has been
an important contributor to the process. Innavations have
included the launch of a solar powered charging station for
use on construction sites which was developed in
coltaboration with a number of partners and has received
positive reviews. As we head into the new financial year
the construction market remains relatively subdued but
we are nevertheless keenly focused on securing additional
revenue growth through a wide range of iniliatives.

The ESS$ division had a satisfactory trading year and
maintained its market leading slatus in safety, survey and
test & measurement providing a vital support service 1o
the infrastructure and industrial markets in particular. The
year started relatively slowly, but built up well delivering
year on year revenue growth. ESS re-structured to a de-
centralised management structure in four regions aimed
al creating a better focus and proximily to the customer
from an operational view. This will deliver significant cost
savings. As elsewhere in the Group, £5$ had to combat
fugh cost inflation and mitigated this in part through
negotiated price increases across the customer base. The
management team was further strengthened by the
appeointment of a new sales Director and test &
measurement Directar 3s ESS targetl growth into the new
financial year.
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Business Review

UK Division

MEP made substantive progress in the year delivering
further revenue and profit growth from the busy but stable
mechanical, electrical and plumbing sectors  The business
continued 1o develop operationally with the relocation in
Manchesler to a new 35,000 sq.ft facility. We also refocated
the Glasgow central hire desk 1o a bespoke Yacalion and at
the same time ernbraced the 7Zendesk call centre
technofogy which is increasingly used acruss the Group.
MEP acquired M&S Hire at the end of 2021 with a view to
expanding its service offer to lhe commeraal fit out sector,
initalty in tondon and subsequently an a national basis. This
is developing well. MEP have 3 track record of introducing
new and innovative products to thelr customer base and
this year was no exception wath the build up of a new
Microscissors fleet. Qverall capital investment was strong
for MEP as the business supporied growth opportunities and
geared up fof the new year. After the finanval year-end
MEP acquired a low level access fleet from Aspire Platforms
with back-to-back long term rental agreements,  Prospecls
remain posilive for MEP with a number of large, fonger
term, projects due to start in the first half of the new
financial year

Torrent Trackside enjoyed stronger demand as the year
progressed and this despite of the fnevitable disruption
from rail industnal action n the second half ol cur financial

12

year. Torrent benefitted from a revival of CP6 rail activily
with maost Torrent depots across the UK seeing good year on
year improvements. Network Rail, a key customer,
remained busy throughout the penad and Torrent continued
to achieve an excellent performance against the KPIs within
thewr conlracl. The Network Rall high outpul work also
generated further demand. The transpennine upgrade
delivered improved revenues with both the TRU East and
TRU Wesl joint ventures The solar powered Prolectric
lighting tleet also experenced & busier year. Capital
investment in Torrent was relatively strong and in particular
sourcing further equipment in support of Network Rail. The
P& five year capital investment programme for the UK rail
netwaork finishes in March 2024, and the appointment of
contractors to CP7 15 advanced with Tarrent well positioned
Lo supporl those businesses. Torrent successfully tnalled a
‘site of the future’ concept showcasing our significant
commitment to and nvestment in battery and solar
powered rail specific equipment which operates at much
lower levels of noise and 1s practically carbon neutral. This
inttiative was well recerved by the custorner base who view
Torrent Trackside as a pivotal supply ¢hain partner to help
drive thew own carbon reduction targets. Torrent heads
confidently into the new financial year as averall actwity
within the rail sector remains good,

vpple.corr: Vp ple Annual Report and Accounts 2023



Business Review

International Division

The International division reported
adjusted operating profit before
amortisation, impairment of intangible
assets and exceptional items™ of £3.1
million (2022: £1.5 million), on
revenue 24% ahead of prior year of
£38.1 million (2022: £30.7 million).

Revenue

Adjusted operating profit before amortisation,
impairment of intangible assets and exceptional items”

Investment in rental fleet

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2023 31 march 2022
£38.1 million £30.7 million
£3.1 million £1.5 million
£6.3 million £4.6 million

“This measure 15 explatned and reconciled in the Alternative Performance Measures section an page 129

The International division comprises Airpac Rentals, a
global supplier to the energy sector and TR Group which
operates in Australia, New Zealand, Malaysia and
Singapore and is a leading technical equipment rental
group in the region. The following section comments on
the highlights and key actions of the two business
groupings within the International division during the
year.

Airpac Rentals delivered good revenue and profit growth
as trading conditions improved throughout the year.  In
fecent times, Airpac has diversified its activiies acrcss a
number of new applications including renewable energy,
decommissioning and nfrastructure chemical cleaning.
Demand for the provision of exploration and productian
project support in the oil and gas segment also improved in
the year. QOur operations primarily centre around Europe,
South East Asia and Australia. Highlights in the year included
increased well testing activity in the North Sea, support of
geothermal projects i Europe, and pipeline and process
services support primarily in South East Asia and Australia.
We have committed further invesiment to high pressure
equipment as we support the return of activity in new

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023  vpplc.com

Liquefied Natural Gas (ING) producticn facilities {Asia and
Australia) tagether with extended shutdown maintenance at
the existing LNG plants. We anticipate further growth across
most of Airpac’s end markets duning the new financial vear.

TR Group (‘TR") made further good progress in the year
defivering strong revenue and profit growth as the trading
environment across the region staged further past pandernic
recovery. As elsewhere, this positive performance was
delivered despite the same pressures from cost infiation,
supply chain and labour shortages experienced elsewhere In
the Group. Custorner pricing has been increased and this
helped mitigate the cost nflatien challenge.  the
communications diviston, Hirecom, enjoyed further growth
but the Tech Rentals business In Australia experienced a
subdued market recovery, as project delays slowed progress
but ultimately finished the financial year well. The TR
businesses In New Zealand and Singapore traded strongly
whilst TR Malaysia was quieter partially due to the economic
impact of local political uncertainty. TR Calibration and the
Vidcom audic visual business both made good progress.

The TR Group businesses are well placed to build further on
the platform of a strong year.
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Business Review

Employees

The consistent quality of the Group's business performance
over many years is underpinned by our people. The
individual and collecive contnbulions of colleagues s
fundamental to our success.

we seek to fulfil our commitment to create a great place to
work, where people feel vaiued and have the opportunities
to fulfil their potential.

In the current year, we have invested i well-being
indluding mental health awareness training and mstaflation

Environmental

The business has mantained a keen focus on all matters
environmental and guided by the Environmental Steering
Group, which | chair, alongside the Direcior of Risk and
Sustanability and with representatives from wathin the trading
dwistons. The Steering Group acls as the main o-ordmation
point of this topic for the whole business.

We have maintained momentum in conversion of our rental
fleet towards cleaner soflutions led by nnavation from our
buying teams and supply chain and taking into account cur
customer requirements.

Achieverments n the year include securing Plant Charter Gold
Status nan nitiative spenscred by the Supply Chain
Sustainability  Sthool, an  organisation  facilitating  best
environmental practice in the construction sectar. We have also
now achieved 150 50001 energy managerment standard across
all our UK network

Outlook

The financial year under review presented many unexpected
macro-economic challenges and which the whole Vp team
tackled to great effect enabling the Group 1o deliver another
high quality set of results demonstrating the resilient nature of
the Groups business model. The Group businesses have taken
the necessary action 1o ensure thal we are as efficent as
possible whilst costs have increased and market growth has
been relatively subdued.

Alter a perniod of Iittle change within the wider UK
construction market, sorme adjustments to recent trends are
farecast in the coming 12 months. Housebuilding, which has
been relatively buoyant for the last two years, 1s forecast to
experience moderale contraction in 2023 before recovering
in 2024, Infrastiucture will iecover to madest groweth after a
flat 2022 driven by Rail, AMP7 (water), Hinkley Point and
Offshore Wind capital investment. The non-residential new

Neil Stothard
Chief Executive
6 June 2023
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of defibrillators at larger operational sites We have also
invested in learning and development, mamtained our
highly successful graduate programme, now in 1ts 5th year
and tenewed our ongoing commitment to engineering
apprentice training. We have introduced our Long Service
Recognition Programme and 1t 15 lestament 1o the whole of
the Group that we have 270 colleagues, representing 10%
of Group headcount, with over 20 years’ service. We look
forward 1o delivening further supportive initiatives to
employees over the toming year

Qur scope 3 emissians invenlory was completed in the year
and we subsequently submitted our science based targets
data and hope 0 achieve full accreditation duning 2023 we
have sel up a cross-divisional working party for sustainable
procurement, to develop workstreams designed to formatty
assess supply chain partners in terms of sustainability
commitments. Overall governance of environmental matters
has been strengthened with the appointment of a Director
dedicated io nsk and sustainability and reporting in to the plc
Board.  Communication of developments has been
enhanced by the launch of a dedicated Environmenlal and
Sustainability website which 15 aimed al keeping all
stakeholders informed of achievements and current
intiatives.

We laok forward to reporting on further substanual progress on
our envirenmental intiatives in due course.

construckion segment, compnsing Public, Private Industrial
and Private Commercial output 15 expected to see modest
improvement overall and the Repair and Maintenance
seclors are anticipated to be stable. This markel backdrop
remains positive for the Group.

Our International business §s expenencing 1Mproving trading
conditions and we believe that the wide range of markets 1o
which this dsian is exposed, mcluding mining, aif and gas,
construction and culdoor events, will be supportive in the new
financial year

Gur plan 1s 1o develop cur business infrastructure and invest in
our people, rental fleet and property to ensure we are well
postioned to delver further growth A strong balance sheet
provides g solid financial base that we can Utilise to facilitate
both organic and acquisitive growth both in the UK and
Internationally as attractive opportunities are identified.

{Source Expenan UK Lonstruction Forecast - Spring 2023)
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Responsible Business Report

Overview

The Group’s principles of fairness, integrity, and respect form the foundation of our responsible
business culture. Qur corporate responsibility framework reinforces this culture by promating good
governance and guiding our management of environmental and social impacts. This framework
applies across all aspects of our business and encompasses Sustainability, Environmental and Social
Governance (ESG), and Corporate Responsibility (CR), which are interrelated and mutually supportive.
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OUR APPROACH

We recognise that ensuring sustainability across  all o
operations is a key responsibility for the Group. OUR APPROACH §
Wwith ¢3,000 employees spread across 10 countries and : 2
more than 250 siles, we provide valuable services to ' i ®
thousands of customers in various markets. Our goal is to
make sustainability a universal prionty throughout the
Group's network, where we all contnibute towards
mitigating climate change and biodiversity loss by z
minimising our envirenmental impact and striving for a g - §
net positive impact on biodiversity. We seek to provide S EE g
further mitigation through investing in local community =) E§ g
and conservation projects to further mitigate any § "'g £}
negative environmenlal effects. e d -
To evaluate our alignment with the United Nations' 17
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and  their ©
corresponding targeis, we conducted a thorough review. i
The Group are focused on 11 of the SDGs, listed below, and Rivtivens =
the presence ot SDG (cons throughout the repert signifies =
where we are achieving progress towards these goals. g
°§‘.

S0Gs for our customers, investors and supply chain SDGs for our people

DEGENT WORK AND il e BODDHEATH QUARITY
ECONOMIC GROWTH & 5 AND WELL-BEING EDUCATION

i IR LT]

1 CLMATE 1 PARTRERSHIPS DECENT WORK AND REUCED
FOR THE GOALS EGONGMIC GROWTH INEQUMITIES

o

(=)

SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

Ty
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Responsible Business Report

ACHIEVEMENTS

Our achievements in environmental developments over the past 12 months include:

Continued investment into increasingly sustainable and
electrified rental fleet solutions

We have made siinificant headway in mainstreaming
sustainability within our procurement functions through
publishing a sustainable procurement policy and integrating
new supplier management software

Charter for excellence in our commitment to reducing
carbon emission and air pollution

M L

we have published a Medium Term Roadmap to Net Zero
by 2050

16

A sustainability website detailing our current and historic
sustainability actions, a range of our (nnovative products and
recent news articles — access via the QR Code above

7 Y AR el ) L

We have committed to science based emissians reduction
targets which were submitted to the Science-based Target
initiative for validation in December 2022

We have achieved IS0 50001 - Energy Management
Systemn certification across afl UK sites

We are supporting three new nature conservation
projects focussed on the restoration of seagrass meadows,
agricultural advisor training and the reintroduction of Lynx
to the UK

vople.corn - Vp ple Annual Report and Accounts 2023



Responsible Business Report

Mediumn Term Roadmap te Net Zero by 2050

{50 50001 . ot NASTE

SUSTAINABLE PROCUREMENT

rhance et

Achifed acceditation 161 all sas 00 oINS
VI Wl 000 e ey CONSUMTIoN 1Ien s’y By
20% oy 2025 from a 2021 basemne:

S -
CONSERVATION PROJECTS
MEDIUM P o o e ooy
SCIENCE BASED TARGETS
TERM s e ey ot s
ROADMAP
TO NET
ZERO BY
CARBON

2050 REPORTING
— eyt e o
2023_2033 Evaluate pertoeriance monitity

FLEET MANAGEMENT
Centnue 19 niccuce PHEVS, Evs and
Crargers wiis! eaganning g market and
for aFang our tansiion Elan

NET ZERG CARBON
Net Zero Target

2022 base year,

Short Term Targets
By 2025:

Max Mise TecyGng Tates | By 025 Vo wik rauce waste
roniuclion | mersity 20K, recych: YBE% wase ane dniort
>05% waste rom lanefh ugeg a 2071 basel ne

SUPPLIER ENGAGEMENT

decabOrusdon A Newly Bmtedded sokwa The
myrety ol Vizs Lo 250 supphers by speid, wit
1346 SB1 SURICE Dava] emissons rad.uclio targels

3. 4 g,
v | M

The Group commits to reach net-zero Green House Gases emissions acrass the value chain (scope 1, 2 and 3) by 2050 from a

Uang the Plant Charter we have GaseAness Vn's orocire ent o
GHG enisecr 37 Qual Ty Novauon and trwniny standards &gming
Gakd AECI80 [ton

WATER
Consoldaled water contracts to
251300 2 baseline and sef tagats |
Expanc grey witar tychg and
raiTwatst N3 vesting faci Los

POLICIES
Published ¥p's Sustarable
Prouremant and Chmate

Crarge Po ks | Upoaie vos
Envimamental Folcy o
raf ect nat.re nat prosiie
ambt-on

RENEWABLE ENERGY
Espand oocurement of 1arewable
w1ty 15 106% W wde by 2036 |
Exploe powe purchase agreements
3. K1Stall aIcm G meter readers

StengUnen eatonshiDs 101 colasorat v

TRAINING
Al ermpaoyees w ke atan
Warate anr teainad n
sustarabity by 20.5

HYDROGEN ENG!NES

Supgrort tnels &3 Mcodand
the adoptien of Pyckogen
emr Dustion engines

13 Cuiatt
- E8E

Transiton to net
2810 by 2050

® The majority of The Group's top 250 suppliers by spend will have set science-based emissions reduction targets.

¢ All employees will be carbon literate and trained in sustainability.

* The Group will reduce its energy consumption intensity (kWh/mz2) 20% from & 2021 baseline.

The Group shall reduce waste production intensity 30%, recycle more than 85% waste and divert more than $5% waste

teomn landfill using a 2021 baseline.

We have made the commitment to reach net zero carbon
emnissions with the Science Based Targets initiative in line
with the Business Ambition for 1.5°C to ensure a3 robust
transition plan.

Our transition plan te net zere comprises near term and short
term targets described above. This stialegy is designed and
actioned via our Environmental Steering Group which is chaired
by the Chief Executive who meet regularly.

To properly reflect the level of pnority these issues occupy
wilhin the Board's governance structure, environmental, sociat
and governance accountability has been formally recognised as
a matter to be routinely reviewed at Board level. Coupled with
our transition plan, our cimate change strategy has recently

Vp pic Annual Report and Accounts 2023  visplc.com

been ratified into our newly published Climate Change pelicy.

As a major supplier to the UK Government, we published our
Carbon Reduction Plan in November 2022 i response to
Procurernent Policy Note 06/27 detailing our commitments,
progress to dale, pathways and initiatives.

We understand the need to be transparent and follow best
practices with our reporting on climate change. Our carbon
footprint was cakulated in accordance with the World
Business Council for Sustainable Development and world
Resources Institute’s Greenhouse Gas Protocol, along with
HM Government's Environmental Reporting Guidelines and
DEFRA'S 2022 UK Greenhouse Gas Conversion Facters for
Company Reporting.
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Responsible Business Report

NET ZERO CARBON ({continued)

Our statutory greenhouse gas emissions data (scope 1 & 2) for the year ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:

Scope 1 (Tonnes (02e) 15,363 15,322
7 . Scope 2 Location-based (Tonnes C02e) 1,269 1,891
Scope 2 Market-based (Tonnes (02e) - 66
Total Scope 1 & 2 Location-based (Yonnes C02¢} 16,632 17,213
Total Scope 1 & 2 Market-based {Tonnes (02e) 15,363 15,388
Energy Consumption of Scope 1 & 2 (kwh) 65.4m 64.2m
Intensity Ratio Location-based (Tennes (O2e per £m revenue) 50 54
Intensity Ratio Market-based (tonnes (C2e per £m revenue) 46 48
Scope 1 (Tonnes (02e) 17,736 17,356
Scope 2 Location-based (Tonnes (02e) 1,463 2,574
Scope 2 Market-based (Tonnes C02e) 676 749
Total Scope 1 & 2 Location-based (Tonnes of C0Ze) 19,199 19,930
Total Scope 1 & 2 Market-based (Tonnes of (02e) 18,412 18,105
Energy Consumption of Scope 1 & 2 (kWh) 76.4m 73.7m
Intensity Ratio Location-based (Tonnes CO2e per £m revenue) 52 57
Intensity Ratio Market-based (Tonnes (02e per £m revenue) 50 52

Note Location-based calculations use the average emissions infensity of the gnd where we obtain the energy. while markel-based calculanons use

the emissions intensity based an the speafic energy mix that we procure

The Group has a slrong track record of decoupling our growth as a business and our carbon emuissions. We have reduced our
greenhouse gas emissions with €02 equivalent tonnes per £m revenue from 1071 tonnes per £1 million revenue in 2010 to 48

tonnes per £1 million revenue tor the year ended 31 March 2023, a redudtion of 52%.

Scope 1 & 2 emissions

“9 o o

B ;
”o o ?D &

60

o
o

50

40
30 \ |
20

10

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018 2020 2021

Year ending 31st March

2022 2023
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Responsible Business Report

NET ZERO CARBON {continued)

The Group seeks to maximise the efficiency of s energy
consuming assets. We are pleased lg announce we have
achieved IS0 50001 - the Energy Management Systemn
accreditation in all UK sites. This has formalised continuous
improvernent in energy efficency and reinforces sustainable
behaviours.

Iraining throughout the Group on energy etficiency and
environmental awareness has resulted in behavioural changes
such as reduced engine
idling and turning off
lights and unnecessary
heating and cooling.
Embedding new
behaviours  ccmbined
with LED replacements in
2023 led 1o eneigy
consumption reductions
of ¢7% which eguates to
substantial reductions in
carbon emissions. We
expect to maintain these
trends as we continue
with site refurbishments.

Purchased Goods
and Services 16%

oE

.
Capital v
Expenditure 24%

A number of our

businesses (Brandcn Hire

Station, £S5, MEP Hire and Graundforce) have recently achieved
the Fleel  Operator Recognition Scheme (FORS) gold
certification across their entire branch networks. This attests to
their meaningful improvements in efficient use of fuel,
reductions in total fuel usage and transport related CO2 output.

To achieve our targets, our transition plan to net zero

prioritises initiatives including:

» Working with suppliers to consider robust altematives
to petrol and diesel powered fleet;

* Roll out of our new supplier management software
and integrated within procurement functions enabling
closer management of our embodied carbon footprint;

* [lectrification of our commercial and company car
lleets where possible;

¢ |dentify oppertunities to co-locate on site reducing
haulage and business travel emissions whist providing
closer customner support;

+ (ontinue integrating telematics software for route
planning and driver feedback;

* Targeted training and behavicur thange programmes
on efficient energy use and driving practices, and
environmental awareness;

® [xplering the use of HVO fuel it pur commercial
vehicles;

¢ Increase our procurement of renewsble energy.

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 vpple.com

Scope 3 Breakdown Y/E 2022

Waste, Business Travel, Employee
Commuting & Other 4%

We have recently completed our scope 3 inventory for the
year ended 31 March 2022, which has enabled us to prioritise
carbon reduction intiatives not only relating to cur business
operations but in the wider context of our enlire value chain.
c4% of our total emissions relates to scope 1 emissions
through the combustion of fuel in commercial vehicles and
facihty heating.

(54% of the Group’s carbon footprint relates to the use of s
rental fleet and sold
itens. We are reducing
this  through maving
towards an increasingly
lower emissions based
fleet and, where fossil
fuel powered fleet stll
provides  the  besl
solution, we invest in the
latest technology 1o
ensure the cleanest and
most  fuel  efficient
engines. 38% of our
carbon feotprnt relates to
the embodied carbon
within the purchase of
capital goods and other
goads and services. Finally, three additional categones - waste,
business travel and employee commuting make up the
remaining ¢4% of our carbon foolprint. Delait on how we are
tackling these emissions can be found in the procurement
section befow.

Rental Fleet Use
QOnce Sold 32%

Rental Fleet Use
by Customers 24%

1%
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Responsible Business Report

NET IERQ CARBON (continued)

Renewable Energy

The table below illustrates cur worldwide energy consumption by saurce. 87% ol our electricity 15 from renewable sources,
as is 8% of our energy consumed overall. We have now transitioned the remaining UK properties onto our fully renewable
electricity contract, backed by cerlificates of renewable energy guarantees of ongin (REGOs) aceredited by the Carbon Trust.
The Group have invested ¢£150,000 to power four sites with solar energy with an additional four sites and ¢£200,000 of
nvestment planned for the coming year. We continue to explore renewable heating opliens to reduce our consumplion of
natural gas.

Worldwide Energy Consumption by Source for the year ended 31 March 2023

Diesel 72m
Scope 1 (kWh)

Natural Gas 3m

Renewable Electricit 7m
Scope 2 (kwh) Y

Non-Renewable Electricity m

3 DRl { 4 B o |8

= E

L .

PROCUREMENT il |}

In our continued use of 1SO 20400 for Sustainable Procurement as a guide, we have established a forum with represenlalives from
each business Through this forum, and in coltaboration with key suppliers, we have published a Sustainable Procurernent Policy.
Furtherrnore, we are integrating new envirenmmental health and safety (EHS) software which includes suppler, carbon and social
value modules This will enable quantitative supplier-led reporting for sustamability performance data and our subsequent
monitoring and evaluation. This data includes progress towards supphiers own 150 50001 aspirations and the procurement of
renewable electriaity as well as metncs for health and safety, governance and quality.

The EHS software will also enable us to track suppher self-reported Scope 1 and 2 emussions. This data, together with the
aforemenlioned sustainability performance data, will provide a backbone for more refleclive, two-way, conversations with
incumbent suppliers. In wrn, this will allow for the opportunity to promate increasingly postive behaviour and, concurrently, a shifl
within the Group's procurement to focus on sustainability just as much as price, quaiity and service. For new suppliers, cur aim s to
select those who are aware of ther own carben lootprint and have a similar ambition and track record as the Group in reducing 1.

We are proud to announce that the Group has recently achieved Gold Status
for the Supply Chain Sustainability Schools (SCSS) Plant Charter. The SCSS 1s
an online learning platform aiming to develop skills ta deliver a sustainable
bult environment. Their Plant Charter is a set of minimum standards
evaluating one’s commitment to reducing carbon emission and air pollutiorn.
The Group’s achievement of the highest award, Gold, demonslrates cur PLANT CHARTER
excellence in combatting air pollution and carbon emissions through our high
standards in procurement, stakeholder engagement, training and innovation. coLD
It 15 a prionty for the Group to accelerate our transition away from rental
assets powered by tossil fuel and towards those powered by battery and
salar as well as non-powered praducts.

SICGNATORY

SCHoL

Future efforts will fook at embedding the recommended standards of the Fust Movers Coalition (FMC). The FMC 1s 2 group of
companies whose purchasing commitments help scale up and enable the environment for cniical emerging technologies
essential for net 7ero. We will look at the hard lo abate sectors ol Steel, Trucking and Alurinium as we not only want to reduce
errssians produced through rental fleet opesation but equally, reduce the embadied carbon through supporting the latest
technologies and processes in the manufacture and transportation of our lleet.
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Responsible Business Report

PROCUREMENT (continyed)

We have made the following progress in reducing our
carbon foolprin:

» Divisional Product Review Groups have been established
throughout the Group te focus on accelerating the
transition towards & zero emissions at point of use
rental fleet.

* We currently estimate that maore than 60% of rental
assets Group-wide are zero emissions at point of use.

* We are electrifying a fleet of 44 forklift trucks with
significant carbon savings.

* We increasingly order mare hybrid and electrc vehicles
where possible with 11 sites offering electric vehicle
charging capabilities.

* Where electrification of gur commercial vehicle fleet is
currently not viable, we continue to enjoy reductions in
emissions via replacements to more efficient
technology.

= we have increased the amount of sustainable company
cars in the fleet from 20% to 50% having introduced
sustainable options in all bandings last year.

* Alongside customers, we have and continue to
participate In “sites of the tuture” where up to 90% of
all rental fleet 15 battery operated.

HVO Fuel

Our business UK Forks has conducted HVO fuel trials with 2
of our larger housebuilding customers, to show performance
and environmental benefits of using HVO fuel. This was
independently verified results:

+  92% reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and,
*  75% reduction in particulates with HVO compared
to diesel

ﬁ£15m

investmen: in non-fossit fuel powerea
tools and equinment in X253

An example of this is the stressing equipment that we supply
to the ra:l sector through our business Torrent Trackside. We
have replaced 90% of our petrol powered rail stressing
equipment for battery operated equivalents. The remaining
10% will be swapped oul over the next 12 to 24 months.

Outcome:

One of these customers have
subsequently moved to HVO
fuel for 20% of their fleet and
the other customer is currently
running 80 mmachines on HVO
and have committed to buying
enough HVO fuel to run ¢50% of
their hire fieet.

Examples of our new battery-operated tools and equipment including Airpac Rental’s Electric Air Compressor:

Vp ple Annual Report and Accounts 2023  vpplc.com
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Responsible Business Report

PROCUREMENT (continued)

CASE STUDY: Electric Forklifts £xamnples of Zero Emissions of Point of Use Products

Our business Groundforce has made great progress in Our business MEP Hire operates 5,000 mechanical low-
swiiching 44 of our diesel forklifts to electric powered which level access platforms. The majarity of which are zero
saves 600 tonnes CO2 per year as well as cutting down on air emission and powered manually by the user.

pollution for our employees and wider stakeholders.

CASE STUDY: SiteSafe Surelock Pro

Equally, our businesses
TPA, Groundforce and
Brandon Hire Station
offer aluminium

As an example of working with our
supply chain, through a process of
collaborative design with their suppher
Metal & Modular, MEP Hire have
managed 1o reduce embodied carbon
ermissions of the SiteSafe Surelock Pro
through using 85% less welding and 90%
less pawer use. Through this innovation,
MEP Hire has saved over 20 tonnes of

roadways, trench boxes
and scaffold towers
respectively, which are
all fully recyclable.

An example of our low-
level access machimnes
that consume no energy

embodied €02 and brought a significantly
rnore sustainable product Lo market.

{right).

WASTE, WATER, PLASTIC & PAPER

1he vast majorty of our old fleel when 1t leaves operational control, by both number and weight, 1s scld either directly 1o
custorners of via auction to Increase 1ts working ife. We track and aim to minimise the amount of fleet sold directly as strap
metal and push for supplier buy-back deals ta promote the arcular econamy wihilst acknowledging seme old fleet when sold 1s
beyond economical repair and will be broken down into component parts, Where possible, we also look to repurpose parts of
old fleet for extended lite elsewhere and this is especially true with batteries.

YEAR R S e
% DIVERTED FROM LANDFILL 95% 96% 94%

In recognition of our waste stralegy and progress, we have won a Green World Award. We maintain a high percentage of waste
diverted from landfill and continue 1o Increase the propartion sent to recycling. To increase our recycling ratio and decrease
overall waste produced in line with our waste target, we have switched waste provider and consolidated all contracts onto one
supplier for improved management and data provision.

18

reduction in total waste produced

FOR HELPING
THE ENVIRONMENT

WINNER 2022
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Responsible Business Report

WASTE, WATER, PLASTIC & PAPER (continued)

We continue to explore ways 10 reduce our single use plastic consumplion and are exploring recycled personal prolective
equiptenl and end of e recycling methods.

Throughout the business, we continue 1o upgrade our Interceptors to recycle ranwater and grey water, and where feasible we
are invesling in rainwater harvesting infrastructure. We have managed to consolidate the majority of our waler contracts to
enable tracking and evaluation of water use,
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NATURE CONSERVATION PROJECTS

Below are the eleven projects which we have sponsored over the past three years. 2
5
AGRICULTURAL ADVICE TRAINING MARINE CONSERVATION Z
Habitat: Farmiand Habitat: Coastal E
The Widhte Trusts are keading on & programme to f fnas,h,e?eg,ﬁﬂg;;w;m;am;w gh
1; L:;r:;?éluﬁ; ;;:)d ‘;rfguig"_':':"_l:;a’lv;::(“:fm restoration of Scotlands coasthne J g
g
=

LYNX REINTRODUCTION
Habitat: Woodland

Thet Iu5 o 1=+ :is underiah g a

PEATLAND RESTORATION
Habitat: Peattand

collaporative aﬁﬁﬁmc.scxmmary feasibilrty Effective tachmgues 1o restore flora on bare,

study of reintinductior: of fynx 11 England efevated, wind-blown peatland are un<nown bul
the v v*tere et Dot s finding out now

SAND DUNE RESTORATION

Habitat: Coagtal

Dunes are criical for many wiidife and as flood BEAVER REINTRODUCTION

defences Lancashire Wikdlife Trust coatinie 1o have )

grzal SUCCESS In expandmg the il oo e e Hahitat: Freshwater

- Nottingnamshire Wildife Trust « om0 !

te- - o Idle Valley Nature Heserva to diversify
nature ard reduce tlood nisk.

WHITE TAILED EAGLE REINTRODUCTION

Habitat: Water Bodies

sl BRI 100 o0 and partners are scoping
suitable locations whilst building relationshins

with communities, ready for reintroductions of IMPROVING FISH MIGRATION
Furope's 1argest turd of pray planned in 2023 —© Habitat: Freshwater
@'——" Severn Riverss Trustison o fug 17 0 7 sy
y around a weir to Improve migiation for species
REWILDING includ na the Critically Endangered Furopean Ee

Habitat: Farmland G

Dorset Wilclite Trusi are assisung tre transit on
of intensively managed tarmiand to a net posilive

statg for the Community, bodwersity and cimatc -
in Englands el i

e J —® BISON REINTRODUCTION
@_l_ Habitat: Woodland
SOLENT SEAGRASS RESTORATION —-————'——@ Last 5een in the UK 2,G00 years ago. kent
Habitat: Marine Wiidlife Trust have oot 11w - oo Lo the LK
ShopE e e g are prateching anc i West Blean Woods.
restoring seagrass habitats in the Solent to
reverse the 90% declne ove! the past century
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45 PR
NATURE CONSERVATION PROJECTS (continued) A

“Globally, over half of global GDP relies directly or indirectly on nature, making it the most productive
component of our economy.” World Economic Ferum

To date, the UK has failed to reverse the steep loss of biodiversity with 41% of UK species in dechne and one 1 10 species
threatened with extinction. To do our pait, the Graup are proud to sponsor some of the best examples of nature conservation
prajects around the UK each year including the rentroduction of beaver, bison, lynx and eagles and the restoration of seagrass
beds, wildtflower meadows, sand dunes and peatlands. This year, we are especially proud to have committed support to the
traning of Wildlife Trust land advisors who, given mare than 70% of the UK's land is farmed, have a ¢ruaal rele in promating
nature alongside our food praduction to the betterment of both

To offset or Not?

Most natural assets, and their resultant social
benefits, are undervalued, overexploited and could
be best protected through the Group empowering
local organisations with direct funding.

Critics have raised valid concerns over the
potential overuse of offsets, which could delay the
much-needed transition away from fossii fuels.
However, we acknowledge that a well-constructed
offset portfolio that includes projects with
significant bicdiversity net gains can be valuable.

Last September, six employees from different
divisions of the Group visited the Isle of Arran project
site of the coastal conservation project we were
supporting around  Scotland tor rack pacoling and
beach cleaning

To maximise colleague involvement with these
projects and the wider natural world, we sefect
projects around the whole of the UK to qive all
colleagues a chance 1o participate and support with
their time. Colleagues do not have to take leave to
volunteer on these days

YERW © P o

FAGIT REINTRODUCTION WALES DURREL!}

Ymddiriedolaeth The Wildlife Trust for Praudto support

. Hampshire &
Natur Lancashire Dorset -
Gwent Manchester & wildlife Trust Isle of Wight
wildlife Trust North Merseyside Wildlife Trust
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OUR PEOPLE

The 2022/23 vyear has been a challenging one, but we
have continued to make progress in cur efforts lo create
a great place to work, where our people feel valued and
have the opportunities to fulfil their potenual.

wellbeing

We are commitled lo crealing an environment that
promotes goed mental health and where all our people can
thrive and feel supported. Further investing in the health
and wellbeing of all cur people is critical to delivering long-
term success. We are therefore continuing to provide
Mental Health First Aider training and rolling out our digital
learning mental health awareness module to  all
employees. Through our Fssentials of Management
Pregramme, we are equipping our managers to implement
our mental wellbeing policy and suppart employees who
are expenencing mental health problems.

we also have begun to install defibrillators and delivering
the sccompanying training starting with our larger locations.

Systems

Following the investment in our HR and Payrcll system,
we have continued our programme of digital
transformation, removing paper-based processes where
possible across the function We have implemented an
automated process with the support of our internal IT
Function to link eur HR system and new Learning
Management System {LM5), enabfing timely and accurate
updates of people information into the LMS. Future
developments will include additional selt-service options
for our managers, a move to a digital process for the
annual pay review, and a streamlined Gender Pay Gap
reporting process.

Talent Attraction

Continuing to attract high-calibre new recruts at all levels
across our business is key to our future growth and
continued success. To further enhance our internal
capability in this area, we have created a new role of
Talent Acquisition Manager to lead our talent acquisition
team. Further investment in maximising cur use of
Linkedin and mare fully utilising social media are current
prionties.

Benefits
We have significantly improved our employee benefits
package in the last year including introducing an

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 vpplc.cam
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employee benefits online portal enabling our people to
easily access anhne discounts and wellbeing solutions. In
additicn, key salary sacnfice benefits such as a Cycle to
Waork Scheme and additional holiday purchase.

Development

Wr have continued to sticngthen our Learming dand
Development resource capability, having created two new
roles to facilnate this and accelerate the pace of rollout of
our digital learning content, tracking learning and
development. Our first two Developing Lleaders
programrme, equipping our managers to effectively lead
other managers 1n the future, have just concluded with
very positive feedback.

The Essentials of Management Programme, developed to
upskill all Managers across our Group, is now being rolled
out in face-to- face sessicns with colleagues from all the
businesses learning together. The programme sees our
people developing their skills, knowledge and behaviours
alongside the relevant policies and processes. Qur
Managers will also benefit from being able to access
additional tailored digital learning modules accessed
through our recently launched digital learming platform.

We are now in the fifth year of our rotaticnal Group
Graduate Scheme, which continues 1o be a great success,
providing an excellent pipeline of young talent for our
Group businesses and central functions. The next intake
will join in September and spend the next 18 months
waorking in all our businesses and head office department.
they will then undertake a business project prior to
appointment in a variety of roles across the businesses in
the New Year.

The annual recruitment for our Engineering Apprentice
intake continues to progress and expand, with 49 new
Apprentices being recruited 1o join our September intake
to support our future succession planning across our
branch and depoet networks. Learners on our first ever
Sales Apprenticeship for Sales Managers are successfully
nearing completion and learners on our first Management
Aporenticeship Programme are continuing to make good
progress. We successfully launched our new LGV
Apprenticeship, another internal development opportunity
for our depot-based colleagues and our lirst Business
Administration Apprenticeship is also in progress.
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Inclusion and Diversity

Wwe know that having engaged employees is cntical to the
fong-lerm success of our business. Being an inclusive
organisation is important 0 us. We are commitled (o
enswiing that everyone is treated with fairness and respect
and encourage everyone (o develop their skills and fulfill
their potential. Whilst we are active In our drive for
inclusivity and the progression of diverse talent, we
acknowledge we still have a way lo go. We are cormilted
to driving positive, sustainable change to 1mprove the
experiences and opporturaties for underrepresented
groups. Women are represented at all levels of our
orgamsation. 17% of the Board and 14% of Senior
Managers are female. As an egual opporlunity employer,
we are committed to promoting the same level of
opportunities to all.

Senior Managers

salaried

2311 447

We are consaous of the targets relating to board diversity.
Whilst we have not met all of these the Board is committed to
supporting and developing a diverse pipeline of candidates for
managerial and direcior roles within the Group.

Retention

We are delighted to have recently introduced a Long
Service Recognition Programme, celebrating the valuable
contributions of colleagues across the Group with 20, 30
and 40 years’ service, and alt the intervening years, critical
to our business success to date with ¢270 employees
across the Group participating, this s lestament to our
ability 1o retain lalent across all our businesses despite the
challenges posed by the pressures of the current labour
market. We continue to otfer our people the opportunity to
share in our success through our SAYE Employee share
owrership scheme and encourage them lo participate
Particularly pleasing despite the current economic situation
and cost of living pressures, as at 31 March 2023,
approximately 43% (2022: 38%) of our UK emnployees
were partiupating 1in the Save As You Eam Scheme.

HEALTH & SAFETY ~nfe

Fxcellent health and salety performance 1s fundamental to
our business. It 1s essential that we provide a sate working
environment for our employees and that the equipment we
supply to our custorners 15 safe and fit for purpose.

26

we strive to minimise accidents and dangerous occurmences.
We aimn to continually improve standards of health and safety
within all our businesses and with our customers. The Group
sets an overall policy for the management of health and
safety, The Chief Executive retains oversight in this area and
discusses performance on a reqular basis with the individual
businesses. He also reports to the Board on overall
perforimance and any more senous Incidents that arise,

Operational responsibibty hes within the Group's individual
businesses which are dosest to and best positioned to
manage their risks. All businesses, however, have clear
policies and procedures and appropriate risk assessment
techniques batked by training and clear ccommunication.

Traiming is focused not enly on speciic hazards but also the
wider obligations of management. These aclivities are
overseen by approprately qualified and experienced
health and safety advisers and are subject to regular audit,
bath internally and externally.

As noted above Health and Salety performance is
monitored at a business level. This incorporates analysis of
accidents, near misses and dangerous occurrences. Where
acadents, near misses of dangerous occurrences happen
these are nvestigated n order for them ta be fully
understood and far appropriate action to be taken (o
minimise the nsk of occurrence

We ended the year with an Acadent Frequency Rate of
0.28, representing an increase on our 2022 rate of 0.19.

The AFR 15 calculated by multiplying the number of RIDDOR
reportable accidents by 100,000 (the average number of
hours worked in a lifetine), divided by the overall number
ot hours worked by all members of staff.

Accident frequency rate 028 019 029 027

Reportable accidents under the Reporting of Injunies Disease
and Dangerous Qccurrences requlations 1995 were 16, an

increase from prior year (2022: 11).
COMMUNITY E

We aim (o have 3 positive impac! an communities in which
we operate. We actively encourage our teams to support
their communities by providing therr time and enthusiasm
to raise money for local and national chanties. In most
cases the manies raised by employees are matched by the
Group. During the year we donated £85000 (2022
£61,000) to chanties.

vpple.com Vp ple Annual Report and Accounts 2023
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BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS AND ETHICS

The Group has always conducled its business responsibly
and ethically The Group is committed to operating with
honesty and integrity, and all employees are expected to
maintain these high standards. The standards expected are
specitied in codes of conduct and group policies to which
employees are required to adhere. Some of our policies are
based in applicable laws and regulations.

Polities

Anti-bribery policy

The Group has in place an anti- bribery policy, which clearly
states @ number of obligations for our employees, and is
committed to zero - tolerance to acts of bribery and corruption.
Each Bivision is required to update their specific risk assessment
each year when business arcumstances change.

Competition law policy

We believe that a competitive marketplace benefits both
the Group and our customers. Accordingly, we compete
vigorously butl fairly, acting in full compliance with all
applicable Competition taws and Regulations. We are
committed to conducting our business with honesty and
integnty, and we expect the same of all employees.
Awareness programmes are continually updated and rolled
oul te our Managemenl teams and employees with
potential exposure.

Modern slavery statement

We support the objectives of the Madern Slavery Act and
will not tolerate modern slavery or human trafficking within
our own supply chain. During the year the Group conducted
a further review of its supply chain and published its
statement accordingly.

Respect for human rights

Wwe do not maintain a standalone human rights policy. The
Group supports and 1s guided by the Universal Declaration of
Human Reghts. The Group understands its responsibility to
respect the human rights of the communities and
workforces with whem it interacls, and employees are
expected to behave accordingly.

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023  vpplo.com

Sustainable procurement policy (introduced in fast
financial year)

Vp's approach to sustainable procurement has been
formahized, this acts as & quide to internal procurement
tearns as well as current and prospective suppliers. Vp's
objective as a business is to deliver longer term value to our
stakeholders whilst embracing our commilment to the
highest environmental, social and ethical standards.

Environmental policy

We are acutely aware of our impact on the environment
through our business operations. The policy lays out the
expected praclices recognizing the continual need to adapt
to the many moving parts in this area of management and
stakehalder engagement.

Climate change policy (introduced in the last financial
year)

To complement the Environmental Policy the Group has
added a Climate Change Policy in this financial year. Vp ple
is aware of the threat to our colleclive future which climate
change poses. As such we have recognized this area as a
principal nsk to Vp. To support this we felt 1t necessary o
provide more guidance on the Group approach. See page 41
for further information.

Whistleblowing policy

Our whistleblowing policy ensures our employees feel
empowered 1o raise concerns felating to malpractice or
wrongdoing through a confidential hotline. In the financial
year we have not received any malerial whistleblowing
reports. Where incidents of whistleblowing are reported,
there s a process for bringing this to the Board's attention to
seek guidance on how to respond.
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NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION STATEMENT
Our Annual Report and Accounts details our approach to environmental, social and employee related matters. The table below
outlines where m this report you can ftnd this infarmation and where additional information can be found an our website.

Business model, pnncipal risks For the business modei, see p.1
and non-financial KPls For principal risks, see 0.39
For non-financial KPIs see, p.1, 18, 19, 26

Environmental matters Environmental policy, see above and vpplc.com/respensible-business
Sustainability, see p.15
Corparate responsibility, see p.15

Fmployees Diversity and inclusion policy, see p.26
Health safety and wellbeing policy, see p.26 and vpplc.com/responsible-business
whistleblowing policy, see above and vpplc.com/responsible-business
Recruitment and retention of staff, see p 40 {Risk section) and p 26
Employee handbaok

Hurman rights Modern slavery statement, see above and vpplc.com/responsible-business
Corporate responsibility, see p.15

Social matters Sustainability, see p15 and vpplc.com /responsible-business
Corporate responsibility, see p.15 and vpplc.com/responsible-business
Diversity and inclusion policy, see p.26

Anti-fraud, bribery and corruption Anti-bribery policy, see above and vpplc.com frespansible-business
Competition Law policy, see above and vpplc.com/responsible-business
whistleblowing policy, see above and vpplc.com/responsible-business
Employee handbook
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TASK FORCE FOR CLIMATE RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES (TCFD) DECLARATION

General

The Board recognises global climate change and is
committed to ensuring approprate resources are allocaled
intemally to the management of the many nsks and
opportunities to our business modet and strategy.

In response, the Group has completed a full assessment of
the TCID framework and supporling guidance documents
(listed below) ncluding the FRC Thematic review. This report
provides a point in time assessment of progress against the
framework. The Group will periodically reassess the evolving
risks and opportunities and modify our strategy and
resultant reporting accordingly

This year we have provided a greater level of transparency
and granularity regarding elements of our sustainability
strateqy which is intrinsically linked 1o the overall risk of
climate change. The detaits provided below illustrate the
past, present and future elements of this strategy.

The Group has committed to became net-zero emitters of
Greenhouse Gases by 2050 at the latest. Our aspiration is to
meet this target belare that date. In accordance with this
ambition the Group completed its scope 3 emissions
inventory 1n the financial year. Many workstreams have
been unlocked by completing this milestone including the
setting of Science Based Targets which are currently being
validated by the Science Based Target tnitiative (5BTi).

This section of the annyal repert covers all stalements made
by the Group regarding TCFD - it is not covered elsewhere in
this report.

Governance

Describe the Boards pversight of chmate-related nisks and
opportunities.

Describe managements role 1n assessing and managing
climate-related risks and opporiunities.

Climate change is included in the Group's principal risk
statement {see page 41). The Board formally recognised this
in the 2022 Annual Report. Al principal nsk areas are
considered by (he Board and by applying the Gioup's risk
management processes — more details on these processes are
included - see page 38

The Board takes responsibility for the management of risks
and opportunities ansing from climate change. The Board is
informed by the Risk Committee and directly from the Chief
Executive who chairs our Envirenmental Steering Group {£5G)
which meets at least 4 times per year. In the financial year
being reported on the ESG met five times. In the financial year
2023 the Group published a dedicated climate change palicy.
In the reporting year the Group appointed a Group Risk and
Sustainability Director (GRSD). This role sits on the ESG with
selected other senior Directors and Managers from within the
Group. With this collected knowledge the ESG supports the
Board's chmate responsibilities. The Board sets the strategy to
ensure climate and sustainability risks and opportunities are
being effectively managed - part of this 15 to consider
whether further expertise is required to adequately inform
the Board as a collective.
Regular communication 15 enabled between the ESG and
wider management team through senior management
meetings. This acls as a two way process:
« To inform management of the overall strategy and their
ebligations n fulfiling the elements of it; and
* Receiving feedback from the Group's Divisions regarding
customer and other stakeholder expectations and
requirements.

The below graphic illustrates the pillars of the Governance structure in place at Vp:

Main Board plc

{

Risk Audit
committee ™ Committee

t }

Environmental Divisional Board
Steering Group Meetings

The ESG routinely monitors progress with, and redefines, the strategic plan. In the reparted financial year the climate change
nsk register has been updated. The GRSD takes responsibility for this and reports directly to the Board on these matters.

TCFD Area

Governance a)

TCFD Area Description

Board oversight of dimate related

Vp's Assessment

{onsistent

risks and opportunities {CRRO)

Governance b)
and managing (RRO)

Vp ple Annual Report and Accounts 2023  vpplc.com

Management’s role in assessing

Consistent
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Strateqy

Describe the chimate-related risks and opportunities the
organisation has identified in the short, medium and long
ferm.

Lescrbe the impact of chmale-related risks and opporturities
on the organisation’s businesses, sirategy and tinancial
planning.

Describe the resilence of the oiganisailon’s stialegy 1aking
into constderation ditferent  climate-related  scenarios,
includimyg a 7 degree ¢ or fower scenano,

As described above the Board has ulumate responsibility for
setting the strategy fo achieve the Groups sustainable
inlentions. The development of these strategic abjectives is
informed by a risk and opportunity analysis (which is listed in
summary form below).

The key elements of our sustainability strategy are:

* Qverall corporate commitment regarding emission
reduclion ~ this includes our net zero commitment - which
includes rear term {as gefined by the Science Based Target
Initiative) emission largels (2033) and longer term net
zerc aspiiations (2050). The transition plans related ta near
and long terms targets are under constant review. The £SG
is content with the level of change being achieved,
Related risk - Enhanced ermssion reporting. Requiremnent
1o comply with legal/requlatory obhgations relating to
chmate change

* Composition of Vp's hire fleet - Where possible, our
divisions are aclively invesung in transforming our fieet 1o
incofporate more  environmentally  mendly  options,
thereby reducing our impact on climate change. This
ongoing process is dniven by a combination of innovatian
and demand. & notable example ol our commitment 1s our

submission to comply with the Plant Charter, and inftiative
led by the supply chain sustainability schoal. Related risk -
Customer preference changes.

* Sustainable Procurement - Our scope 3 emissions
inventory highlighted where the hotspots are 1n our value
chain. Reducing embodied carbon in the products we
procure for hire 15 the immediate prority. To this end our
Sustainable Procurement Group has been active for aver a
year, Many workstreams have been completed and more
specified for prioritisation, for example:

Investment in & system to enable robust assessment of
supplers and log the carbon emissions of the producls
they provide (nitial implementation of the system is
complete}

Development of a sustainable procurement policy
(complete)

Consideration of the recornmendations of 150 20400
{(Sustainable Procurement) - ongoing

Transitioning 1o low carbon supply alteratives {general
supply and lleet for hire) - ongoing. Related fisk ~
Transition to & lower carbon operation.

* Work to trapsition to a low carbon operation. The Group
has been successful I gaining accreditation against 150
50001 - the energy management accreditation. The Group
has also consolidated waste and waler supply ensunng
better data 15 available to reduce usage. Related risk -
transition o a lower carbon operation, customer
preference changes.

* Awareness and training - Our Learning ang Development
module SAP Litmos will be used to deliver key messages
lo all employees in the Group. Related risk - transition to
a lower carbon operation.

The following table highlights the principal nsks and opporlunities that have been considered by the £SG and Board. This
anatysis 1s an intrinsic part of detecmining our strategy. Areas highlighted as a priority for management are denoted with
a3 (P). The analysis below 15 built up using our standard risk managerment madel. This assesses risks and opportunities using
an impacl and likehhood scale. The position of the nsk/opportunities on this scale will determine management’s approach

to mutigation of the risk or pursuing the opporlumity

Within vp, impact or materiality is assessed using 3 methods - smpact on Group profit, impact on reputation and potential
disruption to the Graup Likelhood 1s based on the probability that the nisk/ opportumty 1s to crystallise and over what ime

stale. The timelines used in otr risk analysis are:

2023-2025 Short Term

30

2026-2030 Medium Term

2031-2050 Long Term
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Perceived

Oppaortunities Timelines impact Response
Transition
¢ Changing fleet dynamic to meet ST - Ongaing Medium

customer demand - proactive
innovation and reacting to

@

o

g

2,

(o]

, z
Our Divisicnal Management teams are b=t
(=

demand (P) )
. ) continually assessing fleet options through
* Ma{ktet Ieaderst;lp through 5T - Ongoing Medium product review groups. Innovation 1s
develapment nf 2 aistainable considerad by the Board within the overall
range of products (P) strateqy for the Group
» Engaging with technological ST - Ongoing Low
advancements in our strategy to &
reduce carbon emissions (P) 2
* Value engineering of operationat ST - Ongaing Low ISC 50001 challenges the business to =
processes to consume less achieve demonstrable change in energy 3
energy (P) consumption
Physical
» Greater demand for ous praducts ST - Ongoing Very tow The Group may experience benefit from
related to temperature control increased rental income as climate related =
and flood relief issiies become more prevalent g
5
P—— Perceived &
Timelines impact Response 3
Teansition §
» Customer preferences change ST - Ongoing Medium Our Divisicnal Management teams are
and requlatory sequirernents continually assessing fleet options through
toughen to hasten the maove to product review groups. Innovation is -
a 'cleaner” hire fleel (P) considered by the Board within the overall =
strateqy for the Group g
* Requirement to comply with ST - Ongoing Low Our ESG has a standing agenda for ?
legal/ requlatory obligations horizon scanning =
relating to dimate change (P} E
* Transition to a lower carbon ST - Ongoing Low The varied worksireams agreed by our ESG g
aperation (P) address this risk. The completion of our scope
3 emissions inverttory has unlocked many
further areas to focus on. The Board is due to
consider whether a formal scenaria analysis
is required
» Availability of capital ST - Ongoing Low Qur CFO is in constant dialogue with our
lenders and how our approach to
sustainability and climate change could
impact on the business
¢ tnhanced emission reporting ST - Ongoing Low The ESG and Board are comfortable with the
concept of completing an emissions
inventory, however we are awaiting
validation from the SBT
¢ Carbon credit pricing Long term Low The Group is focusing efforts on organic
reduction in emission values, however is
vigilant to carbon credit markets and the
potential impact on the business
Physical
* tlood, extreme heat, fire, water ST - Ongoing Low The Board is due to consider whether a
availability, rising sea levels, formal scenario analysis is required taking
biodiversity loss into account the gecgraphic footprint of the
organisation
* Supply chain continuity risk ST - Ongoing Low The feedback loop within the business is our

Sustainable Pracurement Group which reports
inte our ESG. The Group has not reported
supply chain issues as at the year-end but
will keep this under continual review
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Impact assessment

Physical - The Board recognise that the physical risk
elements mentioned above are active threats. Some
elements have experienced increased prominence in the
financial year - heat siress 1s a good example

Wwe have overlaid the risk analysis onto our operating
model in terms of operating and supply chain locabions and
rehance on key sites. The initial assessment has rated the
residual risk as minor As at the year end the Group has not
completed a formal physical risk assessment linked io
varying scenarios of planetary warming

TCFD Area TCFD Area Description

Strategy a}
Strategy b)
Strategy ¢)

Risk Management

Describe the organisatton’s process for dentifying and
assessing cimate-related risks

Describe the organisation’s process for managing dimale-
related risks

Describe how processes for ideniifying, assessing and
managing chmate-related nsks are inlegrated into the
organisation’s overall risk managemen!

As described in pages 38 lo 42, the Group’s embedded risk
management approach applies equally to cimate change as
It does to any other area of management. An incumbent part
of the Group’s nsk management process is to horizon scan to
assess any changes in the risk environiment

The responsibility for assessing climate risks ulimately falls
with the ESG. Significant 1ssues are tormally reported to the
Risk Committee and the Board to determine the approach
taken to achieve appropnate mitgation. The governance
structure within Vp 15 that the Risk Commitlee 15 a8 sub-
committee of the Audit Commuttee.

The Board 15 routinely made aware of the following
information:

TCFD Area TCFD Area Description

Risk Management a}

Risk and Qpportunities identified
Impact of Climate Related Risk

Resilience of strategy considering
climate related scenarios

The Group is currently collecting the required data to
facilitate this assessment. In the next financial year the
Board will conclude whether a more formal physical nisk
assessment is requireg.

Transition - The transition risks are more immediate in timing
The Group continues to assess the impacts but at the time of
writing these are considered rminor. The greater demand for
low carbon products (embadied and cperation carbon) has
been successfully bull into aur business planning. The Risk
Committee will continue 1o review this analysis.

Vp's Assessment

Cansistent
Consistent

Not consistent

* Risks relating to Climate Change and Sustainability matters
e The strategy determined by the £SG

s The progress on key workstreams that support the overall

strategy

Our standard nsk register model details nsk owners and
control owners. It 1s the nsk owner's responsibility o ensure
that the controls are delivered on a timely basis and continue
o mitigate the nsk 1dentified Where owners are multiple
and/ or spread across the organisation it is the responsibility
of the Group Risk and Suslainabilily Diector to monitor the
mitigation. Exceptions will be raised al Risk Commitlee level.

The effechiveness ol our nsk management is continually
reviewed by our intermal audit funclion who carry out
independent review of all principal nsk areas and report into
our Risk and Audit Committees. Where areas where
shortcomings are raised, these will be prioritised for
remediation with an action plan raised. During the financial
year the Group intemal audit function provided a review of
the calculation of scope 3 ermissions and the issues raised
were immediately addressed

Vp's Assessment

Risk Management b}

Risk Management ¢)

32

Process for identifying and Consistent
assessing climate related risks {CRR)

Management of Climate Related Risk Consistent
Integration of Chmate Related Risk management  Consistent

into overall risk management

vppic.oom
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Responsible Business Report

Metrics and Targets

Disclose the metncs used by the orgamisation te assess
climate-refated risks and opporiunities in fine witl its slaleyy
and risk management process.

Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and if appropriate, Scope 3
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, and the refated risks.
Describe the targels used by the orgarusation to manage
climate-related risks and opportunities and performance
against targets

The principal metrics the Group calculates and reviews are

Emissions, Waste and Energy use. The Group has robust

processes in place to facilitate the Environmental Steering

Group and Board to review metrics which drives the

following actions:

* Pravision of an indicator of the nsk related to a particular
part of the business

* Provides a measure of trends

* Provides a measure of achievement {or likely
achievement in the case cf longer term goals) of our
targets to have a positive impact an the environment.

The Group has disclosed some of the above metrics
highlighted above in the Responsible Business Report cn
pages 16 to 24.

Emissions

The Group continues to calculate Scope 1 and 2 emissions
and provides a relative measure in relation to Tonnes of (02e
in relation to £m of revenue. The detail is included on page
18 of this report. Gne significant change the Group made is
the purchase of REGO back renewable electricity in 2021.
Cepending on the stability of supply the Group has
committed o increase the purchase of renewable electricity
to 100% of electricity purchased by 2030.

Qur Scope 3 emissions inventory has been completed as
directed by GHG Protocol Technical Guidance. The Group is
using a base year of 2022 ie. year ended March 2022. We
have not disclosed these figures in the annual repart as the
calculations and assumptions are being validated by the SBTI.
Along with the scope 3 inventory we have submitted our
near term and long term targets to be nel carbon zero by
2050. When our inventory and targets have been validated

TCFOD Area
Metrics and Targels a}

Metrics and Targets b)

Metrics and Targets ¢)

Vp plc Anhual Report and Accounts 2023  vpplc.cam

TCFD Area Description

Metrics used by the Organisation

Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissicns

Targets used by the Organisation

by the SBTi (current expectation is August 2023} the Group
will disclose the baseline figures and progress against the
SBTI pathway for reducing carbon emissions. The metrics the
Group uhlises continue to be developed and plans formalised
lo drive the reductions we are seeking.

Financial Impact

Uther metnics used by the Group are change in average cost
prices in our ¢apital expenditure, energy consumption and
remediation of physical risks (insurance/ repair cosls). As
part of our annual review none of these cost elements are
showing a material impact on the Group’s cperations of
finances. The financial impacts are deemed gradual. As the
impact of climate change 15 felt more acutely and financial
impacts are deermned to be increasing it will become possible
to provide meaningful quantification.

An example of the gradual change is asset values and useful
lives of our hire assets. The Group constantly review this on
a Division by Division basis. The Board feel that this review
process would trigger any requirted changes under TCFD.

Targets

The Group's overall target is to be net carben zero by 2050.
some of our more specific short term targets are detailed on
page 17 of the Responsible Business Repart.

The Group is currently in the process of consohdating supply
in relation to our water use. This will allow the Group 10
formafly set targets.

During the year under review the Group has gained 150
50001 accreditation. Part of the process of ganing
accreditation is to formalise year on year targets for energy
consumption reduction. To achieve these targets the Group
will need to demonstrate the progress to the 150 auditor at
the time of future certification.

Executive Pay

The current remuneration packages for Executives and Senior
Management are not linked to climate related metrics. The
Remuneration Committee will retain this under review as
pragress is being made with formalising metrics.

Vp's Assessment

Consistent

Partially consistent - see
compliance statement {page 34}

Partially consistent - see
compliance staterment (page 34}
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Responsible Business Report

TCFD Compliance Statement - concluding analysis

in knowledge of the extensive assessment undertaken, the view of the Board 15 that this TCFD statement 1s not fully
consistent with the complete TCFD framework. In its simplest form this refers to the fact that our sustainability strategy has
been formally defined bul not fully iImplemented The Board is commutted lo be consistent with the TCFD and aim for this
to be achieved for year ended March 2025 We have identified the key elements of work to ensure consistency with TCFD
and we now are confident we have an appropnate governance structure and resource to achieve this,

Reconciliation of consistency

YCFD Area

TCFD Description

Vp's Current Position

Vp's Roadmap te Consistency

Strategy {¢)

Metrics and
Targets (b}

Metrics and
Targets (c)

Resilience of the
organisalion’s strategy into
consideration of different
climate related scepanos.

Scope 3 carbon emissions.

Targets used by the
organisation to manage
ciimate-related risk and
opportunities and

performance against targets.

Reference Documents Used

tssuing Body

FRC

TCFD

FCA

FCA

34

Guidance Name

CRR Thermatic review of TCFD

disclosures and chmate in
the financial statements.

Implementing the
Recommendations of the

Task Force on Climate-related
Finandial Disclosures {Annex)

Primary Market Technical
Note TN 802.1

Primary Market Bulletin 36

The Group has not
completed a formal
external physical risk
(scenario analysis)
assessment incorporating
different planetary
warming levels.

we have subrmitted our
Science Based Targets and
Scope 3 inventory to the
SBTi. We are awaiting
validation.

Scope 1 and 2 have been
reported on pages 17 to
19 of this document.

Scope 3 emissions - our
Scope 3 Inventory and
Science Based targets
are yet to be validated
by the SBTI.

Water melrics are being
finalised.

Date

July 2022

October 2021

February 2022

Novemnber 2021

vhslo. oo

The Group 1s preparing data to
consult with our adwisors to consider
materiality levels.

The Board to formally decide
whether a physical risk assessment
is required. This will be based on
the perceived risk to the overall
business. December 2023.

As soon as these elements are
approved by the SBTi the Group
will publish for stakeholder review
- September 2023.

Emussions targets will be
operational in Septernber 2023,

Water targets will be operational
by March 2024,

How Used

Advisary on completion of TCFD
Statement

Section C - Guidance for all sectors

Section F - Fundamental principles
for effective disclosure

Advisory on completion of TCFD
Staternent

Advisory on completion of TCFD
Statement
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Financial Review

Our strong balance sheet underpins the

delivery of sustainable long term value

TRADING PERFORMANCE

The Group has delivered a strong financial performance
against a challenging backdrop with Group revenue
Increasing by 4% to £3715 million (2022: £350.9
miltion). Profit before laxation, amortisation, impairment
ot intanyible assels ditd exceptional items increased to
£40.2 millian (7022 £38.9 million) with net margins at
10.8% (2022 11.1%). Statutory profit before tax was
£30.7 million (2022- £35.6 million). The return on
average capital employed” was 14.4% (2022 14.5%).

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

This vear the Group has recorded exceptional tems of
£5.0 million (2022: £nil). These items have been reported
separately due to their size and nature and in order to
better understand the underlying performance of the
Group. Exceptional items comprise £1.7 million of costs
from the Group’s terminated formal sale process alongside
restructuring costs of £3.3 million, mainty in relation to
depol closures across three of the Group's business units.

EARNINGS PER SHARE, DIVIDEND AND SHARES

Adjusted basic earnings per share before amaortisation,
impairment of intangible assets and exceptional iterms®
increased from 71.2 pence to 79.0 pence. The incresse of
7.8 pence includes the impact of a lower effective tax rate
in the current year. Basic earmings per share is 58.1 pence
{2022: 645 pence). The Board has proposed a final
dividend of 26.5 pence per share. If approved the full year
dividend would increase to 37.5 pence per share with
dividend cover of 2.1 times (2022: 2 times) based upon
adjusted earnings per share before amorlisation,
impairment ¢t intangible assets and exceptional iterns™. At
31 March 2023, 40.2 million shares were in issue of which
609,000 were held by Vp's Employee Trust,

BALANCE SHEET
The Group’s balance sheet is set out on page 85.

Total oroperty, plant and equipment increased by £4.9
million to £252.4 million. The movement in the year
mainly comprised £66.9 nullion (2022 £68.0 million) of
capital expenditure offset by depreciation of £46.9
million (2022: £45.5 million) and £15.7 million {2022
£10.7 million) of disposals (net book value).

Rental equipment at £220.6 million (2022: £216.6 milfion)
accounts for 87% of property, plant and equipment net
book value. Expenditure on equipment for hire was £59.9
million {2022: £59.& million} and depreciation of rental
equipment was £40.9 million (2022: £39.9 million}.

Chief Financial Officer: Anna Bielby

Intangible assets are £57.7 million (2022: £62.4 million)
and relate to goodwill, customer relationships and trade
narmes.

Days sales outstanding has increased by four from 55
to 59 days as we have seen a slight worsening of the
external credit environment. Gross trade debtors were
£77.6 million at 31 March 2023 (2022: £72.8 million).
Bad debt and credit note provisions totalled £4.6
million (2022 £5.2 million} equivalent to 6% (2022:
7%) of gross debtors. The impairment of trade
receivables for the year as a percentage of total
revenue was 0.9% (2022 0.6%).

The Group’s defined benefit pension schemnes have a net
surplus of £2.3 million (2022. £2.7 milhon) which s
recorded as an asset on the balance sheet on the basis
that the Company has an unconditional right to a refund
of the surplus of its main scheme.

CASH FLOWS AND NET DEBT

The Group's cash flow is shuwn on page 86. Year end net
debt excluding lease liabilities” increased slightly by £3.8
million to £134.4 million,

The Group continues to generate strong cash flows with
£80.2 million (2022: £90.4 million) generated from
operating activities.

This includes working capital outflow as a result of
revenue growth experienced during the year and a slight
worsening of the external credit market, particularly in
the construction sector.

Cash flows in respect of capital expenditure were £63.3
miflion {2022 £68.7 million). Proceeds from disposal of
assets totalled £24.9 million (2022: £17.8 million),
generating a profit on disposal of £9.2 million (2022: £7.0
million). The margin on profit on sale from disposals of
fleet assets at 37% (2022. 40%) continues 10
demonstrate effective asset management,

“These measures are explaned and reconciled In the Allernative Performance Measures section on page 129

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023  voplc.com

w
=
«
%
=
=
z
©
[=]
-~

QIUUIBACE)

SJUBWLIZNETS [E1UeUH

HONRWIGUY 13P(oYRIRYS



Financial Review

Net interest autflows, excluding IFRS 16 interest, for the
year were £54 million (2022: £4.5 mithon). This
addibional cost was largely due to the increase in SONIA
in the second half of the year. Inlerest cover before
amortisation was 8.3 times (2022: 10.1 times) and the
geanng ratio of adjusted Nel Debt/EBITDA was 1.44
(2022: 1.43); both are calculated in accordance with our
bank facllity agreements and are comfortably within our
covenants of greater than 3 times and lower than 2.5
times respectively. Net interest expense including IFRS 16
was £8 6 million {2022: £7.4 million). Cash tax was £5.5
million (2022: £6.3 millon).

Dividend payments to shareholders totalied £14.5 mullion
{2022. £14.1 million}, and cash investment in own
shares on behall of the Employee Benefit Trust (EBT)
during the year was £1.1 millian (2022: £0.5 million).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group finances fts operations through a combination
of shareholders’ funds, bank borrowings and leases. The
capital structure is monitored using the gearing ratio
quoted above. The Group's funding requirements are
fargely driven by capital expenditure and acquisition
activity.

At the year end date, the Group had £183.0 mullion debt
capacity (2022. £183.0 million) comprising £90 million
committed revolving credit faalbes and £93 million
private placement agreements. At 21 March 2023 £146
million of the facilities were drawn down {2022: £145
million). In addition to the committed facilities, the
Groups nel overdraft facility at the year end was £7.5
milbon (2022- £7.5 million). These facilihes were with
NatWest Bank, HSBC Bank plc and PGIM, Inc. Borrowings
under the Group's bank facilities are priced on the basis of
SONIA plus a margin. The interest rate imargin is finked to
the net debt o EBITOA leverage of the Group. The Group
also has a £20.0 million uncommitted accordion facility.

The Groups revaiving credit facility is due to expire in
june 2024 and positive preliminary conversations have
been held with our lenders. We anticipate the refinance
of the Group's facilities in advance of the Group’s intenm
results announcement in Novernber 2023.

The Board has evaluated the facilities and covenants on
the basis of the 2024/25 long term forecasts, which has

36

been prepared taking inlo account the current economic
cimate, together with a severe but plausible downside
scenano. All scenarios relain adequale headsoem against
borrowing facilities and fall within existing covenants.

This evaluation, alongside the antiapated bank facility
renewal, gives the Direciors confidence that the Group
has adequale resources to continue In operation for the
foreseeable future, Refer to further discussion regarding
going cangern within the Directors’ Report on page 72.

TREASURY

The Group has exposure 1o movements In interesl rates
on ils borrowings, which s managed by maintaining a
mix of fixed and ficating debt. The fixed efement of
borrowings was £93.0 million which was 69% of net
debt excluding lease liabilities during the year

The Group is exposed to movements in exchange rates
tor both foreign currency transactions and the transiation
of net assets and income statements of foreign
subsidiaries. The Group regards its interests in overseas
subsidiary companies as long term investments and
manages its translational exposures through the currency
matching of assets and liabilities where possible.

The matching 15 reviewed reqularly with apprapriate risk
mitigation performed, where necessary. During the year
the Group has nat had any foreign exchange hedages.

TAXATION

the overall lax charge for the year was £7.7 mullion
(2022. £10.1 milhon). this represents an effective rate of
25.1% (2022: 28.3%). In both years, the rate is higher
than the statutory 1ate in the UK of 19%, principally as a
result of the re-measurement of deferred tax fiabilities
reflecting the forthcoming change 1n corporation tax rates
alongside certain expenses not deductible for tax. A
more detailed reconciliation of factors affecting the tax
¢charge is shown in note 8 to the Finandial Statements.

Anna Bielby
Chief Financial Officer
6 June 2023
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Viability Statement

The Directors have assessed the viability of the Group.

In accordance with the Corporate Governance Code, the
Board has assessed the viability of the Group over the two-
year period to 31 March 2025 The Board believes this
period to be appropriate as the Group’s detailed plan
encompasses this perod.

Process and scenarios considered

lhe Gioup's delatied plan considers the profit and loss,
balance sheet, cashflows, debt and ather key financial
ratios over a two-year forward-looking period. Compliance
wilh existing covenant arrangements and headroom 1o
borowing facilities are also assessed.

The detailed plan has been subjected to sensitivity analysis
in which a number of the main underlying assumptions are
adjusted and tested to consider alternative risk-based
scenarios.  The plan has been stress tested to take nto
account severe but plausible scenaros which are aligned
to the Group’s nsk appetite and principal risks as
documented on pages 39 to 42,

These scenarios include consideration of market risk arising
from the impact of 8 downturn in economic activity. The
modelting 1s at least as severe as the most recent financial

downturn and more severe than the financial year 2020-

21 which included two full lockdowns in cur major regions.

The Board has alsc considered the availability of the
Group’s borrowing facilities which have a range of matunty
dates, the earliest of which is June 2024,

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023  vpplc.com

while it is impossible to foresee all risks {or take into
account risks which are currently immaterial but could turn
out to be significant), mitigating activities could be
performed, for example reduting capital expenditure or
discretionary spend.

In the mest severe scenario modelled, the test indicates
that the Group has sufficient headroom in its borowing
facilities and would nol breach any of the associated
covenants. Details of the Group’s financing arrangements
can be found in Note 16

Renewal of borrowing facility

As & portion of the Group's borrowing facilities expire in
June 2024, the Board has considered the options available
for refinancing this as required. The Board has determined
that there are sufficient options available to refinance this
portian of the faciliies suck that this does not affect the
viability of the Group.

Viability statement

Having assessed the current position of the Group, its
prospects and principal nsks and taking inte acceunt the
assumptions above, the Board has determined that it has
a reasonable expectation that the Group 15 financially
sound and stable and therefore will be able to continue in
operation and meel its liabilitres as they fall due over a
period of two years from 1 April 2023.
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Risk Management

The Board is responsible for determining the level and nature of risks it is appropriate to take in
delivering the Group’s objectives, and for creating and overseeing the Group’s risk management
framework. The Board recognises that good risk management aids effective decision making and
helps ensure that risks taken on by the Group are adequately assessed and challenged.

RISK RESOURCES

Ouring the financial year the Group has made a structural
change which aims 1o further improve the risk
management processes in the Group. Previously under
the wider banner of Group nternal audit sat some
responsibilily to design and upkeep the risk management
processes in the Group. Earher this year the Board decided
te separate internal audit and risk management, in so
doing providing dedicated resource to both areas. The
recently appointed  Group  Risk  Director  takes
responsibility  for  designing  and  implementing
appropriate risk management processes with direct
reporling to the Board. The Board feel that the revised
approach 1s an 1mportant step to ensure the Group 15
managing risk in a way that provides clear support to the
achievement of Group and Divisional objectives.

PROCESS OF MANAGEMENT

The Group has an established risk management stralegy in
place. At present the Board regularly reviews divisional and
departmental risk reqisters as well as the summary risk
registers used at Board level - covering Sirategic,
Reputational and Fraud and Loss nisk.

All nsk registers have a docurmented action plan to mitigate
each risk identified. The progress made on the action plan is
considered as pail of the risk review process. Within the last
financial year, the Group internal audit department has
completed largeted assurance  reviews across  alk
departments and divisions. The engagements are selected
on a risk based approach. Internal audit and other assurance
programmes are designed to nform the overall risk
management pracess.

A sk reqister 15 prepared as part of all major projects the
Group undertakes. This will include work to deliver change
programmes, major investment due diligence programimes
(acquisitions and major fleet investments) and adherence
with changing regutation.

RISK MANAGEMENT GOVERNANCE

REFINEMENT OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

The Board considers the current processes fit for purpase. To
this end the Board has signed off the Effecliveness of Internal
Control and Risk Management completed for the Year Ended
march 2023.

The appointment of the Group Risk & Sustainability Director
mentioned abave will further strenigthen governance in this
area. The Board look lorward to considering the plans initiatly
identified. At high level these plans will provide formality in
these areas:

s {onvening & regular Risk Committee meeting
* Communication of risk appetite

¢ {onsultation with the managerment teams regarding re-
facusing the risk registers.

RISK ASSURANCE

The Board considers the following measures have provided
the necessary assurance that nsks are being adequately
assessed and managed.

e The Divisional Board meelings held in May each year
ensure thal the Divisional teams are duly considering risk.
The Dwisional MDs are required 1o report on the nsk
management process, new risks identified and the
effectiveness of intemal control.

s Reqular Divisional reports give information provided by
second Yine assurance providers such as Divisional
compliance teams,

* Risk registers are reviewed by Group internal audit at the
start (to facihtate the planning process) and at the end of
each internal audit project. A post audit nsk rating 15
agreed with management.

* Group Internal Audit team continues to be engaged in
ad-hoc consulative work, supporting new risk areas and
areas of change across the Group. In 2022 /23, the Group
internal audit tearn continued to provide enhanced risk
management indicators and exception reporting. This
supports the business in continually monitoning  the
effectiveness of key controls.

The diagram below summarises the layers the Group utilises to ensure risk management is robust.

Vp Plc Board

Determines appetite, assesses risk impacts, in the context of objectives

Audit Committee
Risk Committee Group Internal Audit

Risk Indicators / Risk Events

vhple com  Vp ple Annual Report and Accounts 2023
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Principal Risks and Emerging Risk Areas

The Board has completed its assessment of the Group’s principal and emerging risks. Shown below
are 10 principal risk areas. For this reporting period we have provided further detail on how we

monitor each risk area.

As flagged last year, Climate Change risk is growing in prominence and requires a clear mitigation
plan. We are pleased to report a clearer indication of how we are managing this risk.

The Board has formally added IT Resilience as a new principal risk for this report. Qur iT And Risk
functions work closely together to ensure our mitigation strategy fits our business and the systems
we use in the dehvery of our internal and external services.

RISK DESCRIPTION

Market risk

An economic downturn {as a
result of ecanomic cycles,
political or global related
uncertainty) could result 1n
worse than expected
performance of the business
due to lower activity levels or
prices.

Competition

The equipment rental market is
already competitive and could
becorne maore 50, impacting
market share, revenues and
margins.

MITIGATION

The Group provides products
and services 1o a diverse range
of markets with increasing
geographic spread. The Group
regularly monitors economic
conditions and our investment
in fleet can be flexed with
market demand.

The Group aims to pravide a
first class service to its
custorners and maintains
significant market presence in a
range of spedialist niche sectors.
The Group monitors market
share, market conditions and
competitor performance and
has the financial strength to
maximise appoertunities.

Investment/Fleet Management

In order to grow it is essential
the Group abtains first class
products at attractive prices
and keeps them well
maintained.

The Group has well established
processes 1o manage its fleet
Irom investment decision 1o
disposal The Group’s return cn
average capital employed was
14 4% (2022: 14.5%) in 2023.
The quality of the Group’s fleet
disposal margins aiso
demanstrate robust asset
management and appropriate
depreciation policies.

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023  vpplo.com

HOW RISK IS MONITORED

= The Board monitors the revenue activity
and economic trends closely. Many
aspects of our business are linked to the
construchon sector therefore long range
trends are under reqular review
Revenue 1s analysed by market
segment and group customer analysis 15
completed.

The principal risk fead indicator reporting
considers many market metrnics relevant
to our business.

-

Competitive ferces and competitive
actions are experienced daily by our
Divisicnal Management teams. Key
issues are brought to the Divisional
Board meetings which the Executive
Board attend. The Main Board will
discuss some elements of these key
1s5ues.

Return cn capital employed is a key
measure in our business and review of
this metric will drive business decisions,
The Board receives data on disposal
proceeds and marging which informs
whether depreciation rales remain
suitable.

Individual investments will be subject to
review throughout their lifecycle.

CHANGE
FROM 2022

1
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Principal Risks and Emerging Risk Areas

RISK DESCRIPTION

People

Retaining and attracting the
best people 1s key to our aim
ol exceeding customer
expeclations and enhancing
shareholder value.

Safety

The Group operates in
industries where safety is a key
consideration for both the
wellbeing of our employees
and customers that fure our
equipment. Failure n this area
would impact our results and
reputation

Financial Risks

o develop the business Vp
must have access to funding at
3 reasonable cost. The Group 15
also exposed 1o Interest rate
and foreign exchange
fluctuations which may impact
profitability and has exposure
to credil risk relating to
customers who hire our
equipment.

40

MITIGATION

Vp offers well structured
reward and benefit packages,
and nurtures a positive working
environment. We alsc try to
ensure our pecple fulfil their
potential to the benefit of both
the individual and the Group,
by prowiding appropriate career
advancement and training.

The Group has robust health
and safety pohicies and
management systems. Qur
mnduction and training
programmes reinforce these
paolicies. We have comphance
teams in each division.

We provide support to our
customers exercising their
responsibiity to their own
workforces when using our
equipment

= The Group currently has
borrowing facilities of £190 5
milhon and strong relationships
with all lenders. Our treasury
policy defines the leve!l of nsk
that the Board deems
acceptable. vp continues to
benefit from a strong balance
sheet, and EBITDA, which
allows us 1o invest In
opportunities.

The Group continues to
generate strong cash flows and
net debt increased modestly by
£3.8 mihon from £130.6
million at 31 March 2022 to
£134.4 million at 31 March
2023 after funding fleet
investment af £59.9 million.
Management are in reqular
dialogue with our lenders who
continue 1o express their
commitment to the business
Gur treasury palicy requires a
significant proportion of debt 1o
be at fixed interest rates and
we facilitate this through fixed
interest barrowings. We have
strong credit control practices
and use credit msurance where
It 15 cost effective. Deblor days
were 59 days (2022, 55 days)
and bad debts as a percentage
of revenue remained low al

0 9% (2022: 0.6%)

vpple.corm

CHANGE
FROM 2022

T

HOW RISK IS MONITORED

Routine reporting is provided on
vacancy levels, employee turnover by
role, sickness. This is provided for each
Division and at Group level.

Training hours will be monitored from
Learning and Development systems SAP
Litmos.

« Data from our internal compliance

teams and external H&S consuliants 1s

tabled at all Divisional and Main Board

meetings

All of our trading focations are audited

twice per year Trend and root cause

analysis s corpleted on the results

generated

» Group Internal Audit will include safety
matters in the scope of their audits and
provide further insight to the Board.

-

+ Daily cash reporting forms the lowest
level indicator of gur liguidity situation
At higher level the Board will consider
total facity, headroom and cash
generation trends.

Debtor days by Division 15 monitored
and negative trends are addressed with
customers.

Proactive engagement with our lenders
in advance of renewal dates.
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Principal Risks and Emerging Risk Areas

RISK DESCRIPTION MITIGATION

Contractual Risk

Ensuring that the Group
commits to appropriate
contractual terms is essenitial;
commitment {0 inappropriate
terms may expose the Group
to tinancial and reputational
damage.

The Group mainly engages in
supply only contracts. The
majority of the Group's hire
contracts are governed by the
hire industry standard terms and
wilidilions. Vp has robust
procedures for managing non
standard contractual obhigations.

Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Failure to comply with legal or ~ The Group mitigates this risk
regulatary obligations utilising:

culminating in financial penalty  « Specialist Project Committees
and/or reputaticnal damage. with ongoing responsibility to
review key compliance areas
and investigate breaches and
non-conformance.

Assurance routines from Group
Internal Audit and External
Auditors.

Comprehensive training and
awareness programmes rolled
out to wider business
{including Mcdern Slavery,
Competition Law, Bribery and
Corruption) by representatives

from Group Finance, HR, Group

Internal Audit and IT Many of
these programmies are
completed using our preferred
online training portals.
Established whistleblowing
policy crculated to all
employees.

Use of legal advisers where
required.

Climate Change

The effects of dimate change
and the transition to a lower
carbon economy could lead to
increasing levels of regulation
and dermands on the business
from cuslomers, empioyees
and sharehelders. Changes in
weather patterns may increase
the likelihood of disruption to
our business, although this is
considered minimal at this
stage.

The Group has formally
declared its intention to be net
carbon zero by 2050 at the
latest. This declaration is part of
3 wider body of work in
relation to the quantifying and
ulumately reducing the
environmental impact of the
Group’s operations.

We have completed our Scope
3 emissiens inventery, this has
unfocked many workstireams to
reduce our carbon emissions.
We have submutted our
Science-Based Targets to the
Science-Based Targets Initiative
for validation.

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 vpople.com

HOW RISK IS MONITORED

-

CHANGE
FROM 2022

©

our internal procedures flag where
contractual requests require further
diligence and sign off.

Group Internal Audit will include review
of contractual matters in the scape of
their audits and provide further insight
to the Board.

The Risk Committee will provide
inteligence to the Audit Committee
and Main Board of current requlatory
requirements as well as horizon
scanning for impending changes
relevant to the Group

1

Qur emissions Inventory is the most
basic indicator of the impact our
business has on climate change. The
Group now has targets in emission
reduction which have been submitted
to the Science Based Target Initiative.
Energy use and waler consumption are
key metrics which we are working on 1o
allow priontisation in our approach.
Fnvironmental Steenng Group considers
information and data from sub-
committees.
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Principal Risks and Emerging Risk Areas

RISK DESCRIPTION MITIGATION HOW RISK IS MONITORED R
IT Resilience

As is the case with most This area is being led by our * System downtime is reported to the
businesses, the Group is reliant  Group IT Director supported by Divisions and at Group level.

on the consistent availabiiity of  our [T Technical and * [nstances of reported incidents are

its 1T systerns and security of development teams. Where considered for severnity, root cause and
key systems. Disruplion to, or appropriate consuliancy Is corrective actions required.

failure of, our principle systems  provided by trusted third parties  « 1pe Group has an IT Steenng Group
could result in significant who undersiand and validate the  (eesurced by appropriately skilied '
disruption Lo our business, level of risk the Group faces in individuals to consider risk and advise
potentially leading to 1ts varous processes, systems on mitigating actions in accordance with
reputation and financial loss and Interfaces. rsk appetite.

The Group continues to develop  The Group has tested continuity
existing systems and introduce  plans in place and reviews

new software packages. As learnings on an ongoing basis.
such cyber and data risks have  Employee awareness centinues
berome an area of increased and is being enhanced to ensure
focus and controls are It remains relevant and
constantly evolving. meaningful with the added

ability for easier and more
timety delivery to all users.
The Group has achieved Cyber
Essentials and Cyber Essentials
Plus.

0 Decreased risk 0 Increased risk e No change @ Not yet determined

STRATEGIC REPORT
The strategic report has been signed on behali of the Board by:

Neil Stothard
Chief Executive
6 June 2023
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The Board

Jeremy Pilkington sa (Hons)
Chairman

Appointment
Appointed 1o the Board in 197% and
becarne Chairman in 1981,

Experience
Jererny was Chairman and Chief
Executive between 1981 and 2004.

Committee membership
Chairman of the Nemination
Committee.

T &
Phil White scom, Fca, ¢BE
Non-executive Director

Neil Stothard ma, FCa
Chief Executive

Anna Bielby Fca
Chief Financial Officer

Appointment

Appointed to the Board as Finance
Director in 1997 and became Group
Managing Director in 2004 and
subsequently Chief Executive.

Experience

Neil previously held Finance Director
roles in the business iravel
rmanagement and legistics sectors.

Committee membership
None

Mark Bottomley BsC, FCA
Non-executive Director

Appointment
Appointed 1o the Board as Chief
Financial Officer in January 2023.

Experience

Anna was previously Chief Financial
Officer at KCOM Group PLC and Lookers
ple. Priof to that she was a Director at
PwC.

Committee membership
None

Stuart Watson BA, FCA
Non-executive Director

Appeintment
Appointed to the Board in April 2013

Experience

Philis 2 chartered accountant and has
extensive expenence within both
Iisted and private companies.

Committee membership

Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and member of the Audit
and Nomination Committees.

Appointment

Appointed to the Beard in January 2023.

Experience

Chief Financial Officer of Cranswick plc
and previous senior finance roles in
the food production industry.

Committee membership
Member of the Audit, Remuneration
and Nomination Committees.
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Appaintment
Appointed 1o the Board in january 2023.

Experience

Stuart retired as a senior partner in

EY in 2017. He is a non-executive
Director and Audit Committee Chair of
both the Humber and North Yorkshire
Integrated Care board and Flowtech
Fluidpower plc.

Committee membership

Chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of the Remuneration and
Nomination Committees.
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Governance

INTRODUCTION FROM THE CHAIRMAN

The Board is responsible and accountable to its shareholders
and stakeholders for the activities and is responsible for the
effectiveness of the Group's corporate governance.

The values and ethical standards of the Group are based upon
principles of farness, integrity and mutual respect and the
Board seeks to promote and exemplfy these values in
discharging it's responsibifities. These principles are both
ethically based and we believe are commercally central to
delivering our strategic and growth objectives and the long
term success of the Group.

The Corperate Governance Report is set out on pages 44 to 73
and incfudes the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 55
lo 69. This section of the annual report covers how we
manage the Group and how we comply with the provisions
of the UK Corporate Governance Code. The Group continues to
maintain and review its systems, processes and policies 1o
SUpport its governance practices.

The Board reports that throughout the vear the Company
complied with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance
Code as applicable to a small market capitatisation company
with the following exceptions:

e Stephen Rogers had served as a8 non-executive Director for
more than nine years before his retirement from the Board
on 31 December 2022.

» Phif White has served as a non-executive Director for more
than nine years. The Group has recently appointed two
new non-executive Directors and Phil White is assisting in
the orderly transition of the Board.

e Jeremy Pilkington, in his role as Chairman, is an Executive
Director and as such not considered independent. In addition
he has served more than nine years as Chairman 1o retain
corporate memory and important relationships. Therefore, it
is valuable to retain Jeremy’s services in a strateqic capacity.

e Two of the Group’s executive Directars recelve pension
contributions of 15% of hase salary. The Board recognizes
this is not in line with provision 38 as it is not in line with
the wider workforce. In line with the Group's Remuneration
Palicy, Anna Bielby joined the Board in January 2023 with
a lower pension contribution of 10%

Length of service of Directors

31 March 2023

Less than one year 3 Gender

One to nine years 1 Male

More than nine years 2 Female
44

Balance of Directors

& The Group is not compliant with provisions 40 and 41 in
respect of formally promoting effective engagement with
its workforce. Workforce engagement does occur,
throughout the year, though this is informal in nature. The
methods of engaging with our waorkforce are set out on
page 25 in the Responsible Business Report this is led by
our Chief Executive Officer, Neil Stothard.

This report and the following reports of the committees

describe the structures, processes and events through which

compliance 1s achieved.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Board structure

During the year the composition of the Baard changed. Until 31
December 2022 the Board comprised two executive Directors,
two non-executive Directors and the executive chairman,
following the retirement of Stephen Rogers the subsequent
appointment of Stuart Watson and Mark Bottomley, the Board
now includes three non-executive Direclors, with Anna Bielby
replacing the retiring Allison Bainbridge.

All Directors are subject to annual re-election by shareholders
at the Group’s AGM. Details of the Groups Directors are
provided on page 43.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive are separate and
clearly defined. The Chairman, Jeremy Pilkington, is
responsible for the effective warking of the Board and leading
the slrategic agenda for the Group.

The chief Fxecutive, Neil Stothard, has operational
responsibility for the management of the Group's business and
for implementation of the strategy as agreed by the Board

The role of the non-executive Directors is to provide
independent and considered advice to the Beard in mallers of
strategy, risk and performance, whilst providing governance
oversight thraugh operation of the Board's committees

The Board 1s satisfied that all non-executive Directors are
independent and that there are no circumstances or
relationships that may affecl judgements.

Balance of Directors

31 March 2023 31 March 2023

Role
5 Executive Chairman 1
1 Executives 2
Non executives 3

vpple.com
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Governance

Each Director is required, in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006, to declare any interests thal may give rise ta a
conflich of inlevest will the Company on appeintment and
subsequently as they may anse. Where such conflict, or
potential canflict arises the Board is empowered under the
Company’s articles of asscciation to consider and authorise
such conflicts as appropriate and subject to such terms as they
think fit. Ne such conflict arose during the year under review.

Any term of a non-executive Director beyond nine years is
reviewed. Stephen Rogers has served for longer than this
before his retirernent on 31 December 2022, Phil White has
alsc served as a non-executive Director for more than nine
years. The Board feels strongly that Phil's continued presence
on the Board serves as a valuable short term continuity. The
Group has recently appointed two new non-executive
Directors and Phil white will step down from the Board in due
course once an orderly transition has been effecied.

Our non-executive Directors are avallable to shareholders if
they request a meeting or have concerns which contact

through normal channels has falled to resolve. No such
requests were received during the year.

The Board is assisted by the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees. Separate reports from these
Committees ¢an be found on pages 48 to 54. The Chair of
each committee provides regular updates at Board meetings.

Board meetings and operation

The Boards agenda seeks 1o achieve @ balance between
review of performance, the development of strategy, the
adoption of appropriate corparate  policies and the
management of risk, requlatory and ESG obligations.

The Board has a clearly documented schedule of matters
reserved for its approval including:

s Strategy,

« Group results and the annual report and accounts,

» Significant market announcements,

 Dwvidends and dividend policy

» Annual budgets and business plan,

= Major capital expenditure, significant investments of

disposals,

« Environmental, Secial and Governance

» Review of internal control and risk management,

o Treasury policy.

In certain areas, specific responsibility 5 delegated to
commultees of the Board within defined terms of reference.

Matters falling outside of the Boards reserved list are
delegated to the Divisional Management under the direction
of the Chief Executive; responsibilities are delegated further
to the Group’s business segments and in luin within each
business.

Vp ple Annual Report and Accounts 2023  vpple.com

A system of delegated authorities whereby the incurring of
expenditure and assumption of contractual commitments can
only be approved by specitied individuals and within
predefined limits is in place throughout the Group.

Detailed papers are made available in advance of meetings in
support of relevant agenda items. The Company Secrelary
assists the Chairrnan in ensuring that Board procedures are
followed and is available 1o assist Directors gencrally as well
as advising on matters of cerporate governance.

The Company Secretary is also the Chief Financial Officer. The
Board continues to keep the Company Secretary role under
review, but feels that the combination of the roles continues
to work well for the business as a whole.

The Board had eight scheduled meetings duning the year, but
also met on other occasions as required by specrfic activities.

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination

Executive Directors

Jeremy Pilkington 8
Neil Stothard 8 - - -
Allison Bainbridge 6
Anna Bielby 2

Non-executive Directors

Stephen Rogers 6 3 1 1
Phil White 8 3 1 1
Stuart Watson 2 - - -
Mark Bottomley 2

Allison Banbridge and Stephen Rogers retired on 31
December 2022 Anna Bielby was appointed as Chief
Financial Officer on 1 January 2023 and two new noen-
executive Directors, Stuart Watson and Mark Bottomley were
appainted on 3 January 2023

Whilst Jeremy Pilkington, Nell Stothard and Anna Bielby {from
1 January 2023, Allison Bainbridge to 31 December 2022) are
not members of the Audit Committee, they did attend all
meetings; they also attended, as appropnale, Remuneration
and Nornination Commitlee meetings.

Dunng the year the non-executive Directors met with the
Chairman without the executive Directors present and the
non-executives met without the Chairman present.

The Board is satisfied that the Chairman and each of the non-
executive Directors committed sufficient time during the year
to enable them to fulfill their duties as Directors of the
company.
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Governance

Appointments to the Board

The Nominations Committee is chaired by the Company’s
Charman, Jererny Pilkington, supported by the Group’s
non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee
meets as required to consider succession planning to
ensure that appointments to Board roles are made after
due consideration of the skills, knowledge and experience
of the potential candidates. The Report of the Nomination
Committee is shown on page 48.

The Group’s policy on diversity is set out on page 26 in the
Stralegic Report.

Training and induction

All new Directors receive a full, formal and tallored induction
on joining the Board, including meetings with senior
management and advisers and visits to the Group's
operational locations.

Advice is available from the Cormpany’s solicitors, auditors
and brokers as required. There is an agreed procedure for
Directars to take independent professicnal advice at the
Company’s expense. Updates are provided on key technical
Issues as required including those relating to corporate
govermnance.

46

Performance evaluation

The Board undertakes an annual appraisal of its performance.
During 2022 an internal evaluation of Board performance was
undertaken, whereby the Company's Birectors were asked to
rate various areas of Board and commuttee activity and to
raise any areas of concern and suggestions. No areas of
matenal concern were highlighted during this year’s review.

Annual Review

The Board retains overall responsibiity for setting the Graups
risk appetite as well as risk management and internal control
systems.

A detailed report regarding the Group’s systems of nsk
management and nternal contrels is prepared annually.
Having reviewed and discussed this report the Board is
satisfied that these systems and processes are effective. The
principal risks to which the Group 1s exposed and the measures
to mitigate such risks are described on pages 39 to 42.

The respective responsibilities of the Directors and the
independent auditors in copnection with the accounts are
explained on page 73 and the statement of the Directors in
respect of going concern appears on page /2. The Group's
viability statement is set out on page 37.
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Governance

SECTION 172 AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
The requirements of Seclion 172 and how they have been met are sel oul in the table below. Directars of the Company

act in a way he of she considers, in goed taith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Company for the benefit Z
of its members as a whole and in doing s¢ have regard to: &
5
$172 REQUIREMENTS ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE BOARD E
the likely consequences Annual process to determine current and medium term priofities and set two year
of any decisions in the financial plan
long term
the interests of the Health, safety and wellbeing of employees a pricrity 2
Company’s employees Refer to pages 25 and 26 of Respansible Business Repart 3
Neil Stothard, Chiel Executive, is the Direclor with designated responsibility for workforce g
engagement 3
the need to foster the Refer to Business Review pages 8 to 14

Company’s business
relationships with suppliers,
customers and others

]
the impact of the Company’s  The Board receives manthly updates on health, satety and wellbeing of our employees =1
operations on the community  Group activities aligned to targeted UN sustainability goals (pages 15 to 34) &
and environment g

3
the desirability of the See Responsible Business Report page 27 £
Company for mainta:ning a v
reputation of high standards
of business canduct
the need to act faily as Annual Report available online and sent to sharehciders on request 'g
between members of the AGM open to all nvestors and questions to the Board welcomed 2
Company Receiving reports from sector analysts to ensure that the Board maintains an understanding )

of investars’ priarities )
Reqular trading updates E
Presentations to new investors %*

Half vear and full year results presentations and investor meetings

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023  vpplc.com 47



Nomination Committee

Dear Shareholders

As Chaarman of the Nomination Committee | am pleased
to report on the work of the Committee in recommending
changes to the Board during the year.

Background

The role of the Nomination Committee is to establish a
framework for appointment of Executive and non-executive
Directors.

The Nomination Commitiee meets as required to assist the
Board in considering the skills, knowledge, independence,
diversity and experience requirements of the Board, ensuring
its size, structure and composition 1s reviewed and refreshed
as required

The Commuttee also considers succession planning in order to
ensure the continued ability of the Group to compele
effectively in the market place. The Group’s policy on
diversity 1s sel oyt on page 26 in the Strategic Report,

Membership and Meetings

In addition 1o my role as Chairman, the Committee includes
the Group’s non-executive Directors.

The Committee met once during the year in order to discuss
the succession of the Group's previous Group Finance Director,
Allison Bainbridge alongside the appaintment of 3 new non-
executive Director following the retrement of Stephen
Rogers, which was signalled in our Annual Report and
Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2022.

48

Appointment of Directors

Duning the year, appointments were facllitated principally
through personal recommendation

Anna Bietby was appoinied as Chief Financal Officer
following meetings held with each member of the Board.
The Commuttee discussed the merits of the candidate and 1t
was agreed thal she would be appainted (o the Board.

Meetings were also held with Stuart Watson and Mark
Bottomley as potential successors to Stephen Rogers. Each
candidate was considered lo be strong and, as a result, the
Committee recommended the appomtment of both 1o the
Board, increasing the number of non-executive Directors to
three. It was further agreed that Stuart Watson be
recommended to the Beard to take on the role of Chair of
Audit Committee.

Shareholders are asked to vole annually 1n resolutions
proposing each Director for re-election al the Annual Gereral
heeting.

Jeremy Pilkington
Chairman of the Nomination Committee
6 June 2023
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Audit Committee Report

STATEMENT FROM STUART WATSON,
CHAIRMAN OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

I am pleased to present our Audit Committee report for the
year ended 31 March 2023. Stephen Rogers was the Audit
Commiltee Chair until he retired from the Board on 31
December 2022. | was appointed as a nan-executive Director
and Audit Committee Chair on 3 January 2023. On behalf of the
Committee | should [ike to place an record nur thanks for all nf
his hard work as Chair,

MAIN RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee provides an independent overview of the
effectiveness of the financial reporting process and internal
financial control systems including:

¢ Reviewing the financial statements of the Group, including
its annual and nterim reports, trading updates and
preliminary results announcements, reporting to the Board
on the significant issues considered by the Commuttee in
relation to the finanoal staterments and how these were
addressed,

* Advising the Board in relation to whether the Annual Report
is fair, balanced and understandable,

* Keep under reviews the Group’s internal financial controls and
nsk management systems, including arrangements for
whistleblowing and the detection of fraud and error,

« Monitor and review the scope, remit and effectiveness of
the Groups internal audit function,

« Consider and recommend to the Board the appointment,
reappointment and remuneration of the external auditors,
including considering tendering the external audit
appeintment,

® Assessing the scope and results of the annual external audit
and reporting to the Board on the effectiveness of the audit
and the independence and objectivity of the auditors,

s Reviewing significant legal and requlatory matlers,

* Reporting o the Board on how the Committee has
discharged its responsibiltties.

MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS

Stephen Rogers chaired the Committee until 31 December
2022 when he retired as Owector. Phil White has been a
member of the Commuttee throughout the year Mark
Bottomley and | joined the Committee on 3 January 2023
when [ also became the Committee Chair. Invitations to attend
our meetings, in whole or in part, are also extended to the
Chairman and Executive Directors and representatives from
internal and external auditors.

The Committee met 3 times duning the year. Since the year
end we have met ance. Meetings with internal and external
auditors without management present are held at least once
a year

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 vpplo.com

Stuart Watson

The Committee is authorised to seek outside legal or other
independent advice as it sees fit, but has not done so during
the year.

The qualifications of the Ccmmittee members are gutlined in
the Directors” biographies on page 43. The Board is satisfied
that the Committee as a whole has recent and relevant
financial experience as required by the Code. The
effectiveness of the Committee in fulfilling s remit was
considered by the Board as part of the most recent
evaluation of its performance.

ACTIVITIES UNDERTAKEN DURING THE YEAR

The activities undertaken included.

o Reviewed Pw('s audit strategy and plan for the audit of the
year ended 31 March 2023, inciuding matenality and areas
of particular audit focus,

s Agreed the Pw( audil engagement letter and the statutory
audit fee for the year ended 31 March 2023,

e Confirmed the independence of the external auditors and
assessed the effectiveness af their work,

¢ Reviewed and discussed the report from PwC setting out
their comments and findings arising from their audit,

e Reviewed and discussed the financial statements and
considered  management’s  significant  accounting
judgements and policies being applied,

o Reviewed the basis for preparing the financial statements as
a going concern and the viability statement included in the
financial statements, and recommending them to the Board,

e Assessed the Annugl Report for the year ended 31 March
2023 and recommended it to the Board as being fair,
balanced and understandable,

# Considered the findings of Group internal audit and the
management response 1o their findings,

¢ Reviewed and approved the Group internal audit plan for
the year to 31 March 2023,
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Audit Committee Report

Reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and recornmended to the Board
that they be considered effective,

e Undertook the annual review of the effectiveness of the
Audit Commitlee,

* During the year the Group received a letter from the FCA
n relation to its review of the Group’s TCFD aligned
chimate-related disclosures for the year ended 31 March
2022. The FCA has concluded its review and does not
intend to take action in relaton to the specific matters
raised. We have reflected on the feedback, which has
been taken into account in finalizing the TCFD statement
on pages 29 10 34.

* We also received a letter from the FRC in relation to its
review of the Group’s intenm repart for the six months
ended 30 September 2022 1n accordance with Part 2 of
the FRC Corporate Reporting Review Qperating
Procedures. This review was limited in its nature. Based
on this review, no questions or queries were raised.
Again we have reflected on the comments made in the
letter and will take them into account I prepanng our
interim results for the six months ending 30 September
2023

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ISSUES

In respect of the year to 31 March 2023, the following
significant 1ssues were reviewed.

Going concern

The basis for adepting the going concern assumption in the
financial statements is discussed on page 72 of this reporl.
The Cormnmittee in particular noted that bank facilities of
£90 million, representing 49% of the Group’s facilities, are
due to expire in June 2024, Whilst this is 12 months beyond
the date of approving these financial statements, this 1s a
key aspect of the going concern review. The Committee
therefore reviewed management’s paper on conunuing
comphance with all the terms of that faclity and their
judgement that these facilities will be renewed in advance
of that date. This enabled us to recommend the continued
adoption of the going concern assumption in the financial
statements.

Existence and valuation of rental equipment
The Group holds a significant quantum and carrying amount of
rental equipment. Management carry out fleet checks to

50

contirm the existence of the rental fleet. We have reviewed
management’s judgernent In estimating the useful economic
Iives, residual values and any impairment of rental assets.

Intangible assets - goodwill

The Group’s intangible assets include £44.6 milion of
goodwill. This goodwill is not amertised but is subject to an
annual impairment test. We have considered the
appropriateness of the assumptions and estimates used by
maragement in assessing the carrying value of goadwill.
More information is avallable in Note 10.

FAIR BALANCED AND UNDERSTANDABLE VIEWS

The Committee reported 1o the Board its conclusion that the
Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2023,
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the averall system of internal
controls for the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.
The responsibilites and processes in respect of risk
management are described on page 38. The Committee has
reviewed the process for identifying, evaluating and
managing significanl risk faced by the Group. Risk
management reports for each of the divisions, as reviewed
alsc by Group internal audit, were submitted for review to
the Audit Committee. The reports highlighted nsks and
mitigating controls. The Committee also considered the risk
tolerance levels that the Group is prepared to accept in the
course of carrying out its business,

The Commitiee monitored and reviewed the Group's
internal control systems, accounting policies and practices,
risk management procedures and compliance controls.
Internal control systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate business risk. They provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. Management is responsible for establishing and
maintaiming adequate internal controd over financisl
reporting for the Group.

The Committee also reviews the Groups whistleblowing
pohcy. There have been no whistleblowing reporis which
required changes in the contrel environment during the year,

The Committee has concluded that the Group continues to
operate a well designed and effective system of internal
controls.

vpple.com
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Audit Committee Report

GROUP INTERNAL AUDIT

The Group internal audit function provides assurance that
the Group’s system of internal control 1s effective and
appropriate to the level of risk facing the Group.

The Group internal audit plan is considered and approved at
set intervals by the Committee. The current plan runs from
2023 to 2025, with facility to engage with emerging and
new nisks as required. In reviewing the proposed plan the
Committee considers the Group's strategic priorities, specific
intiatives which could impact the business and the Group’s
risk register. The Committee assess the appropriateness of
the Group internal audit plan and the resourcing of the
Group Internal audit function to deliver it. Progress against
the plan is assessed at each Commultee meeting

During the year the current and fermer Chairman of the
Committee mel with the head of Group internal audit twice,
to discuss completed projects and issues arising. The head
of Group internal audit attended each audit committee
meeting and presented Group internal audit reports. The
Committee considered the results of Group internal audit
and the adequacy of management’s response 1o matters
raised in them. The commiltee were satisfied with the
reports and the management response to them.

AUDITORS’ EFFECTIVENESS AND INDEPENDENCE

The Committee keeps the scope, cost and effectiveness of
the external audit under review. The Committee assessed the
effecliveness of the external audit process during the year,
based on feedback from the Group Finance Team and Group
internal audit, and through Committee interactions with the

Vp plec Annual Report and Accounts 2023 vpplc.com

external auditors. As a result the Committee has satisfied
itself that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP {Pw(), the external
auditors, has provided an effective audit service,

The Committee ensures that the auditors remain
independent of the Group and reviews this on an annual
basis. PwC provided a written report to the Committee to
show 1ts comphance with professional and regulatory
requirements designed to ensure their independence. The
Committee has satsfied itself that they remaimn independent.

The Committee has a policy in relation to the use of the
auditors for non-audit services, set out In an appendix to
the Committee terms of reference. In the year the only
non-audit services provided by the auditors were a
subscription to an accounting knowledge portal with fees
of £1,300 representing 0.2% of the audit fee.

PwC were re-appointed as the Group’s auditors in October
2021 following & tender process. Tom Yeates has
completed his secand year as the Group’s audit partner

The Committee recommended to the Board that a8
resclution to re-appoint PwC as auditors be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting.

Stuart Watson
chairman of the Audit Committee
6 June 2023
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Remuneration
Committee Report
Annual Statement

Dear Shareholders

on behalf of the Remuneration Commitiee {the Commitiee)
| am pleased to present the Directors” Remunetaticn Report
for the year ended 31 March 2023, This report is split into
three sections: my Annual Statement, the Directors’
Remuneration Policy report and our Annual Report on
Remuneration for the vyear ended 31 March 2023 In
accordance with UK reporting regulations, we will be asking
shareholders to approve a new Remuneration Policy at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting (AGM), with the
background 1o, and reascns for, proposed changes set out
later in this Statement.

BACKGROUND

As detailed in the Strategic Report, the year to 31 March 2023
saw  continued strong progress in our core markets of
infrastructure, construction, housebuilding and enerqy, with
Group revenues up 6% on prior year and operating profit before
amorlisation and exceptional items having further increased by
5% to £488 million. From an operational perspective, our
businesses have continued to make good progress in their
engagement with custorners and supply chain partners to
deliver sustainable and innovative fleet solutions whilst, from
an employee perspective, we have taken positive actions to
minimise the impact of the cost of iving crisis on colleagues.

Going into the financial year to 31 March 2024, the
Committee remains optimistic that the Group can continue to
delver sector leading results for the benefit of all our
stakeholders. In approving remuneration outcomes for the
year ended 31 March 2023, the Committee tock into account
this streng financial and operational performance and
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considered also the expenence of its main stakeholders. We
are comiortable that actions taken on pay during the year
across the Group were appropriate.

REVIEW OF THE REMUNERATION POLICY

The cusrent Remuneration Policy ("Policy’) was approved by
shareholders at the 2020 AGM with 87.25% support and has
since governed our approach to determining executive
Directors remuneration at Vp. In line with the UK reporting
regulations, we are required to submit a new Policy to
shareholders for approval at this year’s AGm, and therefore the
Commuttee has recently underiaken a review of our existing
structures and processes to ensure that we can continue to
attract, motivate and retain the calibre of talent required to
deliver the Group’s strategy over the nex! three years.

In summary, the Commitiee 1s broadly satsfied that the
Group's approach to executive remuneralion - comprising
fixed and variable elements - remains fit-for-purpose. Our
review has taken into account changes in best practice since
the Policy was last approved by shareholders, as well as
comments received during the ntervening period. The
Committee has sought, where appropriate, 1o bring the
Group’s approach 1o executive remuneration in line with
market, Including the introduction of a formal bonus
deferral requirement, expanding the Iist of tnggers for the
application of recovery provisions, and providing greater
flexibility to vary the performance measures applying to our
variable incentives each year. A summary of the key Policy
changes being introduced - and the rationale for these - is
set oul in the table below:

vpplc.com  Vp plke Annual Report and Accounts 2023



Remuneration
Committee Report
Annual Statement

ELEMENT

Annual bonus
deferral

share Matching

CURRENT POLICY

None. Any bonus earmed
is paid in cash following
year-end.

Opportunity to earn

NEW POLICY

Wwhere an Executive Director has yet to
meet their mimimum share cwnership
guideline then any bonus earmed over
100% of salary will be used 10 meet
these ownership guidelines.

Dropped from Policy,

Malus 15 introduced alongsice clawback,

with an expanded list of trigger events
to apply to future awards under bath

Less specificity in performance
measures aligns with best practice and

Clanfied that the Committee will retain
overaiching discretion to overnde
formulaic incentive outcomes (both

RATIONALE

An element of mandatory bonus
deferral reflects best practice and
supports shareholder alignment. Linking
the deferral requirement Lo share
ownership provides an incentive for
Directors to build their persenal
shareholding more quickly.

Simplification of the Policy. Recognises
that this is a legacy arrangement which
has not been used for a number of
years

Reflects market and best practice for UK
companies. Helps ensure that there will
be no reward for failure

Provides the Committee with greater
flexibility 1o select metrics which reflect
and reinforce strategic priorities from
year to year. The Ccmmittee has no
immediate intention to change its
measures.

Reflects the UK Corporate Governance
Code and best practice. Gives the
Commiltee flexibility to ensure that pay
and underlying performance are

Scheme matching shares of up to
10% of salary based on
performance.
Recovery Clawback provisions apply
provisions to both the annual bonus
and LTIP in the event of a
misstatement of results. schemes
Performance Annual bonus: PBTAE.
measures LTIP: EPS, ROACE underpin,
allows for greater flexibility.
Committee Not explicit.
discretion
upwards and downwards).
BOARD CHANGES

Allison Bainbridge retired as Gioup Finaie Dieclor and
slood down from the Board on 31 December 2022,
remaining available to provide transition support until 31
January 2023. Allison was a highly valued member cf the
Board and contributed significantly to the Group’s successful
growth over her eleven year tenure. To reflect this
contribution, and in line with the flexibility provided by the
Remuneration Policy, the Committee applied modest
discretion to disapply time pro-rating of her 2022 /23 annual
bonus, with her gverall payout set out on page 62. In
accordance with the relevant plan rules, Allison was
considered to be a ‘good leaver’ under the LTIP with her
outstanding awards granted in 2020, 2021 and 2022 each
pro-rated for time served and remaining subject to the
originat perfermance conditions set. To the extent that any of
these awards vest for performance, a mandatory two-year
holding period will centinue to apply. Finally, Allison will be
expected to maintain a mmimum shareholding in the
Company until 31 December 2023, in line with our post-
employment shareholding policy.

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 vpplc.com

strongly aligned.

Allison was succeeded as Chief Financial Officer by Anna
Bielby, a qualified chartered accountant and experienced
hire. In accordance with the Remuneration Policy, and
reflecting her relevant experience serving as CFO at a
number of other UK-listed companies, Anna’s starting salary
was set at £300,000 per annum, just above that of her
predecessor. Anna will receive a pension contribution of 10%
of salary, with her vanable incentive apportunities aligned to
those of her predecessor at 150% of salary under the annual
bonus and 100% of salary under the {TIP Anna was eligible
for a pro-rated annual bonus for the 2022/23 financial year
but did not recerve an LTIP award, nor any buy-out awards.

Stephen Rogers, non-executive Director, retired from the
Board on 31 December 2022. We appointed two new non-
executive Directors from 3 january 2023 - Stuart Watson and
tark Bottomley - with the former succeeding Stephen as
Chair of the Audit Commuttee. Both Stuart and Mark receve
an all-in fee of £50,000 per annum, effective from their
dates of appointment.
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Remuneration
Committee Report
Annual Statement

2022/23 REMUNERATION OUTCOMES

Base salary - see also page 62

In line with the group-wide salary increase, the Committee
approved a 3% salary increase for Neil Stothard and Allisan
Bainbridge which took effect from 1 April 2022, Jeremy
Pilkington's salary was not increased during the year. As
noted above, Anna Bielby joined the Board as Chief
Financial Officer with effect from 1 January 2023, with her
starting salary set al £300,000.

Pensions - see akso page 62

As long-serving employees, pension tontnbutions for Jeremy
Pilkingtan, Neil Stothard and Allison Bainbridge {until her
retirernent) remained at 15% of base salary during the vear.
Anna Bielby received a pensian contribution of 10% of salary
from her appointment to the Board.

Annual bonus - see also page 62

The maximum bonus opportunity for financial year ended 31
March 2023 was 150% of salary.

Targets for the annual bonus were set by the Committee at the
beginning of the financial year and were based upon growth
In Group profit before tax, amortisation and exceptional items
(PBIAE). Targets are set by the Committee to be stretching and
generally reflect year-on-year growth, with enlry thresholds
set in line with the Group’s budget PBTAE for the relevant
financial year and full payoul requiring a material
outperfermance of budget. A similar approach to target setting
15 taken in respect of other Group and divisional participants to
ensure fairness and alignment.

For 2022/23, the Committee approved a pre-IFRS16 PBTAE”
target range of £39.0 million (threshold) to £44.0 mllion
{maximum), which was considered to be both stretching and
motivational. In particular, threshold was set marginally above
the priar years outturn. Actual PBTAE™ achieved was £405
mithon and a bonus of 30% of maximurm was therefore earned
by each Executive Director under the scheme. Na discretion
was used to adjust this formulaic result, reflecting the
Committee’s view that the outcome delivered 1s a genuine
reflection cf the performance of the business and appropriately
reflects the experience of stakeholders during the year.

Annual bonuses paid to each of Jeremy Pillington, Nell
Stothard and Allisen Bainbridge equated to 45% of salary.
Anna Bielby’s annual banus was 45% of her pro-rated salary
for the year

LTIP - see also page 62

LTIP awards granted to jeremy Pilkington, Neil Stothard and
Allison Bainbridge n 2020 reached the end of then
performance period as at 31 March 2023. Vesting af these
awards was based wholly on 3-year absolute EPS
pertormance, underpinned by a minimum ROACE hurdle.
Having exceeded the ROACE hurdie, EPS of 79.0 pence
resulted 1IN 7% of the award vestng The Committee
considered that this outcome was both appropriate and a fair
reflection of underlying performance over the peried, and
accordingly has not exercised any discretion in respect of this
vesting result.

IMPLEMENTATION OF POLICY FOR 2023 /24

Base salary - see also page 66

Following a review of Executive Directors’ base salaries, the
Committee approved an increase of 4% tor Neil Stothard and
Anna Bielby with effect from 1 April 2023, in line with the
average increase applied across the wider workforce, Jeremy
Pilkington’s salary wilt again remain unchanged.

Pensions - see also page 66

As long-serving employees, pension contributions for Jeremy
Pilkington and Neil Stothard will remain al 15% of base salary.
Anna Bielby will continue to receive a pension contribution of
10% of salary.

Annual bonus - see also page 66

The maximum bonus opportunity will remain at 150% of base
salary for all Executive Direclors. Bonuses will be based on
challenging growth targets for Group PBTAE derived from the
Groups budget, with the maximum payout target set at a
level which s stretching and appropriately reflects the
maximum cpportunity available. As in previous years, details
of the target range and the Group's actual performance will be
disclosed in next year's report.

Subject to the approval of the new Remuneration Palicy, any
2023/24 bonus earned in excess of 100% of salary will be
used to meet share ownership gudelines where a Director
has not, at the time of payment, met their minirnum share
ownership requireinent. Based on current shareholdings, this
requirernent would apply anly to Anna Bielby.

LTIP - see also page 66

Executive Directars will each receive an LTIP award in
2023/24 with face value of 100% of salary. Vesting of this
year's awards will continue to be based on the achievement
of challenging £PS growth targets, underpinned by a
minimum ROACE hurdle.

The Committee will conuinue lo monitor market developments
throughout the year and will consider the appropriateness of
any emerging trends for the Group. | hope that you find this
repart a clear account of the Committee’s decisions for the year
and would be happy to answer any questions you may have
at the upcaming AGM.

Following the zppointment of two new non-executive
Oirectors to the Board during the year, Mark Bottomley will
lake over as the Charman of the Remuneration Committee
after the AGM in July 2023,

This report has been approved by the Board and is signed on
its behalf by

Phil White
Chairman Remuneration Committee
6 June 2023

‘These measures are explaned and reconaled in the Alternative Performance Measures section on page 129,
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy (unaudited)

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY REPORT

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, and Schedule 8 of
the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (as amended). It
also meets the requirements of the UK Listing Authority’s Listing Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules.

The Remuneration Committee is seeking shareholder approval for @ new Remuneraticn Policy at the July 2023 AGM. It is
intended that the revised policy will formally apply for three years beginning on the date of approval. A summary of the
key changes compared to the previously-approved Policy is set out in Annual Statement on page 54.

POLICY OVERVIEW

The Group aims to balance the need to attract, retain and motivate Executive Directors of a high calibre with the need to be
cost effective, whilst at the same time apprepriately rewarding performance. The Committee has designed a Remuneration
Pelicy that balances those factors, taking account of prevailing best practice, investor expectations and the level of
remuneration and pay awards made generally to employees of the Group. Our Remuneration Policy 1s consistent with the
principles set out in Provision 40 of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code, namely:

e The Policy is clear, simple and easy to understand, with a single short- and long-term incentive and a small number of
important financial targets. Our approach to remuneration has remained breadly consistent for a number of years and
15 well-understood both internally and externally;

s The design and implementation of the Policy takes into account possible risks. Incentive targets are set by the
Committee ahead of each cycle to be appropnately stretching and achievable within the risk appetite set by the Board,
and the Commilles has discretion 1o adjust outcomes where the formulaic assessment would lead to an outcome which
is misaligned with underlying Company performance. Where it is deemed appropriate, an expanded list of recovery
provisions ensures that the Committee ¢an withhold or recover incentives in certain cases;

o incentives are clearly and appropriately capped. The balance of pay is aligned with market norms and a significant
proporlion is dependent an the achievement ot stretching short- and long-term targets; and

o Performance measures are aligned with our strategy and culture.

FUTURE POLICY TABLE FOR DIRECTORS

PURPOSE AND LINK PERFORMANCE
T0 STRATEGY OPERATION OPPORTUNITY METRICS
Base salary

Current salary levels are set out on - None.
page 66. In determining Executive

Base salaries are reviewed
annually, taking into account a

o attract, retan and motivate
individuals with skitls and

experience required 16 dejiver
the strateqy To provide a
competitive fixed reward,

range of relevant reference points.
Any changes are normaily
effective from 1 April in the
financial year.

Director salary increases, the
Committee considers the range of
increases for the broader
employee population.

Pension
To provide retirement benefits All Executive Directors are either The maximum pension contributicn  None.
in a cost-efficient manner, rmembers of a defined contribution  for Executive Directors appointed
scheme or receive a cash prior to July 2020 is 15% of salary.
allowance in lieu of pension The maximum pension contribution
contribution. for Executive Directors appointed
singe July 2020, and for future
Executive Director appointrents, is
10% of base salary,
Taxable benefits
To provide market consistent Can include car allowance, health Benefits values vary by role and None.

benefits.

insurance and other benehits paid
from thime to time. The cost of
providing benefits is paid monthly
or as required for one off events.

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 voplo.com

are reviewed periodically relative 1o
the market. It is not anticipated
that the cost of benefits provided
will change materially year on year
over the period for which this
Palicy will apply.
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy (unaudited)

FUTURE POLICY TABLE FOR DIRECTORS (continued)

PURPOSE AND LINK
TO STRATEGY

Annual bonus

To provide a direct link between
annual performance and reward.
To incentivise achievernent of
stretching short-term performance
targets.

Long Term incentive Plan (LTIP)
To drive sustained long-term
performance that supports the
creation of shareholder value

Save As You Farn
To encourage share participation
tn the entire workforce

56

OPERATION

Performance measures and targets
are set by the Committee at the
start of the year to reflect the
Group’s strategic priorities. Al the
end of the year, the Remuneration
Committee determines the extent

10 which these have been achieved.

Annual bonuses are typically paid in
cash following year end. For the
2023/24 annual bonus anwards,
where an Executwe Birector has not
met their minimum share
ownership requirement at the tme
of payment, any bonus earned in
excess of 100% of salary will be
deferred in shares.

Payments under the annual bonus
are subject lo malus and clawback
provisions, further details of which

are set out In the notes to this table.

Annual grant of nil cost options
which normally vest after 3 years,
made in accordance with the LTIP
rules.

For awards made from 1 April
2021, an additional holding period
applies so that the total vesting
and holding period is at least 5
years. Shares subject to awards
may accrue dividend equivalents
Sufficient shares can be sold at the
end of three years to cover tax
liabilities

The LTIP award to jeremy Pilkington
will typically be n the form of
notional shares settled by cash.
LTIP awards are subject to malus
and dawback provisions, further
details of which are set out in the
notes to this table

HMRC approved plan under which
regular monthly savings are made
over 8 3 year pefiod and can be
used to fund the exercise of an
oplion whereby the exercise price
Is discounted by up t0 20%

vpple.com

OPPORTUNITY

Up to 150% of base salary.

Up to 100% of base salary.

Up to the savings limit as
determined by HMRC from
ume to time {or such lower
himit as determined by the
Committee}, across all

sharesave schemes 1n which

an individual has enrolied.

PERFORMANCE
METRICS

Bonuses for Executive
Directors will be based
primarily on financial
performance. The Commitiee
retains flexibility 1o introduce
an element based on
relevant non-financial
measures, where appropriate
(with a total weighting of not
maore than 25% of bonus)
The Committee retains
discretion to adjust the
formulaic bonus oulcome
(etther upwards or
downwards) if it considers
that the payout 15
inconsistent with the
Company’s underfying
performance when taking
into account any factors it
considers relevant.

The vesting of awards will be
subject 1o continued
employment and
performance against relevant
metrics measured over a
period of at least three years.
The Commuttee will select
performance measures
ahead of each cycle that
reinforce delivery of the
Company strategy. Details of
the performance measures
allaching 1o awands (and the
{argets for these) will be
disclosed in the relevant
Annual Report on
Remuneration.

The Commitiee retains
discretion to adjust the
formulaic TP outcome
(either upwards or
downwards) if it considers
that the payout 15
inconsistent with the
Company’s underlying
performance when laking
Into account any factors it
considers relevant

None.
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FUTURE POLICY TABLE FOR DIRECTORS (continued)

B AND LINK OPERATION OPPORTUNITY PERFORMANCE
Share Ownership Guidelines
To ensure strong alignment Shareholding to be built up Al least 100% of salary for None.
between Executive Directors within five years of an Executive Executive Directors.
and shareholders. Orrector’s appointment. On stepping down from the Board,
Executive Directors will typicalty be
required 1o retain shares to the
lower of 100% of salary or their
actual sharehalding at the time.
These shares must be held far at
least one year post-cessation.
Non-executive Director fees
To attract and retain high- Fees are reviewed on an annual No prescribed maximum Nene.

calibre non-executive Directors,
To reflect the uime commitment
and responsibilities of the role,
and the fees paid by similar
sized companies.

basis and are currently paid 100%
in cash.

The Company retains flexibility to
pay either a single “all-in’ fee or to
differentiate fees to reflect

annyal increase.

additional responsibilities (e.q. to
the Senor Independent Directoy,
chairs of Board committees, etc.).

NOTES TO THE POLICY TABLE

Malus and clawback policy

Annual bonus payments and LTIP awards granted prior to the approval of the Remuneration Policy detailed i this report {1.e. pnor to
July 2023} are subject to clawback in the event of a matenal misstatement of results.

For annual bonuses and LTIP awards granted following approval of this Policy, malus and clawback will apply in cases of a material
misstatement of results, an error in determining performance outcomes, gross misconduct, corporate failure as delermined by the
Remuneration Committee, or where a participant has been deemed to have caused, in full or in part, a malenal loss for the Group as
a result of negligent, reckless or wilful actions or nappropriate behaviour or values. Cash benuses will be subject to clawback, with
deferred shares subject to malys, LTIP awards will be subject to malus and clawback over the vesting period to the fifth anniversary of
grant,

Payments under existing awards

The Company will honour any commitment entered into, and Directors will be eligible to receive payment from any award granted,
prior to the aporoval and implementation of the Remuneration Palicy detailed in this Report, even if these commitrents and/or awards
fall outside the above Policy (but were in line with the Policy in force at the time, if so required).

Performance measures and targets

Performance measures applying to the annual bonus and LTIP are selected at the start of each performance cycle to reflect the Group's
short- and longer-term strategic chjectives. Incentive targets are set at an approprately stretching level, taking into acceunt relevant
internal and external reference points. LTIP targets will typically be disclosed prospectively in the remuneration report.

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023  vpplc.com
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Directors” Remuneration Policy (unaudited)

ILLUSTRATION OF APPLICATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY

The chart below illustrates the total remuneration for each Executive Director that could result from the remuneration policy

in 2023/24 under different performance scenarios.

Jeremy Pilkington
Percentages/Amounts {£000)

Minimum . Total £541

on plan

Maximum

Max inc 50%
share app

Neil Stothard

Percentages/amounts {£'000}

Minirmum | Total £493

on plan

Maximum

Max inc 50%
share app

Anna Bielby
Percentages/amounts {£'000)

LR, Total £358

Minimum

on plan

Maximum

Max Inc 50%
share app

Total £1,130

Total £1,003

Total £748

B Basic salary, benefits and pension
Annual bonus
TP

Total £1,718

Total £1,953

B Basic salary, benefits and pension
¢ Annual bonus
e

Total £1,512

Total £1,716

B Basic salary, benefits and pension
Annual bonus
Lnp

Total £1,138

Total £1,294

The value of base salary for 2023 /24 is sel oul in the Base Salary table on page 66.

The value of taxable benefits in 2023 /24 1s taken to be the value of taxable benehits received in 2022/23 as shown in the
single total igure of remuneration table set out on page 62 (valued on a fuli-year equivalent basis for Anna Bielby). On target
performance assumes bonus payout of 75% of salary and LTIP vesting at 50% of maxirmum award.

Maximum performance assumes bonus pay oul of 150% of base salary and LTIP vesting at 100% of maximum award. Share
price appreciation has been included in the value of the LTIP under the fourth scenario, at an assumed 50%.
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy (unaudited)

CONSIDERATION OF EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS ELSEWHERE IN THE GROUP

In designing this Remuneration Policy, the Remuneratinn fammittee did nat expressly seek the views of employees.
Through the Board, however, the Remuneration Committee is regularly updated as to employee views on remuneration
more generally. Additionally, when making decisions arcund Executive Director remuneration, the Committee takes into
account the pay and conditions of other employees to ensure fairness.

Overall, there 1s a strong degree of alignment between the pay of senior executives and other employees, as follows:

e Our appreach to annual salary reviews 1s consistent across the Group, with consideration given Lo the level of expenence,
responsibilily, individual pedormance and salary levels in comparable companies.

¢ There are a number ol pension arrangements across the Group. However, with the exception of some legacy
arrangements for long-serving employees (e.q. for the Executive Chairman and CEQ), the majority of senior
management 1s eligible for a pension contnbution of up to 10% of salary, subject to their own contribution level.

o Most employees are eligible to participate in an annual bonus scheme. The maximum opportunities available are based
upon the seniority and respensibility of the role with business area specific metrics incorporated where appropriate.

» Certain senior managers ¢an qualify 1o participate in the LTIR Performance conditions are consistent for all participants,
while award sizes vary by organisational level.

e Employees can qualify to participate in approved and unapproved share option schemes whereby they are granted nights
to acquire shares al a predetermined price, which cannot be less than the midmarket price on the dealing day
immediately before the dale ¢f the award. Awards under these schemes are nol granted to Executive Directors.

o All UK emplcyees are eligible to participate in the Company’s SAYE scheme on the same terms.

APPROACH TO RECRUITMENT

The Group cperates in a highly competitive employment market. The Committee’s approach to remuneration on recruitment fs
to pay sufficient to attract appropriate candidates to the role. The package of a new Executive Director is likely to include the
same elemnents, and be subject to similar constraints as those of exisling Executive Directors. In particular:

s The base salary of a new Executive Diector will be determined by reference to relevant market data, experience and
skills of the individual, internal relativities and their current basic salary The Commitlee may set the salary for a newly-
appointed Executive Director above that of their predecessor where it considers it necessary in order to recruit an
individual of sufficient calibse for the role. Alternatively, where a new Executive Birector has their slarting salary set
below market level, any shortfall may be managed with phased increases over a period of up te two years subject 1o
the individual’s development in the role (and which may exceed the workfarce average increase).

e New appointees will receive company 10% pension contributions or an equivalent in cash allowance. Benefits will
generally be aligned tc those offered to other Executive Directors.

e The annual bonus structure described in the Policy table will apply to new Executive Director appointees, with the
maximum opportunity (i.e. up to 150% of salary) being pro-rated to reflect the proportion of the year worked.

e New appointees will be granted awards under the LTIP on the same lerms as other Executives Directors, as described
in the Policy table {1.e. up to 100% cf salary).

The Commitiee may make an award in respect of a new appointment to ‘buy out” incentive arrangements farfeited an

leaving & previous employer on a like-for-like basis. In doing so, the Committee will consider relevant factors including time

to vesting, any performance conditions attached to these awards and the likehhoaod of those conditions being met. Any

such 'buy-out” awards will typically be made under existing annual bonus and LTIP schemas, although in exceptional

circumstances the Committee may exerase discretion under the relevant Listing Rule to make awards using a different

structure. Any ‘buy-out” awards would have a fair value no higher than the awards forfeited.

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 vpplc.com
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy (unaudited)

DATE OF DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS OR LETTER OF APPOINTMENT

“Director - . Date of servite contract/letter of appointment
Jeremy Pilkington 10 June 2002
Neil Stothard 10 June 2002
Phil White 15 April 2013
Anna Bielby 1 January 2023
Mark Bottornley 3 January 2023
Stuart Watson 3 January 2023

The service agreements of the Executive Directars are terminable by either the Company of the Director on twelve manths’
notice. The contracts contain no specific provision for compensatian for loss of office, other than an obligation ta pay salary
and benefits for any netice pericd waived by the company. Non-executive Directors are appeinted under letters of
appointment that may be terminated on six months” notice. There were na ather significant contracts with Directars.

The terms and cendilions of appointment of Non-executive Directars are available for inspection by any person at the
Company’s registered office during normal business hours and at the AGM

APPROACH TO LEAVERS

The Company’s policy Is to imit severance payments on terminaticn te pre-established contractual arrangements Such
contracts contain no specific provision for compensation for less of office, other than an obligation to pay for any notice
penod waived by the Company, where pay Is detined as salary plus benefits only.

The following payments may also be made to departing Executive Directors, depending on circumstances. In all cases, the
Committee retains discretion to alter these pravisions on a case-by-case basis following a review of arcumstances and to
ensure fairmess for both shareholders and participants:

« An annual bonus may be payable for the period of active service 1n cerlain prescribed ‘good leaver’ circumstances and
in other circumstances at the discretion of the Committee and subject to the achievement of the relevant performance
targets. Outstanding deferred borus awards will typically be retained by a departing Executive Direclor with no
acceleration of the applicable deferral periog;

e Unvested LTIP awards will normally lapse. For ‘goed leavers’, unvested awards will typically vest on the normal vesting
date subject to the achievement of any refevant performance condition(s} and with & pro-rata reduction applied to
reflect the proportion of the vesting penod served. LTIP awards which are subject to an additional holding period will
typically be retained and released at the end of the relevant holding period;

e At the discretion of the Remuneration Committee, a contribution to reasonable outplacement cosis may be made where
considered appropriate The Cornmitlee also retains the ability to reimburse reasonable legal costs incurred in connection
with a termination of employment; and

* Any payment for statutory entiffements or to settle claims in connectien with a termination of any existing or future
Executive Direclor may be made, as necessary.
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy (unaudited)

POLICY ON EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS

Executive Directors are encouraged to held a non-executive tole in addition to their full-time pesition in order to breaden

their experience, and may retain any fees received in respect of such roles. All appointments must first be agreed by the

Commitiee and must not represent a conflict 1o their current role. During the year:

+ Jeremy Pilkington held no external Directorships;

» Neil Stothard served as a non-executive Director of Wykeland Group until 31 October 2022 and received £14,583 for his
services;

o Alhg Blelby 15 a wirector ot BLH (UK) Limited, a dormant professicnal services company.

CONSIDERATION OF SHAREHOLDER VIEWS

The Committee considers sharehaolder feedback received at the AGM each year. This feedback, plus any feedback received
during other meetings, is then considered as part of the Groups ongoing review of remuneration. Given the besi-practice
nature of changes being proposed, the Committee did nat engage directly with major shareholders during the most recent
Policy review. The Committee, however, remains committed to engagement with investors and their respective bodies
should any matenal changes be made to the Remunearation Policy in future.

Details of voles cast for and aganst the resslution lo approve last year's Annual Report on Remuneration and in respect
of the current Remuneration Policy are set out on page 69
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Annual Repoit on Remuneration

The following section provides details of how the remuneration policy was implernented during the financial year ending
31 March 2023 and how it is proposed to be implemented in the financial year ending 31 March 2024, Any information
in this section of the report subject to audit is highlighted.

SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE OF REMUNERATION {audited)

The following table shows a single total figure of remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2023 together with the
comparative tigures for 2022

salades . Yaxable Pepsions - Annual . Grant date

" andfees . benelits bonus  face value
R - ol vested

: R LTI shares : :
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Jeremy Pilkington 2023 471 N 71 212 34 - 542 246 788
2022 4N 34 93 385 1M 4 598 500 1,098
Neil stothard 2023 397 25 59 176 27 - 476 203 679
2022 380 25 57 31N 86 4 463 401 864
Anna Bielby 2023 75 4 3 34 - - 87 34 121
Allison Bainbridge 5023 246 ” 36 133 20 - 206 153 449
2022 283 17 42 231 _64 3 342 298 640
Non-executive Directors
Stephen Rogers 5073 34 ) B ) . . 34
2022 45 - - - : - 45
Phil White 2023 % ) } B . . 46
2022 45 - - - : ‘ 45
Mark Bottomley 2073 - ] ) - B . 12
Stuart Watson 2023 12 i ) . _ B 12

Base salaries and fees

Following a review of the Executive Directors” base salanes, the Committee approved an increase of 3% for Neil Stothard and
Allisen Bainbridge with effect from 1 April 2022, 1n ine with the average increase applied across the wider workforce. Jeremy
Pilkingten’s salary remained unchanged. with effect trom 1 January 2023, the non-executive Director base fee was increased
to £50,000 per annum.

Taxable benefits

Taxable benefits consist primarily of company car or car allowance and private health care insurance. In the financial year ended
31 March 2022 the Committee approved a one off payment of £33,850 ta Jeremy Pilkington to cover the cost of 3 minor
aperation which was not covered by the Company health scheme. This expense was appioved on the basis that jeremy
Pilkington had dropped out of the Company health scheme in 2018 because of a very significant increase in annual premiums
in respect of his cover. He has not received any of the private health benefits to which he was entitled since 2018. There was
no such benefit in 2023

Pension benefits

As long-serving employees, Jeremy Pilkington, Nell Stothard and Allison Bainbridge received 15% of base salary in lieu of
pension coniributions. Anna Bielby receved 10% of base salary in Lieu of pension contributions.
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Annual Report on Remuneration

Annual bonus payments

The annual bonus outtum presented in the table was based an Group profit before tax and amortisation targets as measured
over the 2023 financial year.

Targets for annual benus payments typically are set by the Committee al the beginning of the financial year and are based
upon growth In Group profit before tax, amortisation and exceptional items (PBTAE). The targels are challenging and look for
year on year growth with entry thresholds set in line with the Group's budget PBTAE for the relevant financial year.

The Committee approved a PBTAF target range of £39.0 million (threshold) to £44.0 million (maximum), which was considered
to be suitably stretching and motivational Actial PRTAF achieved was £40 5 million and a bonus of 45% of salary was therefore
earned by each exacutive Director under the scheme. The Committee 15 satisfied thal the outcome delivered is a genuine
reflection of the perfermance of the business and appropriately reflects the experience of stakeholders in financial year 2023.

P U PRYAE r e
- gequired for

hr ; E‘Z-maximumbonus : PRI
o (0% of salary) {150%of salary) o o oe

Jeremy Pilkington 150 3%.0 440 405
Neil Stothard 150 390 44.0 40.5
Allison Bainbridge 150 3%.0 44.0 40.5
Anna Bielby 150 3%.0 44.0 40.5 45 34

Allison Bainbridge retired as Group Finance Director and steod down from the Beard on 31 Decemmber 2022, rermaining availabie
to provide transition suppert until 31 January 2023. Allison was a highly valued member of the Board and contributed
significantly to the Group's successful growth over her eleven year tenure. To reflect this contribution, and in line with the
flexibility provided by the Remuneration Policy, the Committee applied medest discretion to disapply time pro-rating of her
2022/23 annual bonus. Anna Bielby was eligible for a pro-rated annual bonus for the 2022/23 financial year.

VESTING OF LTIP AWARDS (audited)

The tTIP amount included in the 2022 /23 single total figure of remuneration reflects the conditional share award granted in
July 2020. Vesting of this award was dependent on eamings per share performance over the three years ended 31 March 2023,
the achieverment of a minimum return on average capital employed of 12% and continued service until jJuly 2023,

The performance targets for this award and actual performance against those targets was as follows:

Earnings per share® 79.69 pence 93.64 pence 79.0 pence 7.2%

ROACE 12.0% 12.0% 14.4%

“EPS is measured on 3 net basis, in accordance with International Financial Reporling Standards, but excluding IFRS16 prefit
impact and assuming a fixed corporation tax charge on profits currently at the rate of 20% and excluding any amortisation
and exceptional items shown on the face of the Income Statement or in the notes to the Company’s accounts and utilising
the whole of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company, assuming a constant level of issued Ordinary Share Capital
over the three years, in this case 40.154 million shares.

Return on average capilal employed 15 calculated by dividing the profil before tax, interest, amortisation and exceptional
items excluding IFRS16 profit impact by the aggregate of average net assets and average net debt consistent with those
shown i the management accounts of the Company for the relevant financial year.
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Annual Report on Remuneration

VESTING OF LTIP AWARDS (audited) - continued
The LTIP award delails for the executive Directors are as follows:

Numberof  Numbesof . Grantdate Estimated value |
“-shares - - -shares - . facevalpe - _ofshares
atgrant to vest - _of vested westing
- 'July 2020 July 2023 .. shares .

£000 £000

Jererny Pilkingtan 67,400 4,853 34 33
Neil Stothard 53,400 3,845 27 26
Allison Bainbridge 39,700 2,858 20 20

The award of the IIP above was based upon the policy of awarding up to an equivalent of 100% of salary. The share price at
the time of the award was £6.98. The value of shares vesting is estimated using a 3-month average share price to 1 May 2023
of £6.88. This value will be trued-up in next year's report to reflect the actual share price on the date of vesting in July 2023,

SHARE SCHEME INTERESTS AWARDED DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR (audited)
The following awards were granted to executive Directors:

Executive -, - Scheme . Bagis of award pate of . Share price at Numberof  Face value Performante
IR Gt e e, granted L grant date of grant £ shajes E000  Period end date

Jeremy Pilkington

TIP 100% of salary 19 August 2022 7.87 59,800 471 31 March 2025
Neil Stothard
TP 100% of salary 19 August 2022 7.87 49,700 3N 31 March 2025
SAYE N/A 5 December 2022 5.60 642 4 N/A
Allison Bainbridge
1P 100% of salary 19 August 2022 7.87 37,000 791 31 March 2025

The share pnice at the date of grant has been used to calculate the face value of the awards granted.

PAYMENTS TO PAST DIRECTORS AND FOR LOSS OF OFFICE (audited)
No payments were made to past Direclors or for loss of office in the year ended 371 March 2023,
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OUTSTANDING SHARE AWARDS (audited)

The table below sets aut details of unvested share awards held by executive Directors. Details of vested awards are shown
in the statement of Directors’ shareholdings and share interests on page 64.

Jeremy Pilkington
Total LTIP Varous Ml 174,000 52,800 13,182 11,618 170,000 Juby 2023 31 Mar 2023
to July 2032 to 31 Mar 2025

Neil Stothard
Total ITIP Varous Nil 137,900 49,700 10,224 32,376 145,000 July 2023 31 Mar 2023
to July 2032 to 31 Mar 2025
SAYE 2019 71 506 - 506 - - Oclober 2022 N/A
to March 2023
SAYE 2020 584 616 - - - 616  Cctober 2023 N/A
to March 2024
SAYE 2o 693 519 - - - 519 October 2024 N/A
to March 2025
SAYE 2022 560 - 642 - - 642 January 2026 N/A
10 June 2026
Total SAYE 1,641 642 506 - 1,777
Allison Bainbridge
Total LTIP Vanous Nil 102,450 37,000 7584 92,166 39,700 July 2023 31 Mar 2023

to July 2032 to 31 Mar 2025

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AND SHARE INTERESTS (audlted)

Jeremy Pitkington 29,220 29,220 252,563 239,41 179,000 -

Neil Stothard 1,487% 864,750 858,993 - - 145,000 1,777
Allison Bainbridge n/a n/a 141,078 n/a 39,700
Anna Bielby 0% - r/a - n/a - -

T Unvested LTIP awards are subject to perfarmance conditions

None of Stephen Rogers, Phil White, Mark Bottomley or Stuart Watsan held any shares at any peint in the year.

The share price used to calculate the value of shares benelicially owned for the purposes of establishing shareholding as a
percentage of salary 1s the share price as at 31 March 2023: £6.74.

“Guring the year Jeremy Pilkington was interested in shares owned by Ackers P Investrment Company Limited. This company is
ultimately controlled by a number of trusts of which, for the purposes cf Sections 252 1o 255 of the Companies Act 2006, Jeremy
Pilkingtan is deemed to be a connected person. As at 31 March 2023 Ackers P Investment Company Limited owned 20,181,411
shares (2022: 20,181,411 shares).

The LTIP awards cutstanding in respect of Jeremy Fitkington are notional shares which would be settled by a cash payment.
The executive Directors are each in compliance with the Company’s requirements to hold shares equivalent to at least 1006% of
salary, to be built up within five years of appointrent. Anna Bielby was appointed on 1 January 2023 and has 5 years to meet
this requirement. As at the date of leaving, Allison Bainbridge held 335% shareholding as a % of salary and she 1s required to
hold at least 100% of her final salary until 31 December 2023

There were no changes In the interests of the Directors between 31 March 2023 and 5 June 2023,
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Annual Report on Remuneration

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE REMUNERATION POLICY FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31 MARCH 2024 (unaudited)
A surnmary of how the Directors” remuneration policy will be apglied during the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below.

Base salary and fees

The Committee approved a 4% increase in base salary for Neil Stothard and Anna Bielby from 1 Apnil 2023, in line with
the average salary Increase across the Group. No increases are propesed for the Executive Chairman. An increase to the
base fees for the non-executive Directors was applied from 1 January 2023 as disclosed on page 62.

022 {or date . -

appointment) . : R
£000 % increase
Jeremy Pilkington 471 471 0%
Neil Stothard 408 391 4%
Anna Bielby 312 30C 4%
Phil White 50 45 11%
: Mark Bottomley 50 50 0%

| Stuart Watson 50 50 0%

A salary increase averaging 4% across the Group was proposed al the annual 2023 pay review, effective from 1 April 2023.

Pension arrangements

As long-serving employees, Jeremy Pilkington and Neil Stothard will continue to receive 15% of base salary in liey of
pensien contributions. Anna Bielby will continue to receive 10% of base salary in lieu of pensien contributions.

Annual bonus

The maximum bonus potential will remain at 150% of base salary. Bonuses will continue to be based on challenging growth
‘ targets for profit before tax, amortisation and exceptional items derived from the Group’s budget, with the maximum payout
i target set at a level which appropriately reflects maximum opportunity available.

The Committee 1s of the opinion that the performance targets for the annual bonus are commercially sensitive and that it

would be detnmental to the interests of the Group to disclose them betare the start of the financial year. The targets will be
disclosed after the end of the relevant financial year in that year's remuneration report.

Long term incentives

The maximum LTIP award in 2023 will remain at 100% of salary for all executive Directors. Consistent with past awards
: the extent to which any LTIP awards granted in 2023 will vest will be dependent upon the achievement of a challenging
} target growth in the Group’s adjusted earnings per share, underpinned by Group ROACE.
I

The targets for the ITIP awards granted in 2023 are as follows:

2023 89.66 104.60 12%

Clawback and malus provisions in the event of significant misstatement of the results will apply to beth the annual bonus
and the long term incentive as noted on page 62.
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Annual Report on Remuneration

PERFORMANCE GRAPH AND TABLE (unaudited)

The follew:ng graph charts the Total Sharehelder Return of the Group and the FTSE Small Cap Index over the ten year period
from 1 Apnl 2013 to 31 March 2023.
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The FTISE small Cap index excluding investment trusts is regarded as an appropriate benchmark for the Group’s
shareholders. Total shareholder return is detfined as the total return a shareholder would receive over the period inclusive
of both share price growth and dividends.

The total remuneration and incentive payouts for the Executive Chairman across the same period were as follows:

Year ending March 2014 & 42017 2018 20 2020 2021 -

Single figure (£000) 2,642 2259 1,613 1,580 1,498 915 1,098 790
Annual bonus % of maximum S2%  100% 2 7% 72% 57% 75% 54% 30%
LTIP vesting % of maximum 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%  71% 0%  24% 7%

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN PAY RATIO (unaudited)

The table below provides the ratic between the Executive Chairman single figure total remuneration and total remuneration for
all UK ernployees and the details of the salary and total remuneration for UK employees in 2022/23, We have chasen option B
as our method for calculating the pay ratio for this report, consistent with the mathodslogy for reporting of the gender pay gap.

34 28 20 £23,502 £27.863  £39,743

Total remuneration 2023 B

salary 2023 B 21 18 13 £22,955 £27,000 £35,598
Total remuneration 2022 B 49 1 2% £22,527 £26,880 £38,200
Salary 2022 B8 21 18 14 £22,160 £26,000 £34.334
Total remuneration 2021 B 44 38 27 £20,554 £24,238 £33,366
Salary 2021 B 23 20 15 £20,466 £23,968 £30,905
Total remuneration 2020 B 44 37 27 £20.650 £24,624 £33,731
Salary 2020 B 23 20 15 £20,131 £23,915 £30,600

The Commuitee has considered the findings of the pay ratic analysis which appear to be reasonable in the context of the
Groups sector and taking nto account the composition of the Group's UK workforce against which Executive Chairman’s
remuneration is compared
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Annual Report on Remuneration

PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN ALL DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (unaudited)

The table below shows the percentage change in the Directars” salary, benefits and annual bonus between the financial
year ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 compared 1o the percentage change for UK employees of the Group for
each of these elements of pay.

AT its - -Annual Bonus
Jeremy Pilkington 2023 0% -100% 9%
2022 5% 16060% 100%
2021 -5% -33% -100%
Neil Stothard 2023 3% 0% 11%
2022 8% 2% 100%
2021 -4% -4% -100%
Anna Bielby 2023 n/a n/a n/a
Allison Bainbridge 2023 3% 0% 11%
2022 8% 2% 100%
2021 -4, Q% -100%
Stephen Rogers 2023 0% 0% n/a
2022 5% 0% n/a
2021 -4% 0% n/a
Phil White 2023 3% 0% n/a
2022 5% Q% n/a
2021 -4% 0% n/a
Mark Bottomley 2023 n/a n/a n/a
Stuart watson 2023 n/a n/a n/a
UK Employees 2023 5% 10% 43%
2022 12% 5% 169%
2021 1% -/Y% -67%

The percentage change for UK emplayees is based upon a consistent set of employees and 1s calculated using P60 and P11D data.

“To be comparable to the dala for the UK employees the annual bonus for the Directors disclosed above s the bonus paid in the
relevant tax year.

RELATIVE IMPORTANCE OF SPEND ON PAY (unaudited)
The following table shows the Group’s actual spend on pay {for all employees) relative to dividends.

staff costs  im 116.0 1233 6%
Dividends m 14.3 14.5 1%

Dividend figures relate to amounts payable in respect of the relevant financial year
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (unaudited)

The Group's approach to executive Directors’ remuneration s determined by the Board on the advice of the Remuneration
{ommittee.

The primary role of the Committee is to:
e Review recommend and monitor the level and structure of remuneration for executive Directors,
e Approve the remuneration packages far executive Birectors;

® Determine the balance between base pay and performance related elements of the package so as lo align Directors’
interests to those of shareholders.

The Committee’s terms of reference are set out on the Company's websile.

The members of the Remuneration Committee, all independent non-executive Directors, during the year under review were
as follows:

e Phil White

e Stephen Rogers (resigned 31 December 2022}

o Mark Bottomley {appointed 3 January 2023}

e Stuart Watson (appointed 3 January 2023)

Brographical information on Committee members and details of attendance at the Committee meetings dunng the year
are set out on pages 43 and 45. The Remuneration Committee has access to independent advice where it considers
appropnate. During 2022 /23 the Committee sought external professional advice and is satisfied that the advice provided
15 independent and abjective.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING VOTING OUTCOMES (unaudited)

The following table details votes for and against the 2020 Directors’ remuneralicn policy and the Directers’ remuneration
reporl for 2021/22, along with the number of votes withheld. The Committee will continue to consider the views of
shareholders when determining and reporting on remuneration arrangements.

s Irectors’ Refnunecation Policy 2020 . . "Direttors’ Remuneration Report 2021/22!
Votes for 29,022,433 {87.25%) 29,347,628 (87.78%)

Votes against 4,240,672 {12.75%) 4,086,324 (12.22%)
Votes withheld 8,713 722,242

The Company’s remuneration policy was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 23 July 2020
and applies for three years. The Remuneration Committee’s Annual Report for 2021/22 was approved at the Company’s
Annual General Meeting held on 21 July 2022.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors of Vp pic present their annual report and the audited financial statements of the Group and Parent
company for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal actrvity of the Group is equipment rental and associated services.

STRATEGIC REPORY

Pursuant to Sections S414C(11) Companies Act 2006, elements of required reporting including future developments,
engagement with others and environmental matters are included within the Strategic Report, which can be found on
pages 1 to 42.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Graup profit after tax for the year was £23.0 million (2022: £25.5 million}. The Directors recommend a final dividend of
26.5 pence per share. Subject to approval, the linal dividend will be paid on 4 August 2023 to all shareholders on the
register as at 23 June 2023,

DIRECTORS

Detalls of the Directors of the Company who were in office dunng the year and up to the date of signing the financial
statements are given on page 43. Detalls of Directors’ interests in shares are provided in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on page 65. The Directors’ exposures to conduct and liability issues are mitigated by Directars and Officers insurance
cover where applicable during the financial year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Detalls of the Company’s share capital structure are shown tn note 20 to the accounts. All shares have the same voting
rights. There are no restrictions on the transfer of shares in the Company or restrictions on voling rights

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 16 March 2023 the following had notified the Company of an interest of 3% or more in the Company’s i1ssued ordinary
share capital.

Ackers P investment Company Limited 20,181,411 50.26
Jupiter Asset Management 2,450,000 6.10
Chelverton Asset Management 1,646,617 410
Schreder Investment Management 1,530,750 3.81
Invesco Asset Management Limited 1,477,745 3.68
Canaccord Genuity Wealth Management 1,250,000 3.11

Jeremy Pilkington is a Director of Ackers P Investment Company Limited which is the holding company of Vp plc.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Consideration of the financial risk management of the Group has been included in the Strategic Report on page 40.
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION UNDER LISTING RULE 9.8.4.

The Directors confirm that the Company has entered into a relationship agreement with Ackers P Investment Company Limited
(a controlling shareholder) and has complied with the independence provisions of the agreement. As far as the Lirectors afe
aware, the controlling shareholder and its associates have also complied with the independence provision,

Joday nbajens

Pursuant to listing rute 9.8.4C the Company is required to disclose that an arrangement is in place whereby the trustee of
the Company employee benefil trust has agreed to waive present and future dividend nghts 1 respect of certain shares
thal it helds

EMPLOYEES

The Direclors are tommitted to maintaining effective communication with employees on matters which affect their
accupations and future prospects while at the same time increasing their awareness of the Group’s overall activities and
performance. This communication takes the form of comprehensive team bnefings to all employees together with reqular
Group and divisional newsletters.
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It is the policy of the Group 1o empley and train disabled people whenever their skills and quahhications allow and sutable
vacancies are available. If existing employees become disabled, every effort is made to find ther appropriate work and training

is provided if necessary. T
Further details regarding employees are provided in the Responsible Business Report on pages 15 1o 28. =3
&
POLITICAL AND CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS %
The Group made no pelitical contributions during the year. Donations to charities amounted to £85,000 (2022: £61,000}. The &
donations made in the year principally relate to environmental inhiatives and sponsorship of employee driven fund raising
activities on behalt of local and national charities. o~
=
[
SUPPLIER PAYMENT POLICY 2
itis the Company’s policy to make payment to suppliers on agreed terms. The Company seeks to abide by these payment terms ’;ﬁ
wheneaver it s satisfied that the supplier has provided the goods or services in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions. g
The aumber of days purchases outstanding at 31 March 2023 was 37 days (2022: 41 days). This figure fluctuates dependent 2
]

on the creditor position for fleet purchases at the year end compared to the average purchases during the year.

TAXATION PRINCIPLES
We operate in accardance with our Tax Strategy, which can be found at: www.vpple.com/responsible-business

In 2022 /23 the Group paid £5.5 million {2022: £6.3 million) in corporate taxes. We are a responsible corporate lax payer and
conduct our affairs 1o ensure compliance with all laws and relevant requlations in the countries in which we operate.

CONTRACTS

There are no disclosures required under 5417 of the Compantes Act in relation to contractual or other arrangements with
customers or suppliers.

PURCHASE OF OWN SHARES

A resolution is 1o be proposed to the Company's shareholders at the AGM to authonse the Company 1o purchase its own shares
up to a maximum of 10% cf the Company’s issued share capital either to be cancelled or retained as treasury shares. This
resclution will be proposed as a special resolution resolution in line with previous years. The maximum and minmum prices
that may be paid for an Ordinary Share in exercise of such powers 1s set out in Resolution 11(b}) and 11(c) of the Notice of
Meeting. The Directers undertake to shareholders that they will only exercise this power after careful censideration, 1aking into
account the finanual resources of the Company, futuse funding opportunities and the price of the Company’s shares. The
Directors will not exercise the ability to purchase the Company’s own shares unless to do so would result in an increase in
earnings per share and would be 1n the besl interest of shareholders generally.

During the year ended 31 March 2023 the Company did not acquire any shares under the authority of the resolution passed at
the Annual General Meeting.
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GOING CONCERN

The Group ended the financial year in a healthy financial position. The Group continues to generate strong cash flows. Net debt,
excluding lease liabilities increased by only £3.8 million from £130.6 million at 31 March 2022 to £134.4 million at 31 March
2023. This was after funding an increase in fleel capital investment of £59.9 million. EBITCA before exceptional items and IFRS
16 impact totalled £52.9 million which was 5% higher than prior year of £88.9 million. The Business Review on pages 8 to 14
sets out the Group’s business activities, markets and outlook for the forthcoming year and beyond.

The Group finances Ils operations through a combination of shareholders” funds, bank borrowings, finance leases and operating
leases. The capital structure is moenitored using the gearing ratio of adjusted Net Debt/FBITDA. The Group's funding
requirements are largely driven by capial expenditure and acquisition activity.

As at 31 March 2023 the Group had £183.0 million of debt capacity (2022: £183.0 mullion) comprising commitiad revolving
credit facibties of £90.0 million and £593.0 million private placements which are subject to covenant testing. In addition ta the
committed facilities, the Group net overdraft facility at the year-end was £7.5 million (2022: £7.5 million).

The Board has evaluated the faciliies and covenants on the basis of the budget for 2023/24 (including 2024/25 long term
forecast). All of which has been prepared taking into account the current economic climate, tlogether with appropriate sensitivity
analysis. Stress scenanas have also been considered by the Board Under these scenarios material revenue reductions have
been applied for the financial year ended 31 March 2024 against the Group's original budget and extended to 30 September
2024. All scenartos retain adequate headroom against borrowing facilities and fall within the existing covenants.

Our most severe downside maodelling, which reflects a 15% reduction in revenue levels demonstrates headroom over
borrowing facilities and existing covenant levels throughout the forecast period to the end of September 2024.

The Board recognises that one of the borrowing facilities used by the Group, the RCF of £20.0 million, drawn to £53m at the
balance sheet date, expires in June 2024. The Board has already held positive prelirminary conversations with its lenders and
has considered the availability and likelihood of securing replacement facilities on or before the date of expiry as part of their
consideration gnd testing above. Although no facility has been formelly agreed at the date of approval of these financial
statements, the Board considers it appropriate to continue to assume this facility will be renewed or replaced. However,
recognises that as the Group's (and, inter alia, the Parent company’s} committed financing facilities do not extend over the full
going concern review penod and renewal or replacement 1s subject to future agreement with tenders. Therefore, tne Board is
unable to be cerlain thal the required levels of financing will be available throughout the geing concern assessment pericd to
enable the Group to meet its lisbilities as they fall due. These conditions indicate the existence of @ matenal uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s and the Parent company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Notwathstanding the above, the Board has a reasonable expectation that the Group and Parent company has adequate
resources to continue In operational existence for at least the next 12 months from the date of approval of these financial
statements, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operation for
the foreseeable future. For this reasen the going concern basis has been adopted in preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. This 1s covered further in Note 1 Basis of Preparation on page 90, together with the Directors’ consideration of the
impact of the renewal of the Group’s boarrowing facilities

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Corparate Governance Statement on pages 44 to 47 forms part of the Directors’ Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

In accordance with Section 489 ot the Companies Act 2006, 2 resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCocpers LLP
as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

Anna Bielby
Company Secretary
6 June 2023
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
in respect of the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Accounts and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have
prepared the Group and the company financial slatements in accardance with UK-adopted international accounting standards.

Under company law, Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and company and of the profit or loss ¢f the Group for that period. In preparing the
financial statements, the Directors are required to:

# select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

e state whether applicable Uk-adopted international accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

¢ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonatle and prudent; and

e prepare the financial statements on the geing concern basis unless 1t 15 inappropriale to presume that the Group and
company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for safeguarding the assels of the Group and company and hence for taking reasonable steps for

the prevention and detection of fraud and other irreqularities.

The Birectors are also responsible for keeping adequate acceunting records that are sufficient te show and explain the Group's
and company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the finanoial position of the Group and company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors” Remuneration Report comply with the Companies
Act 2006.

The Directors are respansible for the maintenance and integrity of the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ confirmations

The Directors consider that the Annual Report and Accounts and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable

and provides the infarmation necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s and company's position and performance,

business model and strategy.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in governance section of the annual report confirm that, to the

best of their knowledge:

e the Group and company financal statements, which have been prepared in accordance with Uk-adopted international
accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group and company,
and of the profit of the Group; and

e the Business Review and Financial Review includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and
the posilion of the Group and company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

In the case of each Diractor in office at the date the Directors’ report is approved:

e 5o far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s and company’s auditors are
unaware; and

* ihey have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Cirector in order to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Group's and company's auditors are aware of that information.
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Vp ple

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Vp plc's group financial statements and parent company financial statements (the “financial statements™):

= give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 2023 and of
the group's profit and the group’s and parent company’s cash flows for the year then ended;

* have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

» have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Accounts {the “Annual Report™}, which
comprise: the consolidated and parent company balance sheets as at 31 March 2023; the consolidated income
statement, the congolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated and parent company statements of
changes in equity and the consolidated and parent company statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and the
notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting poiicies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)") and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under 1SAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate o
provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed public interest entities,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were
not provided.

Other than those disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the parent
company or its controlled undertakings in the period under audit.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

in forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the
disclosure made in note 1 to the financial statements concemning the group’s and the parent company's ability to continue
as a going concern. The group’s financing facilities include a revolving credit facility {{RCF") of £90m, drawn to £53m at
the balance sheet date, with a renewal date in June 2024 which is within the going concem assessment period. At the
date of this report the Board is in the early stages of discussions with its lenders regarding a refinancing of the RCF and
the group does not currently have alternative scurces of committed financing that would replace the RCF at the date of
renewal. Therefore, in their considerations of the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements of the group and parent company, the directors are unable to be certain that the required levels of
financing will be available throughout the going concern assessment period to enable the group to meet its liabilities as
they fall due. These conditions, along with the other matters explained in note 1 to the financial statements, indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the group's and the parent company's ability
to continue as a going concem. The financial statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the group and
the parent company were unable to continue as a going concern,
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Vp plC (continued)

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

yoday nbajens

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group's and the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting included:

= Obtaining management’s latest forecasts that, on the basis of a successful extension or refinancing of the group’s
financing facilities as referred to above, support the Board's assessment and conclusions with respect to the going
concern basis of preparation of the financial statements;

*  Checking the mathematical accuracy of management's forecasts;

- Considering the outtumn of previous forecasts to assess management's forecasting accuracy;

«  Corroborating management's base case forecast to appropriate supporting docurnentation including board approved
budgets and divisional budgets; and.

« Ewvaluating management's base case forecast and downside scenarios, challenging the underlying data and adequacy
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and appropriateness of the assumptions used in making their assessment. We also evaluated the directors’ plans for §
future actions in relation to their going concem assessment, should these be required. g8
In relation to the directors’ reporting on how they have applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, other than the 'g
material uncertainty identified in note 1 to the financial statements, we have nothing material to add or draw attention to 3
in relation to the directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the directors considered it appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting, or in respect of the directors’ identification in the financial statements of any
other material uncertainties to the group's and the parent company's ability to continue to do so over a period of at least @
twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements. o
=
S
Qur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant %
sections of this report. S
5
Our audit approach g
Overview
Audit scope

+ The group is organised into 12 reporting units. The group financial statements are a consclidation of these reporting units.

«  Of the 12 reporting units, we identified three which, in our view, required an audit of their complete financial information.

«  Audil procedures were also performed over certain financial statement line items within two further reporting units.

+  The reporting units over which we performed audit procedures accounted for over 78% of the group’s reported revenues
and over 76% of the group's profit before tax, amortisation, impairment of intangible assets and exceptional items. These
coverages are based on absolute values.

Key audit matters

= Material uncertainty related to going concern

= Existence of fleeted rental equipment (group and parent)

= Valuation of rental equipment {group and parent)

Materiality

»  Owerall group materiality: £2,000,000 (2022: £1,945,000) based cn 5% of profit before tax, amortisation, impairment
of intangible assets and exceptional itermns.

«  Overall parent company materiality: £3,000,000 (2022: £3,000,000) based on 1% of total assets.
= Performance materiality: £1,500,000 (2022: £1,459,000) (group) and £2,250,000 (2022: £2,250,000) (parent company).
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Vp plC (continucd)

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
staternents.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
{whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and
any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming cur opinion therecn, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

In addition to going concem, described in the material uncertainty related to going concern section above, we determined
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. This is not a compiete list of
all tisks identified by our audit.

Material uncertainty related to going concem in relation to the availability of committed financing is a new key audit matter
this year. Material uncertainty related to going concemn in relation to a formal sale process and carrying value of goodwill
and intangible assets, which were key audit matters last year, are no longer included because of the cessation of the
formal sale process in August 2022 and as a result of the headroom in management's goodwill impairment model as well
as performance of the group. Otherwise, the key audit matters below are consistent with last year,

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Eoxrates e 0F el 1onited equapiienl ((rody 0o 1parent)

Refer to page 50 (Significant accounting issues}, page 96
(Significant accounting policies) and note 9 in the financial

Our audit work in respect of the existence of fleeted assets
included understanding and evaluating management's key

statements.

We focused on this area because the group and parent
company hold a significant quantum and carrying amount
of rental equipment in the normal course of business, held
within property, plant and equipment. The net book value of
rental equipment was £220.6 million and £100.9 million as
at 31 March 2023 (2022: £216.6 million and £97.6 million)
for the group and parent company respectively.

Given the volume of assets and the frequency of
movement (through purchases, hires and sales) there is
the potential for assets fo go missing. This results in
complexity in maintaining an accurate fixed asset register.

We consider the significant risk to be focused on the
fleeted (typically higher value and itemised assets with a
unique serial identifier} given the individual value of these
items and proportion that these make up cf the overall
rental equipment balance,

controls in this area, confirming the correct recording of
fieeted assets movements on the fixed asset register on a
sample basis and substantively testing the existence of a
sample of assets.

For a sample of fleeted asset purchases in the year we
agreed to invoice and capitalisation onto the fixed asset
register, confirming the value and the appropriateness of
capitalisation. We agreed the existence of a sample of
fleeted assets out on hire at the year end to rental invoice
and cash receipt or despatch note. We attended a sample
of year end fleeted asset counts and:

+ considered the design and implementation of count
controls by understanding and observing the count
procedures;

* counted a sample of assets and reconciled these to both
management’s count and the fixed asset register; and

« tested the movements of these assets between the
inspection and year end date in order to confirm their
existence at 31 March 2023,

We found, based on the results of our testing, that the
amounts recorded, and disclosures made in the financial
statements were consistent with the supporting evidence
obtained.
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Vp plc (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

‘aivation of renial cgeapinent {group and pareat)
Refer to page 50 (Significant accounting issues), page 96
{Significant accounting policies) and note 9 in the financial
statements.

We focused on this area because there is significant
management judgement involved in estimating the useful
economic lives, residual values and any impairment of the
rental equipment.

The utilisation of rental equipment is key to supporting its
valuation, so if there were a downturn in the trading
performance in a particular market or asset class, this
would present an inherent impairment risk. In addition,
variations between forecast and actual useful economic
lives and/for residual values could result in higher or lower
carrying values than may be considered appropriate.

Qur audit work in respect of the valuation of rental
equipment comprised an assessment of the accuracy of
estimates made by management in previous years, testing
of utilisation statistics, integrity checks over the underlying
rental equipment data and budgeted trading performance
to determine the appropriateness of management's
estimates,

We considered, on a sample basis, the period over which
each asset product type would recover its camying value,
using discounted expected future cash flows, and
compared that period with the average remaining useful
economic life of the asset type.

We tested the appropriateness of the useful economic lives
and estimated residual values applied through

consideration of any profits/losses on disposal of rental
equipment and the level of fully written down assets still
generating revenue, noting no evidence of systematic over
or under depreciation of the assets,

We found, based on the results of cur testing, that the
amounts recorded, and disclosures made in the financial
statements were consistent with the supporting evidence
obtained.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able te give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group and the parent company, the accounting processes
and controls, and the industry in which they operate.

The group’s accounting process is structured around a group finance function at its head office in Harrogate which is
responsibie for the group's reporting units. The group is crganised into 12 reporting units and the group financial
statements are a consolidation of these reporting units. Of the 12 reporting units, we identified three which, in our view,
required an audit of their complete financial information. The reporting units over which we performed audit procedures
accounted for over 78% of the group’s revenues and over 76% of the group’s profit before tax, amertisation, impairment
of intangible assets and exceptional items (caiculated on an absoiute value basis).

All of the audit procedures have been performed by the group engagement team. In addition, the group audit team
periormed analytical review procedures over a number of smalier reporting units. This included an analysis of year on year
movements, at a level of disaggregation to enable a focus on higher risk balances and unusual movements. This gave us
the evidence we needed for ocur opinion on the financial statements as a whole.

The impact of climate risk on our audit

As part of our audit we made enquires of management to understand the extent of the potential impact of climate risk on
the group's and parent company's financial siatements, and we remained alert when performing our audit procedures for
any indicators of the impact of clirmate risk. In particular we considered the nature and useful economic lives of the group's
and parent company's renta! equipment and the potential impact on the group of maintainingfreplacing these assets in
line with climate targets. Our procedures did not identify any material impact as a result of climate risk on the group’s and
parent company’s financial statements.
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Vp plc (continued)

Materiality

The scope of cur audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain guantitative thresholds for
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature,
timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating

the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Financial statements - group

Financial statements - parent company

Lverar
THANORICHT Y

£2,000,000 {2022: £1,945,000).

£3,000,000 (2022: £3,000,000).

Hevar wei
et it

5% of profit before tax, amortisation, impairment
of intangible assets and exceptional items

1% of total assets

HNahonagle for
Lasctiaagan

HISTEREE

We have chosen this as our benchmark as itis a
key performance measure disclosed to users of
the financial statements. This figure takes
prominence in the Annual Report, as well as the
comrmunications to both the shareholders and the
market. The benchmark is consistent with the prior

We have used an asset based measure for the
parent company, which is a generally accepted
auditing benchmark. Where applicable, we have
performed our testing to a lower, group allocated,
materiality for individual balances that contribute to
the consolidated group results.

year.

For each component in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall group
materiality. The range of materiality allocated across components was between £316,000 and £1,699,000. Certain
components were audited tc a focal statutory audit materiality that was aiso less than our overall group materiality.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected
and undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the
scope of our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures,
for example in determining sample sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% (2022: 75%) of overall materiality,
amounting to £1,500,000 (2022: £1.459,000) for the group financial statements and £2,250,000 (2022: £2,250,000) for
the parent company financiai statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk
assessment and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of
our normal range was appropriate.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above

£100,000 (group audit) (2022; £85,000) and £150,000 (parent company audit) (2022: £95,000) as well as misstatements
helow those amounts that, in our view, warranted repoerting for qualitative reasons.
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Vp plC (continued)

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

in connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in deing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conciude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us aiso to report certain
opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors' report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and
Directors' report for the year ended 31 March 2023 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and parent company and their environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' report.

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opinion, the part of the Annual report on remuneration to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 2006.

Corporate governance statement

The Listing Rules require us to review the directors’ statements in relation to going concermn, longer-term viability and that
part of the corporate governance statement relating to the parent company's compliance with the provisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code specified for our review. Our additional responsibilities with respect to the corporate
governance statement as other information are described in the Reporting on other informatian section of this report.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the corporate
governance statement is materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit,
and, except for the matters reported in the section headed ‘Material uncertainty related to going concern’, we have nothing
material to add or draw attention to in relation to:

- The directors’ confirmation that they have carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks;

+  The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those principal risks, what procedures are in place to identify
emerging risks and an explanation of how these are being managed or mitigated;

+ The directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether they considered it appropriate to adopt the going
concemn basis of accounting in preparing them, and their identification of any material uncertainties to the group’s and
parent company’s ability to continue to do so over a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the
financial statements;
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Vp ple (continued)

= The directors' explanation as to their assessment of the group's and parent company's prospects, the pericd this
assessment covers and why the period is appropriate; and

« The directors' statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the parent company will be able to
continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of its assessment, including any related
disclosures drawing atiention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

Our review of the directors’ statement regarding the longer-termn viability of the group and parent company was
substantially less in scope than an audit and only consisted of making inquiries and considering the directors’ process
supporting their statement; checking that the statement is in alignment with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code; and considering whether the statement is consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge
and understanding of the group and parent company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit.

In addition, based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of
the corporate governance statement is materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained
during the audit:

« The directors’ statement that they consider the Annual Report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable,
and provides the information necessary for the members to assess the group's and parent company's position,
performance, business model and strategy;

« The section of the Annual Report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and intemal control
systems; and

+« The section of the Annual Report describing the work of the Audit Committee.

We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to report when the directors’ statement relating to the parent
company’s compliance with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a relevant provision of the Code
specified under the Listing Rules for review by the auditors.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements, the directors
are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK} will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Vp plC (continued)

Iregularities, inciuding fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks ot non-compliance with laws
and regulations related to the Listing Rules and health and safety legislation, and we considered the extent to which non-
compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that
have a direct impact on the financial statements such as UK tax legisiation and the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated
management’s jncentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements {including the risk of
override of contrels), and determined that the principal risks were related to management bias in key accounting estimates
and posting of inappropriate journal entries to improve the group's result for the period. Audit procedures performed by
the engagement team included:

+ Discussions with management, including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-comgpliance with laws
and regulation and fraud;

+ Challenging assumpticns and judgerments made by management in their significant accounting estimates, particularly
in relation to the valuation of assets;

+ Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account combinations.
Specifically we tested journal entries which increased the group result for the period with unusual offset entries, and
we tested a risk based sample of journal entries impacting revenue with unusual offset entries to detect any potentiaily
fraudulent revenue being recognised; and

+ Review of the financial statement disclosures and agreeing to underlying supporting documentation, review of
correspondence with regulators and review of correspondence with legal advisors.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the
financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatermment due to fraud is higher than the risk of not
detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations, or through collusion.

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data
auditing technigues. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than testing
compiete populations. We will often seek to target particular iterns for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In
other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a cenclusion about the population from which the sample is
selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the parent company’s members as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these
opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or
intc whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Vp plC (continued)

Other required reporting,

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in cur opinion:

+ we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

+ adequate accounting records have nct been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

+ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

» the parent company financial statements and the part of the Annual report on remuneration to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the members on 15 October 2014 to audit
the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2015 and subsequent financial pericds. The period of total
uninterrupted engagement is 9 years, covering the years ended 31 March 2015 to 31 March 2023.

Other matter

In due course, as required by the Financial Conduct Authority Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rule 4.1.14R,
these financial statements will form part of the ESEF-prepared annual financial report filed on the National Storage
Mechanism of the Financial Conduct Authority in accordance with the ESEF Regulatory Technical Standard (ESEF RTS').
This auditors’ report provides no assurance over whether the annual financial report will be prepared using the single
electronic format specified in the ESEF RTS.

Tom Yeates {Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Leeds

6 June 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the Year Ended 31 March 2023

Restated”
2023 2022
Note £000 £000
Revenue 2 371,519 350,915 v
=
Cost of sales (284,176) (261,876) 8
e - pavl
=
E
Gross profit 87,343 89,039
Administiative expenses (44,763} {43,968)
Impairment lasses on trade recervables (3,305) (2,074}
g
Operating profit before amortisation, =
. - N . a o
impairment of intangible assets and exceptional items pJ 48,775 46,299 2
Amaortisation and impairment of intangible assets 10 {4.490) (3,302)
Exceptional items 4 (5,010) -
é‘.
=2
Operating profit 3 39,275 42,997 <
wn
Nel financial expense 7 (8,569) (7.353) =
2
Profit before taxation, amortisation, 2
impairment of intangible assets and exceptional items 40,206 38,946
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 10 (4,490} (3,302) g
m
=
Exceptional items 4 (5,010) - %
=
g
. 3
Profit before taxation 30,706 35,644 =
[=]
=]
Income tax expense 8 (7,696) (10,109)
Profit after tax 23,010 25,535
Basic earnings per share 22 58.05p $4.49p
Diluted eamings per share 22 57.76p 63.83p
Dividend per share intenm paid 21 11.0p 10.5p
Dividend per share final paid 21 25.5p 25.0p

In accordance with (ASI, impairment losses on trade receivables are required to be presented separately on the face of the Income
Staternent Previously such losses were presented within Cost of Sales This has been corrected in the current year and the comparatives
restated accordingly.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the Year Ended 31 March 2023

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/(expense):

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements of defined benefit pension schemes
Tax on iems laken to ather comprehensive income

Impact of tax rate change

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Foreign exchange translation difference
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges

Jotal other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year

2023 2022
Note £000 £000
23,010 25,535

25 (319) 693
8 5 (183)

3 58 110
502 361

- 227

246 1,202

23,256 16,737

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for the Year Ended 31 March 2023

Capital Foreign Non-
Share Redemption Share Hedging Currency  Retained controlling Total
Capital Reserve Premium Reserve Translation  Earnings Interest Fquity
Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 April 2021 2,008 301 16,192 {221) {1,386) 136,196 27 153,117
Total comprehensive income - - 221 366 26,150 - 26,737
for the year
Tax movements {0 equity i3 - - - - 90 - %0
Impact of 1ax rate change 8 - - - - (11} (11
Share option charge in the year - - - - 1,249 1,249
Net movernent relating to - - - - (516) (516)
shares held by vp Employee Trust
pMovement in mingrity interest - - - - - (27} Z7n
Dividend to shareholders 27 - - - - - (14,054) - (14,054)
Total change in equity dunng the year - - - 221 366 12,908 (27) 13,468
At 31 March 2022 2,008 301 16,192 - {1,020) 149,104 - 166,585
and 1 April 2022
Total comprehensive income - - - 502 22,754 23,256
for the year
Tax movermnents to equity 8 - - - - - 62 - 62
Impact of tax rate change 8 - - - - - 16 - 16
share option charge 1n the year - - - - - 580 - 580
Net moevement relating to - - - - {1,096) - (1,096)
shares held by vp Employee Trust
Dividend 1o shareholders 21 - - - - - (14,471) - (14,47
Total change in equity dunng the year - - - - 502 7,845 - 8,347
As at 31 March 2023 2,008 301 16,192 - {518) 156,949 - 174,932
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
at 31 March 2023

2023 2022

NET ASSETS Note £000 £000
Non-current assets -
Property, plant and equipment 9 252,385 247,526 g
Intangible assels 10 57,748 62,422 ko
Right of use assets 11 54,637 54,151 g
Employee benefits 25 2,300 2,738 =
Total non-current assets 367,070 366,837
Current assets
Inventories 13 8,915 7,956
Trade and other recewvables 14 81,513 76,057 g
Income tax receivable 736 - %
Cash and cash equivalents 15 11,140 13,617 2
Total current assets 102,304 97,630
Total assets 469,374 464,467
Current liabilities -
Lease liabilities 1 (14,622) {14,147) g
Income tax payable - {152) &
Trade ang other payables 18 (72,184) (80,676) g
Total current liabilities (86,806) (94,975) 3

- 2
Non-current liabilities ”
Interest-bearing leans and borrowings 16 (145,508) (144,227)
Lease liabilities 11 (43,896) (43,496) =z
Provistons (1,612) (1,512) g
Deferred tax habilities 19 (16,620) (13,678) =
Total non-current liabilities {207,636) {202,907) é
Total liabilities {294,442) (297,882) é
Net assets 174,932 166,585 g
EQUITY
issued share capital 20 2,008 2,008
Capital redemption reserve 301 301
Share premum 16,192 16,192
Fareign currency translation reserve (518) {1,020)
Retained earnings 156,949 149,104
Total equity 174,932 166,585

The financial statements an pages 82 to 127 were approved and authonsed for 1ssue by
the Board of Cirectars an 6 June 2023 and were signed on its behalf by

Jeremy Pilkington Anna Bielby
Chairman Director

Company number. 481833
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the Year Ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022

Note £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation 30,706 35,644
Adjustments for:
Share based payment charges 580 1,249
Depreciation 9 46,853 45,532
Depreciation of right of use assets 11 16,305 16,561
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 10 4,490 3,302
Release of arrangement fees 287 314
Financial expense 8,601 7,355
Financial income (32) (2)
Profit on sale of praperty, plant and equipment (9,174) {7,045)
Operating cash flow before changes in 98,616 102,910
working capital and provisions
Increase in inventories (959) (614)
Increase n trade and other receivables (5,452) {9,133}
Decrease in trade and other payables (11,979) (2,781)
Cash generated from operations 80,226 90,382
Interest paid (5,413) (4,456)
Interest element of lease fiability payments (3,038) (2,940}
Interest received 32 2
Income taxes paid (5,496) (6,282}
Net cash generated from operating activities 66,311 76,706
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 24,855 17,819
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (63,312) {68,679)
Acquisition of businesses and subsidianies {net of cash acquired) 26 - (2,693)
Net cash used in investing activities (38,457) (53,553)
Cash flows from financing activities
Purchase of own shares by Employee Trust (1,096) (516}
Repayment of barrowings (29,000) (95,044)
Drawdown of borrowings 30,000 102,044
Arrangement fees - (773)
Capital efement of lease liability payments {15,921) (17,149)
Dividends paid 21 (14,471) {14,054)
Net cash used in financing activities (30,488) (25,492)
Nel decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,634) (2,339}
Eftect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 157 39
Cash and cash equivalents net of overdratts as at the beqinming of the year 13,617 15,917
Cash and cash equivalents net of overdrafts as 15 11,140 13,617

at the end of the year
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Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the Year Ended 31 March 2023

Capital

share Redemption Share Hedging HiveUp Retained Total 2

Capital Reserve  Premium Reserve Reserve  Earnings Equity E

Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 i

T

At 1 April 2021 2,008 301 16,192 {(221) 8,156 16,274 42,710 §
Total comprehensive income - - - 221 - 17,109 17,330

for the year

Tax movements to equity - - - - - 90 90
Impact of tax rate change - - - - - (11 (1)

Share option charge in the year - - - - - 1,249 1,249 é‘

[4%]

Net movemnent relaling to - - - - - (516) (516) 3

shares held by Vp Employee Trust 2
Dividend to shareholders 21 - - - - - (14,054) (14,054}
Total change in equity during the year - - - 221 - 3,867 4,088

=

At 31 March 2022 2,008 301 16,192 - 8,156 20,141 46,798 é

and 1 April 2022 g

Total comprehensive income - - - - - 17,688 17,688 z

for the year g

Tax movements 1o equity - - - - - 62 62 2
Impact of tax rate change - - - - - 16 16
Share option charge n the year - - - - - 580 580

Net movement relating tc - - - - - 1,096 {1,096) =

shares held by Vp Emplovee Trusl gy

Dividend to shareholders 2 - - - - - 14,471y (14,471) &

=

=

g

At 31 March 2023 2,008 301 16,192 - 8,156 22,920 49,577 =

o
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Parent Company Balance Sheet

at 31 March 2023

NET ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Investments 1n subsidiaries
Right of use assets

Employee benefits

Trade and other recevables
Total non-current assets

Current assets

inventaries

Trade and other receivabiles
Income tax recevable

Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets

Current liabilities
Lease habilities

Trade and other payables
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Deferred tax hatylities

Pravisions

Lease labilities

Trade and other payables

Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Capital and reserves
Issued share capital

Capial redemprion reserve
Share premium

Hive up reserve

Retained earnings

Al the beginning of the year

Profit for the financial year

Gther changes in retained earnings
Al the end of the year

Total equity

Note

10
12
17
25
14

13
14

15

11
18

16
19

11
18

20

2023 2022
£000 £000
118,308 114,327
7,674 9,188
68,775 68,775
11,407 13,361
2,135 3,068
61,716 55,659
270,015 264,418
2,272 1,893
28,363 26,141
468 342
1,832 2,537
32,935 30913
302,950 295331
(3,579) {4,004)
(64,581) (65,493}
(68,160) (69,497)
(145,508} {144,221)
(14,439) (12,813}
(54) -
(8,237) (9.754)
(16,975) (12,248}
(185,213) (179,036)
(253,373) (248,533)
" 49,577 46,798
2,008 2,008
301 301
16,192 16,192
8,156 8,156
20,141 16,274
18,294 16,597
(15,515) (12,730)
22,920 20,141
49,577 46,798

The financial staterments on pages 82 to 127 were approved and authonsed for 1ssue by
the Board of Directors on 6 June 2023 and were signed on 1ts behalf by

Jeremy Pilkington
Charrman

Company number: 481833
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Parent Company Statement of Cash Flows
for the Year Ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
Note £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities el
Profil before taxation 21,906 21,730 5
Adjustments for %
Share based payment charges 580 1,249 -§
Depreciation 9 14,093 13,641
Nepreciation of nght of use assets 11 4,863 4,956
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 10 1,514 359
Release of arrangement fees 287 314
Financial expense 4,615 3,963 g
Financial income (10} m g
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (2,416) {(1,715) -
Operating cash flow before changes in 45,432 44,496
working capital and provisions
(Increase) /decrease In Inventories (379) 365 -
Increase 1 irade and other receivables (3,384) (13,849) é
Increase in frade and other payables {380) 1,596 ;-‘_,
Cash generated from operations 41,289 32,602 s
Interest paigd (5,413) (4,456) g
Interest element af lease liabihty payments (712) (644) §.
Interest receved 10 1
Income taxes paid (1,684) (1,840} -
Net cash generated from operating activities 33,490 25,663 %:
=
Cash flows from investing activities =
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 8,956 6,252 g
purchase of praperty, plant and equipment (23,733) (20,887) =
Net cash used in investing activities (14,777) {(14,635) N
Cash flow from financing activities
Purchase of own shares by Employee Trust (1,096) (516}
Repayment of borrowings {29,000) (95,044)
Drawdown of borrowings 30,000 102,044
Arrangement fees - {773)
Capital element of lease fiability payments {4,851) (5,260)
Dwvidends paid 21 (14,471) (14,054)
Net cash used in financing activities {19,418) (13,603)
Nel decrease n cash and cash eguivalents {705) (2.575)
Cash and cash equivalents net of overdrafts as at the beginning of the year 2,537 5,112
Cash and cash equivalents net of overdraft as 15 1,832 2,537

at the end of the year
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Notes

{forming part of the financial statements)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

Vp plc 1s a public limited company (imited by shares) which 1s listed on the London Stock Exchange and incorporaled and domiciled in
the United Kingdom These consolidated Finanaial Statements of Vp plc for the year ended 31 March 2023, consolidate those of the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group™). The Parent company’s Financial Statements present information about
the Company as a separate entity and nol aboul the Group.

Basis of preparation

The cansolidated financial statements of the Group and the Parent company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-
adopted International Accounting Standards and with the requirements of the {ompanies Act 2006 as apphcable to compantes reporting under
those standards

Ihe Financial Statements are presented in sterling, reunded 10 the nearest thousand They are prepared on a going concern basis (lurther details
are provided in the Directors’ Report) and historic cost basis except that dervative finanaial instruments and cash settled share options are stated
at fair value.

Going concern
The going concern basis has been adapted n preparation of the consolidated financial statements. The Board has evaluated funding, facilities
and covenants on the basis of the budget for 2023/24 (ncluding 2024/25 long lerm ferecast) and has performed sensilivity analysis on them

The Group and Parent company torecast positive cash inflows through a pipeline of existing and new hire agreements and other services; the
Group and Parent company also have sufficient finance faciities available if required, subject to the successful repewal of the revolving credit
facility (CRCFY The assessment included an analysis of the Group's and Parent cormpany's current financial position, ability to trade, principal nsks
facing the Group, and the effectiveness of its strategies to mitigate the impact of liquidity risks On the basis of these procedures, the Board has
a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future

In making this assessment the Board recognises that ane of the borrowing facilities used by the Group, the RCF of £90.0 million, drawn Lo £53m
at the balance sheet date, expires in June 2024. The Board has already held pasitive preliminary conversations with its lenders and has
considered the availability and likelihood of securing replacement facilities on or betore the date of expiry as part of their consideration and
testing above Although no facility has been formally agreed at the date ot approval of these hinancial statemnents, the Board considers 1t
appropriate to continue to assume this facility will be renewed or replaced. However, 1t recognises that as the Group's (and, inter alig, the Parent
company’s) committed financing facilties do nat extend over the full gaing concern review perod and renewal or replacement 1s subject to
future agreement with lenders Therefore, the Board 15 unable to be certain that the required levels of financing will be available throughout
the going concern assessment penod to enable the Group to meet its habilities as they fall due. These conditions indicate the existence of a
matenal uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s and the Parent company's ability to continue & a going concem.

Notwithstanding the abave, the Board has a reasonable expectation that the Group and Parent company has adequale resources to continue in
aperational existence fer at least the next 12 months from the date of approval of these finanoal statements. The financal stalements do not
include the adjustments that would result if the Group and Parent company were unable to continue as a going concem.
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Notes

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Accounting policies

The Group's and Company’s accounting policies are set out below and the accounting policies have been apphed consistently to all periods
presented in these consolidated Financial Statements There were no changes to IFRSs or IFRSIC interpretations that have had a matena|
impact on the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023

Future standards
Cerlain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 March 2023 reporting period
and have not been early adopted by the Group. These standards are not expected to have a matenal impact on the entity in the current
or future reporting peneds and on foreseeable fulure transactions. These standards are as follows:

a IFRS 17 Insirance Cantracts’

s amendments to 1AS 12 ‘Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Anising from 2 Single Transaction’

e amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ on ¢lassification of liabilities as current or nen-current

« amendments to IAS 8 "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’

e amendments to 1AS 1 and IFRS Practice Stalement 2 - making materiality judgements.

Basis of consolidation

subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financial and operating policies of an enlity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing contrel, potential voting nghts that
presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The Financial Statements of subsidiaries are included in the consalidated
Financial Statements from the date that control commences vntil the date that control ceases

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are staled at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Certain items of property, plant and equipment that had been revalued to fair value on or prior to 1 Apnil 2004, Lhe date of transition to
adopted IFRSs, are measured on the basis of deermed cost, being the revalued amount at the date of that revaluation, as permitled by
the exemiption in FRS 1.

Assets acquired via acguisitions are recorded In the accounting records at fair value.

Depreciation is provided by the Group to write off the cost or deemed cost less estimated residual value (where appropriate) of tangible
fixed assets using the following annual rates.

Land and Buildings - Freehald buildings - 2% straight line

Land and Buildings - Leasehold improvements - Term of lease

Rental equipment - 7% - 33% straight line depending on asset type
Motor vehicles - 20% - 33% straight hne

Other - Computers - 10% - 33% strarght line

Other - Fixtures, fittings and other equipment - 10% - 20% straight line

Estimates of residual values are reviewed at least annually and adjustments made as appropriate. Any profit generated on dispasal 1s
credited to cost of sales. No depreciation (s provided on freehold fand.
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Notes

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued}

Business combinations and goodwill
For acquisiions an or after 1 April 2010, the Group measures goodwili a1 the acquistion date as:

s The fair value of the consideration transfersed, plus

& The recogrised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, plus

« The farr value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less

» The nel recegnised amount (generaily {air value) of the 1dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Costs related to the acquisition are expensed to the income statement as incurred.

In respect of acquisttions between 1 Apnl 2004 and 1 April 2010, goodwill represents the difference between the cost of the acquisitians
and the fair value of identifiable net assets and conungent habilities acquired. Costs related to the acquisition were capialised as part of
the cost of the acquisition

Goodwill 15 stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses and 15 included on the balance sheet as an intangible asset It s
allocated to cash generating units and 1s not amortised, bul tested annually for.

The Group has chosen nol 1o reslate business combinations prior to 1 April 2004 on an IFRS basis as permitted by IFRS 1 Goodwill 1s
included on the basis of deemed cost for the transactions which represent its carrying value at the dale of transition to adopted IFRSs.

Other intangible assets

intangible assets other than goodwill that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accurnulated amortisation and impairment
lasses. Amortisation is included within cost of sales within the (ncome Statement. The rate of amartisation attempts to write-off the cast
of the intangible asset over its esumated useful ife using the following rates

Customer relationships ~ upto 10 years

Supply agreements - the initial term of the agreement

Trade names - over the eslimated initial peniod of usage, narmally 10 years
Impairment

The carrying amounts of non hnancial assels are reviewed at each balance sheel date to determine whether there is any indication of
imparment if any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount 15 estimated. An impaireent loss is recognised whenever the
carrying amount of an assel of its cash-generating unit (CGU) exceeds its recaverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised through
the Income Statement For goodwill and assets that have an indefinite useful life the recoverable amaunt Is tested at each balance sheet
date. Recoverable amount of a (GU s determined erther by reference to discounted forecast cash flows from the cash generating unit or
an estimate of its fair value less costs of disposal, whichever 1s higher. A CGU 15 defined as the smallest identifiable group of assets that
generates largely independent cash inflows

Investments
In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less imparrment

Dividends received and recevable are credited to the Company’s Income Statement to the extent that the Company has the nght to
receive payment

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Net realisable vaiue 15 the estimated selling price in the crdinary
course af business, less the eslimated costs of completon and selling expenses. Far slaw-moving or obselete items, where net realisable
value 1s lower than cost, necessary provision 1s made

Raw matenals and consumables is held primarily for the repair and maintenance of fleet assets. Goods for resale is inventory held for
sale to customers. The basis of expensing stock 15 on a first-ini first-out basis.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are stated at their due amounts less impairment losses The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplihed approach to
measuring expecled credit losses which uses a lifetime expected lass allowance for all trade receivables Trade recevables are written
off when there 15 no reasonable expectation of recovery. The loss allowance for trade recervables are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected loss rates The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as wefl as forward locking estimates at the end of each reporting penod.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group's cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the Staternent of
Cash Flows The Group has a legal nght and an intentien to setlle these balances net
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Notes

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Financial assels and liabilties are recognised on the balance sheet when the Group becomes party to the contractual provision of the

instrument. Interest bearing bofrowings are recognised intially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest bearing borrowings w

are stated at amertised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised In the Income Statemnent over the 2

peniods of the borrowings on an effective interest basis =
£

Taxation E

The charge for taxation 15 based on the results for the year and takes into account full provision for deferred taxation due to temporary

differences.

Deferred tax 1s provided using the balance sheet liability method to provide for temporary ditferences between the carrying amounts of

assets and habilities for financial reporting purposes @nd the amounts used for taxation purposes The amount of deferred tax provided

is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and habilities, using tax rates enacted or o

substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 5
o

A delerred tax asset 15 recogmised only to the extent that it 1s probabie that future taxable profits will be available against which the %

asset can be utilised. Deferred 1ax assets are reduced o the extent that it 1s no lenger probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised Delerred tax assels and liabilities are not discounted and are offset where amounts will be settied on a net basis as a resull of
a legally enforceable night.

Current tax 15 the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using rates enacted at the balance sheet date, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of prior years. A tax provision is recognised where there is 3 probable requiremnent (o settle, in the
future, an obligation based on a past event.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are recognised Initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

=
=
=
=
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Employee benefits - pensions
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense n the income statement as Incurred.

The Groups net abligation in respect of its detined benefit pension plans 1s calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service In the current and prior perods; that benefit 1s discounted to determine its present
value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The liabihty discount rate 15 the yield at the balance sheet date on AA credit
rated bonds that have matunty dates approximating to the terms of the Group’s obligations The calculation 1s performed by a qualified
actuary using the projected unil method.

The Group’s net obligation 1s recorded as a balance sheet asset or lisbility and the actuanal gains and losses associated with this balance
sheet item are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as they anse. Actuanal gains and losses occur when actuarial
assumptions differ from those previously envisaged by the actuary or when asset returns ditfer from the habity discount rate.

UONeWIOU| Japjoyalels

An asset for the surplus has been recognised on Lhe basis that it 15 recoverable prior to wind up of the scheme, however the balance
sheet position 1s sensitive to small fluctuations in the assumpticns made

When the benefits of the plan are improved, the proportion of the increased benefit relating to past service by employees 1s recognised
as an expense In the Income Statement at the earler of the date when a plan amendment or curtallment occurs and the date when an
entity recognises related restructuring costs or termination benefits

Dividend
Dividends are recognised as a lability in the period in which they are approved, however intenm dividends are recognised an a paid basis.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity

Employee trust shares

The Group has an employee trust (the Vp tmployee Trust) for the warehousing of shares in support of awards granted by the Company
under its vanous share oplion schemes. The Group accounts include Lthe assets and related habilities of the vp Employee Trust. In both
the Group and Parent company accounts the shares in the Group held by the employee trust are treated as treasury shares, are held at
cost, and presented in the balance sheet as a deduction from retained earmings. The shares are ignored for the purpose of calculating
the Group's earnings per share.

Treasury shares

when share capilal recognised as equity 15 repurchased and classified as treasury shares the amount of the consideration paid 1s
recognised as a deducton from equity, When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received 1s recognised as an
increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or defial on the transaction is transferred to/from retained earnings.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Interest rate and exchange rate swaps are only used for economic hedging purposes and not as speculative investments. At inception of
the hedge relationship, the Group documents the economic relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items The Group
documents its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking its hedge transactions. The Group determines the hedge
effectiveness of its interest and exchange rate swaps at the inceptian of the hedge relationship, and through peniedic prospective
effectiveness assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged 1tem and the hedging instrument

Interest rate and exchange rate swaps are accounted for in the balance sheet at fair value and any movement in fair value 1s taken to
the Income Statement, unless the swap Is designated as an eflective hedge of the vanability in cash flows, an “eftective cash flow

hedge”.

Where a denvative financial instrument is designated as an effective cash flow hedge, the effective part of any gan or loss on the
denvative financial instrument 1s recognised directly in equity. If a hedge of a forecasted transaction subsequently results in the
recognition of a financial asset or a financial hability, the associated gains and losses that were recogmised directly in equity are
reclassified into profit or loss in the same period or perieds dunng which the asset acquired or hability assumed affects profit or loss (i e
when interest income or expense 1 recogmised). For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding palicy statement, the
associated cumulative gain or loss (s removed from equity and recognised in the Income Statement in the same penod or periods dunng
which the hedged item affects prefit or loss.

When a hedging mstrument expires or 15 sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge refationship but
lthe hedged forecast transaction 1s stil expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity and 1s recognised in
accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, the
cumulative unrealised gain of loss recognrsed in equity is recognised immediately in the Income Statement.

The fair value of interest rate swaps 15 the estimated amount the Group would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the balance sheet
date, taking into account current and future interest rales and the current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties. The fair value of
the exchange rate swaps 15 the estimated amount the Group would receive ar pay to terminate the swap at the balance sheet date taking
account of current and fulure exchange rates. The carrying value of hedge instruments s presented within other payables or other assets
as appropriate.

Financial guarantee contracts

where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts lo guarantee the indebledness of other companies within its Group, the
company considers these to be insurance arrangements, and accounts for them as such In this respect, the Company treais the quaraniee
contract as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the Company will be required to make a payment under the
guarantee

Revenue

Revenue represents the amounts {excluding value Added Tax) denived from the hire of equipment and the provision of goods and
services to third party customers during the year. Revenue from equipment hire, which is the vast majonty of Group revenues, 15
accounted for under IFRS 16 - Leases. Revenue 15 recognised from the start of hire through to the end of the agreed hire penod
predeminantly on a time apportioned basis. Revenue for services and sales of goods are accounted for under IFRS 15 - Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Revenue from providing services is recognised in the accounting period n which the services are rendered
The majority of services previded are short term and only an immaterial proportion bridge a financial year end. Any Increases or decreases
in estimated revenues or costs arising from changed circumstances are reflected in profit in the penod in which they become known by
managernent Revenue Irom sale of goods primaniy relates to consumables and new machine sales Revenue is recogrised when a
Group entity sells a ¢onsumable to the customer or when contral of the new machine has transferred ownershup to the buyer upon
delivery. Depending on the type of sale, a receivable 1s recogrised when the goods are deliverad or due immediately. As the Group does
not in the course of s ordinary acuwities routinely dispose of equipment held for hire, any sales praceeds are shown as a reduction In
cost of sales. Below summarnises the disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers from the totat revenue disclosed in the
consohdated income statement

2023 2022
UK International Total UK International fotal
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Equipment hire 249,126 26,131 275,257 243,287 23,508 266,795
Services 56,967 8,078 65,045 52,891 5,820 58,711
sales of goods 27,360 3,857 31,217 24,025 1,384 25,409
Tolal revenue 333,453 318,066 371,519 320,203 30,712 350,815
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Notes

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share based payments

The farr value of share optiens 1S charged to the Income Statement based upon therr fair value at the date of grant with a corresponding
increase 1n equity The charge 15 recognised evenly over the vesting period of the options The liabilities for cash settled share based payment
arrangements are measured at far value,

The fair values are calculated using an appropriate option pnang model The Group's approved, unapproved and Save As You Earn (SAYE)
schemes have been valued using the Black-Scholes model and the Income Statement charge 15 adjusted ta reflect the expected number of
options that will vest, based an expecied levels of performance against non-market based conditions and the expected number of employees
leaving the Group The fair values of the Group’s Long Term Incentive Plan {LTIPY and Share Matching scheme are caleulated using a discounted
grant price madel, again adjusted for expected performance against non-market hased conditions and employees leaving the Group

Any cash settled options are valued at their fair value as calculated at each period end, taking account of performance critena and expected
numbers of ernployees leaving the Group and the liability is reflected in the balance sheet within accruals.

The Parent company recharges the subsidiary entities with the fair value of the share opticns relating to the emplayees associated with that entity.

The Group’s results are subject to fluctuations caused by the cash settled share options and national insurance costs on LTIPs and unapproved
share options as these are required to be re-measured at each reporting date based on the Company share price. Changes in the Company’s
share price during the reporting period therefore impact the charge to the Income Statement for cash settled options and national insurance,
including vested but not exercised oplions, as well as unvested options. A movernent of 10 pence In share pnce would impact the charge
to the income Statement by £33,000 (2022: £37,000).

Foreign currencies

Transactions n foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denaminated i fareign currencies are translated using the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the gans or
losses on translation are included in the Income Statemenst. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are stated at fair value are translated
to sterling at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the date the values were determined.

The assets and habilies of foreign operations are translated at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date The revenues
and expenses of foreign operations are transfated at rates approximating to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the date of the
transactions Foreign exchange differences ansing on retranslation are recognised directly in equity.

Leases

The Group holds leases for various properties, equipment and vehictes. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed penods of 1 to 16
years, but may have extension options as described below Lease terms are negatiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions The lease agreements do not iImpose any covenants clher than the secunty interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor Leased assets may not be used as secunty for borrewing purposes

Leases are recognised as a nght of use asset and a corresponding hability at the date at which the leased asset 15 available for use by
the Group, Each lease payment 15 allocated between the hability and finance cost. The finance cost 1s charged to profit over the lease
period The right of use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful Ite and the lease teim on a straight-ine basis

Assets and lhabilities ansing from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabihities include the net present value
of hxed payments less any incentives receivable, vanable lease payments that are based on a speafied index or a rate, the exercise price
of & purchase option «f the Group 15 reasonably certain o exercise that option and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension optians are also
included in the measurement of the liability A separate pravision for onerous leases is therefore no fonger required.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit 0 the lease If that rate cannot be readily determined, which 1s
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental barrowing rate is used. This incremental borrowing rate is the interest
rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary e oblain an asset of similar value over a similar term and with
similar secunity 1o the right of use asset in a similar economic environment To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group,
where possible uses recent third-party financing received by the lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in the financing
conditions since third party financing was receved; adjusts for ¢redit risk as required, and makes adjustments specific to the lease for
example to country, currency and secunity.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and tinance cost. The finance cost 1s charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant penadic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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Notes

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Right-af-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful Iife and the lease term on a straight-tine basis. If the
Group 15 reasonably cerlain to exercise a purchase option, the nght-of-use asset 15 depreciated over the Underlying asset’s useful hfe

where a lease has ended and we have moved to an ongamng rental with the supplier, no rnight of use asset or lease lability 1s recogrised
until a new contract 1s signed Payments associated with short term leases and leases of low value assets are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense In the Consolidated Income Statement. Short term leases are certain leases with 2 lease term ot 12 months or
less. Low value assets comprise certain (T equipment and small items of office equipment

Extension and termination options are included in 3 number of leases across the Group. In determining the lease lerm, management
considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, ar not exercise a termination
optran. Extension options (or percds after termmation options) are anly included i the lease term it the lease is reasonably certain to
be extended (of not terrminated) The assessment is reviewed if a sigrificant event or a significant change 1 arcumstances occurs which
affects the assessment and that 1s within the contiol of the Group This reassessment could result i a recalculation of the lease liability
and a matenal adstiment to the assaciated balances.

Exceptional items

The business classifies certain events as exceptional tems due to their size and nature where 1t feels that separate disclosure would help
understand the underlying performance of the business. Restructuning and transformational cests are considered on a case by case basis
as to whether they meet the exceptional criteria Other tems are considered against the exceptional cnteria based on the specific
arcumstances. The presentation s consistent with the way Financial Pefformance is measured by management and reported to the
Board. Further discussion is disclosed in note 4.

Accounting estimates and judgements
The key accounting policies, estimates and judgements used 1n prepanng the Group’s and Company’s Annual Report and Accounts for the
year ended 31 March 2023 have been reviewed and approved by the Board,

Key accounting estimates

The areas of principal accounting uncertainty that could have a significant impact in the next 12 months are esimated usefuf lives of
rental assets, including residual values, the testing for impawment of goodwll and other intangibles which require signuhicant estimates
and Judgements relating ta cash flows, and the valuation of the fair value of acquired assets and labihities which also requires significant
estimates and judgements

The Group continually reviews depreciation rates and Using its Judgement adopts a best estimale policy In assessing estmated usefu!
economic lives of fleet assets. The rate of technalogicai and legislative change and impact of climate related risks 1s factored into the
estimates, together with the diminution in value through use and time. The Group also takes account of the profit or loss it makes on
the disposal of tixed assets in determining whether depreciation policies are appropnate.

Goodwill and other Intangible assels are tested for impairment by reference to the higher of expected estimated cash generated by the
CGU or fair value less cost 1o sale This 1s deemed to be the best approximation of value, but 1s subject to the same uncertainties as the
cash flow forecast being used. Further details are provided in note 10.

The accounting for acquisitions requires the Group to use Its judgement and use estimates to determine the fair value of net assets
acquired, particularly intangible assets Further details are provided in note 26

Key accounting judgements
The Group has not identified any significant judgements in the preparation of the financial statements.
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2. SEGMENT REPORTING

Segment reporting is presented in respect of the Group's business and gecgraphical segments The Group's reportable segments are the
two units, UK and International. This has been determined an the way in which hinancial information 1s organised and reported to the
Group Board who are respansible for the key aperaling decisions of the Group, allocating resources and assessing performance and hence
are the chief operating decision makers. Total externat revenue 1n 2u23 was £37 1.5 nnlhon (2022: £350 9 miflion). Inter segment pricing
s deterrmined on an arm’s tength basis. Included within revenue 1s £31.2 million (2022: £25.4 million} of revenue relating 1o the sale of
goods, the rest of the revenue is service related including hire revenue Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

Geographical segments

rRevenue 1s generated mamnly within the united kingdom with no single overseas geographical area accounting (v e thare 10% of
lhe Group revenue. Total overseas revenue was £63.3 million (2022: £50.9 million), including overseas revenue generated by the UK
based divisions.

Operating profit
before amortisation,
impairment of
intangible assets and

Business segments

Revenue exceptional items
2023 2022 2023 2022

External Internal Total External Internal Total

Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
UK 333,453 8,217 341,670 320,203 5,576 325,779 45,564 44,704
International 38,066 42 38,108 30,712 - 30,712 3,211 1,595
371,519 8,259 379,778 350,915 5,576 356,491 48,775 46,299

A recanciliation of operating profit before amaortisation and exceptional items to profit betore tax 1s provided in the Income Statement.

Assets Liabilities Net Assets
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
£000 f£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
UK 427,056 425,382 279,951 286,524 147,105 138,858
International 42,318 39,085 14,491 11,358 27,827 27,727
469,374 464,467 294,442 297,882 174,932 166,585

Acquired Capital

Assets Expenditure

2023 2022 2023 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000
UK - 1,647 59,952 63,011
International - - 6,908 5,023
- 1,647 66,860 68,034

Acquired assets relate pnmarily to tangible and intangible assets acquired as 2 result of acquisitions. Capital expenditure relates lo
tangible assets acquired in the normal course of business

Included within segmental assels above 1s goodwill in relation 1e the following segments UK £42 5 milhon (2022. £42.7 million),
International £2.1 million (2022: £2.2 million)
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Notes

3. OPERATING PROFIT

2023 2022
£000 £000
Operating profit is stated after charging/{trediting):
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 4,490 3,302
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment - owned 46,853 45,532
- leased 16,305 16,561
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (9,174) (7,045}
Amounts paid to auditors:
Audit fees — parent company annual accounts 515 500
- other Group companies 73 41
- other Group companies In respect of prior year audits 80 -
- tatal Group 668 541
Audit relaled assurance services all within Parent company 1 1
4. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
During the year, the Group incurred costs which were identified as being exceptional items.
2023 2022
£000 £000
Costs associated with Formal Sale Process 1,687 -
Restructuring and reorganisations 3,323
Total Exceptional Items 5,010

Costs assotialed with the Formnal Sale Process were professionat fees which were incurred by the Group as part of the procedure This was
a one off process which 15 deemed to be exceptional.

Casts incurred regarding restructuring and reorganisations relates to various regionalisation projects and the closure of certain branches during
the year Costs cover redundancies, property exit costs and witte off of assets whith can no fonger be used 1n all cases, these closures and
rearganisations were part of a one off process and were completed by 31 March 2023 and are thus deemed lo be exceptional The goodwili
and intangible assets charge of these closures was £1.2 million as shown in Note 10. This 1s not included in exceptional items

The excepltional items above resull in a reduction of £612,000 1n the tax charge.
Duning the year to 31 March 2022, the Group incurred na exceptionat items
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Notes

5. EMPLOYMENT COSTS

Group
The average monthly number of persons employed by the Group (including Direclors} dunng the year, analysed by category, was as follows.

Number of employees

2023 2022 z
Operalions 2,052 2,068 E
Sales 344 323 o
Administration 553 442 g
2,949 2,833 -
The aggregale payroll costs of these persons were as follows: -
2023 2022
£000 £000
Wages and salanes 109,575 103,667
Social secunty costs 10,125 9,065 é‘
Other pensien costs 3,648 3,256 %
Share option costs induding associated secial secunty costs - equity settled 466 1,343 a
- cash settled (521) 259
123,293 117,590
Company -
The average monthly number of persens employed by the Company (including Directors) during the year, anatysed by categary, was as §
follows: g
v
Number of employees =
2023 2022 2
Operations 403 388 Z
Sales 123 18
Administratian 187 169
713 675 z
=
Company 5
The aggregate payroli costs of these persons were as [cllows: %
2023 2022 %
£000 £000 =
Wages and salaries 32,383 30,449
Soaial security costs 3,686 3,235
Other pension costs 838 750
Share option costs including assaciated social security costs - equity settled 81 568
- cash setlled {521) 259
36,667 35,261
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6. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Group's key management are the executive and non-executive
Directors for services in all capacities during the year is as follows:

Basic remuneration including bonus and benefits
Cash allowances/pension contributions
Share options

Direclors The aggregate remuneration paid to or accrued for the

2023 2022
£000 £000
1,886 2,227
174 192
81 272
2,141 2,691

Further detalls of Direclors’ remuneration, pensians and share options, Including the highest paid Directer, are given n the Annual Report

on Remuneration on page 62 onwards

7. NET FINANCIAL EXPENSE

Financial income,

8ank and other interest receivable
Financial expenses.

Bank loans, overdrafts and other interest

Finance charges in respect of operating leases under IFRS 16

Net financial expense

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax expense

UK Corporation tax charge at 19% (2022 19%)
Overseas tax - current year

Adjustments in respedt of priofr years - UK
Adjustmenis 1n respect ol prior years - Gverseas
Total current tax

Deferred tax expense

Current year deferred tax

Impact of tax rate change

Adjustments to deferred tax in respect of pror years
Total deferred tax

Total lax expense In Ncgme statement

100

vopIC . com

2023 2022
£000 £000
32 2
(5,563) {4,414)
(3,038) (2,947}
(8,601) (7.355)
(8,569) {7,353)
2023 2027
£000 £090
4,909 6,097
724 764
(399) 13
(738) 218
4,496 7,092
1,336 489
1,151 2,711
713 (183)
3,200 3,017
7,696 10,109
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

The tax on the Group's profit betore tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate applicable 1o profits
of the consalidated entities as follows

2023 2023 2022 2022 g
% £000 Yo £000 l’:_
Profit before tax 30,706 35,644 &
Profit multiplied by standard -
rate of corporation tax 19.0 5,834 19.0 6,772
Eitects of,
tmpact of tax rate changes 3.7% 1,151 7.6 2711
Expenses not deduclible for tax purposes 1.2% 354 07% 227 @
Non-qualifying depreciation and amortisation 1.4% 429 1.0% 367 ]
Gains covered by exemption/losses (1.6%) (488) (0.8%) (268) §
Capital allowances super-deduction (0.6%) (195) {0.4%) {136) ®
Unutilised tax losses 0.2% 55 0% -
Effects of averseas tax rates 2.0% 618 1 1% 388
Share options t1.2% 362 - -
Adjustments in respect of prior years (1.4%) {424) 0 1% 48 é'
Total tax charge for the year 25.1% 7,696 28 3% 10,109 é_
5
o
Tax recognised in reserves 2023 2022 3
£000 £000 2
Other comprehensive income:
Tax relating to actuanal (losses)/gains on defined benefit pension schemes (60) 132 -
Tax relating to histenc asset revaluations ¢} {1} %
Tax relating to foreign exchange translation differences 56 52 g
Impact of tax rate change (58) _(o) 2
=
Direct 10 equity: (63) & g
Deferred tax relating to share based payments (62) (160) g
Current tax relating to share based payments - 70 N
Impact of tax rate change (16} n
(78) (79)
Total (141) ___6)

The UK corporation tax rate for the year ended 31 March 2023 was 19% (2022: 19%).

The rale of corporation tax has changed from 199 to 25%, effective from 1 Apnl 2023 Therefore, the closing deferred tax assets/habilities are
measured at 250%.

The main reconciling items are:

* Expenses not deductible for 1ax purposes; primanly related to capital transaclions, disallowable expenses and cuslormer entertaining

* Non-qualitying depreciation; mamly relates ta depreciation on land and buildings

* Gains covered by exemptions/losses; pnimanly related (o chatlels exemptions on the disposal proceeds of fleet items

* Overseas lax rates; which are higher than the UK tax rate, particularly in Australia and Germany

» Adjustrents in respecl of prior years; reflecting the ditterences between the 1ax calculation for accounts purposes and the final tax rewrns. The
main factor this vear is a lax credit from the carry back of Australian tax Josses Other factors include disallowed expenses and chargeable gains

* Impact of tax rate change, as noted above

The effective tax rate before any prior year adjustments, tax rale change, impairment of intangible assets and other exceptional items would be
expected 1o be aboul 2.1% over the standard rate of tax {2022: 1 6%).

The closing unremitted earnings of substdiaries 1s approximately £183m (2022, 172m). No deferred tax liability 1s recognised on investments in
subsidiaries, branches, associates and interests in Joint arrangements because the Parent company 15 able to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference and It 1s probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GROUP Land and Rental Motor Other

Buildings Equipment Vehicles Assets Total
Cost or deemed cost £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 April 2021 41,829 423,774 3,792 36,148 505,543
Additions 3,367 59,809 2,184 2,674 68,034
Acquisitions 630 883 96 38 1,647
Dispasals (503) (41,904} (367) (1,048) (43,822)
Exchange rate differences 10 351 15 87 463
Transfer between categones - (5) - 5 -
At 31 March 2022 45,333 442,908 5,720 37,904 531,865
Additions 2,532 59,944 714 3,670 66,860
Dispasals {280) (48,487) (258) (407) {49,432
Exchange rate differences (3) 769 &9 (82) 753
Transfer between categories - (5) - 5 -
Al 31 march 2023 47,582 455,129 6,245 41,090 550,046

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

At Apnl 2021 22,465 217,724 2,179 29,263 271,631
(harge for year 1,935 39,850 742 3,005 45532
Acquisiions - - - - -
on disposals {357) (31,428) (269) (9%4) {33,048)
Exchange rate differences 11 143 1 59 224
Transfer between categories - (5) - 5 -
At 31 March 2022 24,054 276,784 2,663 31,338 284,339
Charge for year 2,093 40,888 876 2,996 46,853
on disposals (195) {32,943} (2371) (383) (33,752)
Exchange rate differences {7) 264 11 (47} 221
Transfer between categories - (3} - 3 -
Al 31 March 2023 25,945 234,490 3,319 33,907 297,661

Net book value

At 31 March 2023 21,637 220,639 2,926 7,183 252,385
Al 31 March 2022 21,279 216,624 3,057 6,566 247,526
Al 31 March 2021 19,364 206,050 1,613 6,885 233,912
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT {continued)

COMPANY Land and Rental Motor Other
Buildings Equipment Vehicles Assets Yotal

Cost or deemed cost £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 -

At 1 Apnt 2021 18,104 185,767 1,960 14,392 220,223 g

Additions 667 16,123 50 1,435 18,275 ‘i

Groyp transfers in 630 2,898 - - 3,528 g

Group transfers aut - {4,198) - - {4,198) B

Disposals (220) {7,923) {209) (920) {9,272}

AL3T March 2022 19,181 192,667 1,801 14,507 278,556

Additions 823 22,003 236 2,009 25,071 g

Group transfers in - 3,443 - - 3,443 %

Group transfers out - {3,939) - - (3,939) rgb

Disposals (109) (14,872) (195) (109) {15,285)

At 31 March 2023 19 895 195,302 1842 16,807 737,846

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses §

At 1 April 2021 6,692 89,767 1,147 10,535 108,141 2

Charge for year 526 11,598 184 1,333 13,641 g

Group transfers in - 1,379 - - 1,379 3

Group transters out - (2.324) - - (2.324) 2

On dispesals (158) {5,366) (201) {883) {6,608}

At 31 March 2022 7,060 95,054 1,130 10,985 114,229 -
=

Charge for year 584 11,787 215 1,507 14,093 g

Group transfers in - 1,966 - - 1,966 &

Group lransfers out - {(2,005) - - (2,005) %"

On disposals (93) (8,382) (181) (89) (8,745) %

AL37T March 2023 7551 98,420 1,164 12,403 118,538 -

Net book value

At 31 March 2023 12,344 100,882 678 4,404 118,308
Al 31 March 2022 12,121 97,613 671 3922 114,327
AL 31 March 2021 11,412 96,000 813 3,857 112,082

The cost or deemed cost of lang and bulldings for the Group and the Company includes £3,204,000 (2022: £3,204,000} of freehold land
not subject to depreciation,

The banks that provide the Group’s funding facilities have a fixed and floaing charge over the assets of the Group as set oul In note 16.
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
GROUP

Cost or deemed cost

At 1 Apnl 2021

Acquired through business combinations
Exchange rate differences

Al 31 March 2022

Exchange rate differences

At 31 March 2023

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
A1 Apnl 2021

Exchange rate differences

Amortisation

Al 31 March 2022

Exchange rate differences

Amortisation

Impairment

At 31 March 2023

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2023

Al 37 March 2022
At 31 March 2021

Trade
Names
£000

14,349

14,405
(92)
14,313

6,610

1,221

7,871
(64)

1,230
271

9,308

5,005
6,534
7,739

Customer
Relationships
£000

26,383

191

57

26,631
(95)

26,536

13,571

2,081
15,688

(63)
2,103
714

18,442

8,094
10,943
12,812

Supply Goodwili Total
Agreements

£000 £000 £000

4,989 72,054 117,775

- 1,051 1,242

- 79 192

4,989 73,184 119,209

(124 (311

4,989 73,060 118,898

4,989 28,239 53,409

- - 76

- - 3,302

4,989 28,239 56,787

- - (127}

- - 3,333

- 172 1,157

4,989 28,411 61,150

- 44,649 57,748

- 44,945 62,427

- 43,815 64,366

Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets considered significant 1n comparison to the Group's total carrying amount of such assets
have been allocated ta cash generating units {CGUs) or groups of cash generating units as follows:

Ground!orce
Brandon Hire Station
FSS

MEP

TR

104
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Goodwill
2023 2022
£000 £000
7,465 7,632
25,876 25,876
5,260 5,260
3,981 3,981
2,067 2,196
44,649 44,945
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Goodwil] ansing on business combinations has been allocated to the (GUs that are expecled to benefit from those business combinations

The carrying value of intangible assets and goodwill has been assessed for impairment by reterence to its recoverable amount, being
the higher of its value 1n use and fair value less casts of disposal. Value in use has been estimated using cash flow projections over a
penod of 5 years derived from the approved budget fer the corming yedr and subsequent year's fong range forecast. The key assumptions
within the cash flow projections are those regarding revenue, margin and level of capital spend required to support the business. These
assumptions have been based on pasl experience, market conditions, terminal year growth and the size of the fleet. The Group tests
goadwill annually for impairment or maore frequently if there are any indications that goodwill might be impaired.

In the current year, trading focations associated with Groundforce weie closed resufting in some exceptional costs (see nole 4). The
goodwill and intangible assets attached 1o these were impaired as there 1s no longer any recoverable value assotiated wilh theese Thoee
imparments along witli amortisatiun were Lhigiged to cost at sales and are not included in excepticnal items, but they are excluded from
the Group’s adjusted profit before tax, amortisation, impairment of intangible assets and exceptional items as per the Alternative
Performance Measures on page 129 The charges relate to the CGUs shown on page 104.

The pre tax discount rate applied to all CGUs was 13% (2022, 11%), an estimate based on the Group’s weighted cost of capital, reflective
of the required return an investee would expect from each CGU The same discount rate is used as all CGUs are considered to have similar
piofiles. A long term growth rate factor of 2% (2022: 2%) was applied when assessing iImpairment. Based on this testing the Directors
do not consider any of the goadwill or intangible assets carned forward at the year end 1o be impaired with the exception of that noted
above even allowing for a reasonable degree of sensitivity to the underbying assumptions, including the discount rate.

COMPANY Trade Customer Supply

Names Relationships Agreements Goodwill Total
Cost or deemed cost £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 Apnl 2021, 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 2,482 5,548 394 25,163 33,587

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

ALT Apnl 2021 2,123 3,846 354 17,677 24,040
Amortisation charge 72 287 - - 359
At 31 March 2022 2,195 4,133 394 17,677 24,399
Amortisation charge 2 355 - - 357
Impairment charge 27 714 - 172 1,157
At 31 March 2023 2,468 5,202 T 394 717,849 25913
Carrying amount

At 31 March 2023 14 346 - 7,314 7,674
AL 31 March 2022 287 1,415 - 7.486 9,188
At 37 March 2021 359 1,702 - 7,488 9547

The Directors have reviewed the carrying amount of the Company’s goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets on the same basis as
the Group's goadwill and cencluded that there are no additional tmpairment charges required.
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Notes

11. LEASES
This note provides information for leases where the Group 15 a lessee

(a) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

The recognised right of use assets relate to the following types of assets

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000
Property 39,785 40,497 5,101 5,982
Equipment 5,302 6,016 3,735 5,027
vehicies 9,550 7,638 2,571 2,352
Total nght of use assets 54,637 54,151 11,407 13,361
The recognised lease liabilities relate to the following types of assets.
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000
Property 43,754 44,067 5,414 6,273
Equipment 5,494 6,222 3,910 5,227
vehicles 9,270 7.354 2,492 2,257
Total lease liabiities 58,518 57,643 11,816 13,757
Of which are:
Current fease habilities 14,622 14,147 3,579 4,004
Non-current lease ltabiltiies 43,896 43,4%6 8,237 9,754
58,518 57,643 11,816 13,758

Additions to the nght of use assets dunng the current hinancial year for the Group was £9 7 milbon (2022: £13 1 million) and for the Company
was £1 8 million (2022: £5 4 million)

(b} Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement

The ctonsolidated income statement shows the following amounts relating 1o leases for the year ended 331 March 2023

Group Company

2023 2022 2023 2022

£000 £000 £000 £000
Depreciation charge on right-of-use assets
Property 8,556 7,810 1,010 227
Equipment 3,495 3,788 2,494 2,535
Vehicles 4,254 4,963 1,359 1,594

16,305 16,561 4,863 4,956

Interest expense {included n finance expenses) 3,038 2,541 701 634
Expense relating to short-term leases
(included 1n cost of sales and administrative expenses) 2,051 2,661 131 225
Expenses relating to low-value assets that are not shown above
as short-term leases (included in administrative expenses} - 6 - 3

The total cash outflow for leases in 2023, including interest, for the Group was £19 0 million (2022 £19.5 milhon) and for the Company
was £5.6 millon {2022, £5.5 million)
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12, INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

COMPANY

Cost £000

At 1 April 2021 73,571

strke off of dormant compamos (4,796) P

Al 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 68,775 5

Impairment éo

At 1 Apnl 2021 1,687 =1

strike off of dormant companies {1,687}

At 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 -

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2023 68,775

At 31 March 2022 68,775 g‘

Al 31 March 2021 71,884 g

2

)

See note 30 for detalls of subsidiary undertakings.

13. INVENTORIES Group company -
2023 2022 2023 2022 §
£000 £000 £000 £000 Q_j-
Raw malenals and consumables 3,599 3,237 1,679 1,389 §
Goods for resale 5,316 4,719 593 504 3

During the year, as a result of the year end assessment of inventory, there was a £56,000 increase 1n the Group provision for impairment of
nventories {2022 £13,000 increase) and a £104,000 increase for Company (2022: £55,000 increase) The pravision reflects the Group’s best
estimate of potential inventory obsolescence. The cast of goods for resale expensed dunng the year was £23.9 million (2022: £20.0 million).
Inventories are stated after provisions for impairment of £1,870,000 (2022° £1,814,000). Due to the nature of the spares expenditure and
the approach to accounting for spares, it is not possible to provide the value of spares inventory expensed.

uoNew o 1apjoyzeys
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company

Current assets
2023 2022 2023 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000
Gross trade receivables 77,618 72,841 22,643 21,107
Trade recevables provisions (4,646) (5,203) (1,183) (1,221)
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 3,633 2,715
Other recervables 1,732 2,125 1,099 756
Prepayments and accrued income 6,809 6,294 2,171 2,784
81,513 76,057 28,363 26,1471

The maximum exposure to credit risk al the reporting date 1s the carmying value of each class of receivables as shown above. The Group
does not hald any collateral as secunty. Recevables acquired as part of the acquisitions In the year were £Nil (2022, £378,000) being the
fair value of recevables.

During the year there was 3 decrease in the provisions for impairment of trade receivables of £557,000 (2022 £2,039,000 decrease),
The valuation of the provision reflects the Group’s best estimates of ikely impairment as a result of the aging of the debl, expected crednt
losses and 1its knowledge of the debtors. The Group has a reasonable spread of credit risk with the top 25 custormers accounting for
significantly less than 50% of gross trade debtars. The ageing of the Group’s trade receivables {net of tmpairment provision) at the end

of the year was as follows: 2023 2027
£000 £000

Not overdue 59,376 55,207
G - 30 days overdue 6,038 5,138
31 - 90 days overdue 3,521 4,427
more than 90 days overdue 4,037 2,866
72,972 67,638

On this basis there are £13.6 million (2022: £12.4 millon} of trade receivables that are overdue at the balance sheet date that have not been
provided against, There 1s no indication as at 37 March 2023 that debtors will not meet their payment obligations in respect of trade receivables
recognised in the balance sheet that are unprovided. On this basis Lhere 1s no matenal difference between the farr value and the carrying value.

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000
AL 1 Apnl 5,203 7,242 1,221 1,277
Impairment provision charged to the Income Statement 3,305 2,074 880 693
Utilised in the year (3,862) {4,114} (918) (749)
Al 31 March 4,646 5,203 1,183 1221
Group Company
Non-current assets 2023 2022 2023 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 61,716 55,699

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, repayable either on demand or ten years from agreement date and range in
interest from 0% to 3.5%.

15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£000 000 £000 £000
Bank balances and cash 1n hand 14,697 16,622 5,389 5,542
Bank overdraft {3,557) (3,005} {3,557) {3.005)
Cash and cash equivalents as per cash {low staternent 11,140 13,617 1,832 2,537
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16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

2023
£000
Current liabilities
Lease habllitres 14,622
Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans 53,000
secured private placement loan 93,000
Arangement fees (492)
Ledst: ldlililies 43,896
189,404

Net debt defined as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents was

Group As at
31 mar 2022

£000
Secured loans 145,000
Arrangement fees {(779)

Cash and cash equivalents {13,617)
Net debt excluding lease [iabililies 130,604
Lease habilities 57,643
Net debt including lease liabilities 188,247
Company As at
31 Mar 2022
FO00
secured loans 145,000

Arrangement fegs (779

Cash and cash equivalents (2,537}
Net debt excluding lease hahilities 141,684
Lease liabilities 13,758
Net debt incduding lease liabilities 155,442

Group
2022
£o00

14,147

52,000

93,000
{779}

43,496

187,717

Cash
movermnents

£000
1,000
2,634
3,634

(18,959)

{15,325)

Cash
mavements

£000
1,000
705
1,705
(5,563

{3.858)

2023
£000

3,579

53,000
93,000

(492)
8,237

153,745

Non-cash
movernents

£000

287
{157}

130

19,834

19,964

Nan-cash
movements

£000

287

287
3.621

3,908

The repayment schedule of the carrying amount ot the non-current borrowings as at 31 March 2023 15

2023
Due in less than one year: £000
Lease kabilities 14,622
Due in more than one year but not more than two years:
Secured bank loans 53,000
Lease habilities 12,218
Total G—S,i—ﬁ
Due in more than two years but not mere than five years:
Secured bank loans -
Secured private placement loan 65,000
lease habilities 20,640
Total 85,640
Due in more thaan five years:
Secured private placement loan 28,000
Lease fabilities 11,038
Total 39,038
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Group
2022
£000
14,147

2023
£000
3,579

53,000
2,586

55,586

65,000
4,067

69,067

28,000
1,584

29,584

Company
2022
£000

4,004

52,600
93,000
(779)
9,754
153975

As at
31 Mar 2023

£000
146,000

(492)

(11,140)
134,368
58,518

192,886

As at
31 Mar 2023

£000
146,000

(492)

(1,832)
143,676
11,816

155,492

company
2022
£000
4,004

28,000
2,340

30,340

;
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Notes

16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

The bank toans and overdraft are secured by a fixed and floating charge aver the assets af the Group and are at variable interest rates
linked to SONIA. The unutilised bank facilities available to the Group as at 31 March 2023 were £37 million (2022- £38 million). In January
2020, the Group refinanced £65.0 milflion of secured bank [oans held with Lioyds Bank plc and HSBC Bank pic with a private placement
with PGIM, Inc. 3t a value of £65.0 million matunng in January 2027 at a fixed interest rate payable sermi-annually. In April 2021, the
Group drew down a new £28 million seven year private placement under the existing agreement with PGIM, In¢ In June 2021, the Group
also retinanced its £135 rnillion commutted revolving credit facilines with a new three year £50 million facility. The revolving credit facility
agreement also includes a £20 milhon uncemmitted accorcion facility,

There 15 no materal difference between the carrying value and fair value af the Group’s borrowings. Further details relating o the Group’s
funding strategy (including the maturity details of the bank loans) and 1t credit, interest rate and currency nsk policies are provided iy
the Financial Review on pages 35 to 36, the Risk Management Report on pages 38 ta 39 and the Directors’ Report within geing concern
on page 70 The foans are subject to covenants. Interest cover before amaortisation was 8.3 times (2022 101 times) and the gearing
ratio of adjusted Net Debt/EBITDA was 144 (2022: 1.43); both are calculated in accordance with our bank faciity agreements and are
comfortably within our covenanis of greater than 3 times and lower than 2.5 imes respectively.

Liquidity Risk
The following are cash fows relating to the Groups financial habilties, including estimated interest payments, but exciuding the impact
of netting agreements, based on the assumption that the loans are repaid at the end of the commutted period.

GROUP Carrying  Contractual Less than -2 2-5 Over 5
value  cash flows 1 year years years years
31 March 2023 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Secured loans 146,000 172,743 5,797 58,797 80,138 28,011
Lease liabilties 58,518 64,820 16,041 12,946 227,448 13,385
Trade payables, accruals and amounts
owed 1o subsidiary undertakings 64,448 64,448 64,448 -
268,966 362,011 86,286 71,743 102,586 41,394
31 Mmarch 2022
Secured loans 145,000 166,438 4,217 4,228 129,205 28,788
Lease liabilities 57.643 58,518 17,650 13,259 23,599 14,010
Trade payables, accruals and amounts
owed to subsidiary undertakings {restated) 71,869 71,869 71,869 - - -
274572 306,825 93,736 17,487 152,804 42,798
COMPANY carrying  Contractual Less than 12 2-5 Over 5
value cash flows 1 year years years years
31 March 2023 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Secured loans 146,000 172,743 5,797 58,797 80,138 28,011
Lease habilities 11,876 18,274 5,083 3,330 5,775 4,086
Trade payables, accruals and amounts
owed to subsidiary undertakings 25,658 25,658 8,683 - - 16,975
183,474 216,675 19,563 62,127 85,913 490772
31 March 2022
Secured loans 145,000 166,438 4,217 4228 129,205 28,788
Lease hiabilities 13,758 16,663 4,826 3,230 5,701 2,906
Trade payables, accruals and amounts
owed Lo subsidiary underiakings (restated) 25,483 25,483 13,235 - - 12,248
184,247 208,584 22,278 7,458 134,906 43,942

‘Trade and other payables include trade payables, accruals and, for the parent company, amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings. The
comparative figures have been restated to present the restated figures 1n note 18.
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
At the starl of the previous year, the Group had seven interest rate swaps to fix interest rates on a proportion of the revolving credit facility.
Detalls are as follows.

start date Original finish date Notional Debt value Fixed margin

April 2018 April 2021 12,000,000 1.154%

May 2018 May 2021 5,000,000 0 930%
Seplember 2018 September 2021 5,000,000 0 980%
December 2018 December 2021 7,500,000 1.209%
August 2019 August 2022 5,000,000 0 8%90%
August 2019 August 2022 5,000,000 0 884%
Ottober 2019 October 2022 5,000,000 0.485%

In June 20271, the Group terminated all of these interest rate swaps as part of the refinancing undertaken. Al 31 March 2022 and 31 March
2023, the Group has no interest rate swaps

There are no matenal differences between the carrying value and the fair value of the Group’s other hinancial istruments including trade
debtors and trade creditors. The risks associated with interest rate and foreign exchange rate management are discussed in the Capital
Structure and Treasury section of the Financial Review on pages 35 and 36 and the Principal Risks and Emerging Risk Areas on pages 39
to 42, as are the risks relating to credit and currency management and the capital management of the Group.

Financial Instrument Sensitivity Analysis
Ten percent movernents n Sterling exchange rates and interest rales in the current and prior year weuld have increased/(decreased)
equity and profit/(loss) by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other vanables remain conslant.

Equity and Profit/ (Loss)

2023 2022
10% strengthening of Sterling against: £000 £000
Us Dollar 39 75
Australian Dollar 17 (110)
Singapore Dollar 2) 1
Euro 2 79
10% weakening of Sterling against:
Us Dollar {48) (91}
Australian Dollar (z21) 135
singapore Dollar 2 2)
Euro (2) (96)
10% movement in Sterling interest rates:
Increase n interest rates (22} (14)
Decrease in interest rates 22 14

The exposure of the Group to other foreign exchange rate movements
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Notes

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current liabilities Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
Restated” Restated’
£000 000 £000 £000
Trade payables 30,568 30,326 8,576 5,705
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 37,882 38,551
Other tax and social security 5,799 6,779 2,116 3,176
Accruals and deferred income 35,817 43,571 16,007 18,061
72,184 80,676 64,581 65,493

Within accruals s £2.0 million (2022 £2.6 miltion} In relation to the hability for cash settled share options which are also valued at far
value. All other liabilities are valued at amoartised cost. There are no matedial liabiities i relation ta contracts with customers. Amounts
owed to subsidiary undertakings are repayable on demand, unsecured and interest free. Payables acquired as part of acquisitions were
£nil (2022: £0.1 million) being the fair value of payables.

“To better reflect the substance of the balance amounts previously disclosed within ather payables have been combined with accruals
The effect of this adjustment on the comparative figures is to increase accruals and deferred income by £6 8 million (Group) and £01
million {Company) and reduce other payables by £6.8 million {Group} and £0 1 million {Company).

Non-current liabilities Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000
Amounts cwed to subsidiary undertakings - - 16,975 12,248
19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attnbutable to the following
GROUP Property, plant Intangible Employee other
and equipment assets benefits items Total
Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
1 April 2021 8157 4,349 (671} {1,487) 10,394
Recogmised on acquisiion 343 36 - - 379
Recognised in income statement 3,568 330 7 {888) 3,017
Recognised In reserves 12 - 9 - 21
Recogrised In equity 2 - - (149) - {149}
Foreign exchange 63 12 {14) (45) 16
At 31 March 2022 12,183 4,727 (818) (2,414) 13,678
Recagmised on acquisition - - - - -
Recognised in income statement 2,445 {664) 582 837 3,200
Recognised In reserves 3 - {122} - (119)
Recognised 1n equity 8 - - (78) - (78)
Foreign exchange (94) (18) 20 31 (81}
At 31 March 2023 14,537 4,045 (416) (1,54¢) 16,620
0f the deferred lax liability above, the amount expected 1o unwind within 12 montbs is £3 6 million (2022: £3.2 million).
COMPANY Property, plant intangible Employee Other
and equipment assets benefits items Total
Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
1 Apn) 2021 9,550 675 (129) (388) 9,708
Recognised In income statement 3,139 28 (22) 49 3,264
Recognised In reserves 12 - (22) - (10
Recognised in equity - - {145} (149)
At 31 March 2022 12,701 773 (322 (339) 12,313
Recognised on acquisition - - - - -
Recognised in income staterment 1,598 (262} 547 72 1,955
Recogqnised In feserves 3 - {254) - (251)
Recognised n equity (78} - {78)
At 31 March 2023 14,302 511 (107) (267) 14,439

Of the deferred tax hability above, the amount expected to unwind wathin 12 months 15 £2 9 mullien (2022: £2 6 milkon),

Deferred tax assets have been recagnised on employee benefits and other ttems on the basis that there will be future taxable profits against
which these assets can be ulilised Deferred tax assets and habilties are only offset where there is a legally enforceable nght of offset and there
1S an intention to settle the net balance.
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20, CAPITAL AND RESERVES
2023

Ordinary share capital £000
Allotted, called up and fully paid

40,154,253 Ordinary shares of 5 pence each 2,008
(2022, 40,154,253}

The company articles authonse 60,000,000 shares (2022: 60,000,000). All shares have the same voting rights.

Reserves
Full details of reserves are provided in the consolidated and Parent company statements of changes in equity on pages 84 and

Own shares held

2022
£000

2,008

R7

Deducted from retained earnings (Group and Company) 1s £5,110,000 (2022; £4,478,000) i respect of own shares held by the vp
Employee Trust The Trust acts as a repository of issued Company shares and held 609,000 shares (2022: 510,000) with a market value

al 31 march 2023 of £4,104,000 (2022: £4,285,000).

21. DIVIDENDS

2023
£000
Amaunts recognised as distributions to equity holders of the Parent company In the year:
Ordinary shares:
Final paid ~ 25.5p {2022 25.0p) per share 10,112
Intenm paid 11.0p (2022 10.5p) per share 4,359
14,471

2022
£000

9,897
4,157

14,054

The dividend paid in the year 1s after dividends were waived 1o the value of £184,000 (2022: £201,000} in relation lo shares held by the

vp Employee Trust. These dividends will continue to be waived in the future.

In addrtion, the Directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the current year of 26.5p per share which will absorb an estimated
£10.5 million of shareholders” funds The proposed dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and

has nat been included in liabilities in the financial statements

22. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earmings per share of 58 05 pence {2022: 64.49 pence) was based on the profit after tax of £23,010,000 (2022:
£75,535,000) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 31 Maich 2023 of 39,635,000

{2022: 39,597,000}, calculated as follows.

2023

Shares

000s

Issued ardinary shares 40,154
Effect of own shares held (519)
weighted average number of ordinary shares 39,635

Basic earnings per share befare the amortisation of intangibles and exceptional items was 78.41 pence (2022: 71 24 pence) and
on an after tax add back of £8,067,000 (2022 £2,675,000) in respect of the amortisation of intangibles and excepticnal ems.
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Notes

22. EARNINGS PER SHARE {continued)

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share of 57 76 pence (2022: 63.83 pence) was based an profit after lax of £23,010,000 (2022
£25,535,000) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 31 March 2023 of 39,835,000
(2022: 40,009,000}, calculated as follows.

2023 2022

Shares Shares

000s 000s

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 39,635 35,597
Lffect of share options 200 412
weighted average number of ordinary shares {diluted} 39,835 40,009

The calculation of diluted earmings per share in the prior year does not assurne conversion, exercise or other issue of potential ordinary shares
that would have an antidilutive effect on eamings per share Diuted earnings per share before the amortisation of intangibles and
exceplional items was 78.01 pence (2022: 70.51 pence).

23. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

SAYE Scheme
During the yeat oplions over 3 further 410,764 shares were granted under the SAYE schemne at 3 price of 560 pence. The outstanding
options at the year end were:

Date of Grant Price per share Number of shares
July 2019 711p 116,101
July 2020 584p 265,018
July 2021 693p 246,602
December 2022 560p 400,396

1,028,117

The 2022 scheme was not granted n June because of the ongoing Formal Sale Process and was deferred untl December 2022 All the
oplions are exercisable belween 3 and 3.5 years At 31 March 2023 there were 954 employees saving an average £159 per month (2022:
957 employees saving £161 per manth) in respect of options under the SAYE scheme. The only SAYE scheme condilion is continuous
employment over the term of the option.

Approved Share Option Scheme
Options over a further 253,250 shares were granted during the year at 3 price of 787 pence. The options outstanding at the year end were:

Date of Grant Price per share Number of shares
July 2013 389.0p 4,000
July 2074 680.0p 9,350
July 2015 770.0p 25,350
July 2076 657 0p 20,150
July 2017 870.0p 51,333
July 2019 860 0p 21,900
July 2020 698.0p 166,400
July 2021 908 0p 91,600
August 2022 787 0p 243,850

633,933

These options are exercisable between the third and tenth anniversary of the grant. The awards for 2020 to 2022 are subject to
achievement of perfarmance largets aver a three year period. The awards for 2019 and priof are vested, but not yet exeraised
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23. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Unapproved Share Option Scheme
Options over 628,750 shares were granted during the year at 3 price of 787 pence. The options outstanding at the year end were:

Date of Grant Price per share Number of shares
July 2013 389.0p 24,200
July 2014 630.0p 48,600
July 2075 776.0p 58,250
July 2016 657.0p 139,850
July 2017 870.0p 154,851
July 2019 860.0n 83,700
,\Il|y nn 698 0p 469,600
July 2021 508 Op 653,900
August 2022 787.0p 590,150

2,223,101

These options are exercisable between the third and tenth anmversary of the grant. The awards for 2020 1o 2022 are subject to
achievement of performance targets aver a three year period. The awards for 2019 and pricr are vested, but not yet exercrsed.

Long-Term Incentive Plan
Awards were made during the vear in relation to 8 further 367,100 shares Shares cutstanding at the year end were:

Date of Grant Number of shares
July 2014 72,600
July 2015 69,500
July 2016 86,600
July 2017 62,195
july 2019 42,960
July 2020 384,400
July 2021 278,050
August 2022 330,100

1,326,406

These opticns are exercisable between the third and tenth annversary of the grant. The awards for 2020 lo 2022 are subject to
achievenent of performance targets over a three year period as shown in the Annual Report on Remuneration on page 64, The awards
for 2019 and pnior are vested, but not yet exercised.

Share Matching

No awards were made dunng the year in relation to shares. Shares outstanding at the year end were

Date of Grant Number of shares
Algust 2013 1,500
July 2014 2,500
August 2015 2,400
August 2016 2,200

2,600

These eptions are exercisable between the third and tenth anniversary of the grant. The awards for 2016 and prior are vested, but not
yet exercised
Awards under the above schemes will be generally made utilising shares owned by the Vp Employee Trust.

The market value of the ordinary shares at 31 March 2023 was 674 pence {2022: 840 pence), the highest market value in the year to
37 March 2023 was 980 pence (2022: 1060 pence) and the fowest 660 pence (2022. 826 pence) The average share price during the
year was 779 pence {2022- 937 pence).
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Notes

23. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES {continued)
The number and weighted average exercise price of share optiens 15 as follows:

2023 2022
Weighted Number of weighted Number of
average options average options
exercise price 0005  exercise price 000s
Outstanding at beginning of the year 554p 4,658 553p 4,511
Lapsed dunng the year 561p (962) 681p (1,035)
Exercised during the year 484p {136) 667p (318)
Granted dunng the year 557p 1,660 669p 1,500
Qutstanding at the end of the year 555p 5,220 554p 4,658
Exercisable at the year end 521p 1,100 484p 905

The options cutstanding at 31 March 2023 have an exercise price in the range of 0.0p to 908.0p and have a weighted average iife of
20 years

For ophians granled, the fair value of services receved in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of
those share options. The tair value for the approved, unapproved and SAYE eptions are measured using the Black-Scholes model and the
LTIP and share matching schemes are valued using a discounted grant price method. Cash settied options are valued at ther fan value
at each year end The assumptions used to value the probable options granted dunng the year were in the following ranges-

2023 2022
Wweighted average farr value per share 184.06p 298.5p
Share price at date of grant 700.0p to 787.0p 866 0p to 908 Op
Exercise price (details provided above) 0.0p to 787.0p 0.0p to 908.0p
expected volatlity 35.7% to 35.9% 37.4%
Option hfe 3 to 10 years 3 to 10 years
Expected divided yield 4.6% to 5.1% 2.8% to 2 9%
Risk free rate 1.75% to 3.00% 010%

The expecled volanhly 1s based on histonc volatiity which 1s based on the latest three years' share price data. The cost of share options
charged to the income Statement 1s shown in note 5.

The total carrying amount of cash settled transacuon liabilities Including associated national insurance at the year end was £1,991,000
{2022: £2,550,000) £1,937,000 of this lability had vested at the year end {2022: £2,314.000)
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24, CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments for property, plant and equipment at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been made are &s
follows:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000
Contracted 10,715 14,523 5,137 10,764

25, EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

nefined benefit schemes
The detalls in this section of the nate relate sclely 1o the defined benefit arrangements and exclude any allowance for contributions in
respect of death in service insurance premiums and expenses which are also borne by the Company.

The Group has two defined benefit pension schemes, the maen scheme is the Vp pension scheme with 3 net present value surplus of
£2.1 million {2022: £3.1 millien). In addition, Torrent Trackside participate in a small section of the Railways Pension Scheme with a net
present value surplus of £0.2 million (2022: £0.3 million net present value obligation) The twa schemes are considered below.

Vp pension scheme

vp plec operates a UK registered trust based pension scheme that provides defined benefits. Pension benefits are linked to the members’
final pensionable salaries and service at their retirement (or date of leaving if earlier) The Trustee 1s responsible for runming the Scheme
n accordance with the Scheme’s Trust Deed and Rules, which sets out ther powers. The Trustee of the Scheme is required to act in the
best interests of the beneficlanes of the Scheme.

There are two calegonies of pension scheme member:
« Deferred members: former employees of the Company not yet in receipt of a pension
® Pension members: in receipt of pension.

The defined benefit obligation is valued by projecting the best estimate of future benefit oulgoings (allowing for revaluation to relirement
for deferred members and annual pension increases for all membersy and then discounting Lo the balance sheet date. The majority ot
benefits receive increases in deferment inked to inflation (subject to a cap of no more than 5% pa). The valuation method used 1s known
as the Projected Unil Method. The approximate overall duration of the Scheme’s defined benefit obligation as al 31 March 2023 was 11
years (2022: 11 years).

The Trustee 15 required to carry out an actuanal valuation every 3 years. The last actuarial valuation of the Scheme was performed by the
scheme Actuary for the Trustee as al 31 March 2021 The valuation revealed a funding surplus of approximately £2,000,000. The Company
therefore does not expect to pay any contributions infe the Scheme dunng the accounting year begmning 1 Apnif 2023 The difference
between the acluanal valuation and the 1AS 19 valuation reflects the different valuation dates, the last actuarial valuation was as at 31
Mareh 2021, and the assumptions adopted. The actuarial valuation uses assumptions determined by the Scheme Trustees 1o evaluate the
Scheme funding requirements on a tnannual basis and the 1AS 19 valuation uses assumptions that are chosen by the Company, but
heavily prescribed by the accounting standard

Through the Scheme, the Company 15 exposed to a number of risks.

* Asset volatllity. the scheme’s defined benefit obligation 15 calculated using a discount rate sel with reference to corporate bond
yields, however the Scherne invests some of the assets in diversified growth funds. These assets are expected to outperform
corporate bonds in the long term, but provide volatility and risk 1n the short term.

# Changes in bond yields: a decrease in corporate bond yields would increase the Scheme’s defined benefit obligation

+ Inflatian nsk: & significant proportion of the Scheme’s defined benefit obligation 1s linked to inflation, therefore higher inflatron
will resutt in a higher defined benefi obligation {subject to the appropriale caps in place).

e Life expectancy. if Scheme members live longer than expected, the Scheme’s benefits will need to be paid for longer, increasing
the Scheme's defined benefit obligation.

The Trustee and Company manage nsks in the Scheme through the following strategies.

e Diversification investrents are well diversified, such that the failure of any single investment would not have a matenal impact
on the overall level of assets

= Investment strategy: the Trustee I1s required to review its investment strategy on a regular basis
« LDI: the Scheme invests in Liability Driven Investment (LDI} funds in order to control interest rate and intlation risks.
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Notes

25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS {continued)

Torrent Railways pension scheme

Torrent participates in a section of the multiemployer Railways Pensicn Scherne (the “Section”), a UK reqistered trust based pension scheme
that provides defined benefits. Pension benefits are hinked to the members’ final pensionable salaries and service at therr retirement {or date
of leaving If earlier). The Trustee 15 responsible for running the Section In accordance with the Section’s Trust Beed and Rules, which sets out
their powers The Trustee of the Scheme is required to act in the best interests of the beneficianes of the Scheme

There are three categories of pension scheme members in the Section:
* Active members: currently employed by the Company and accruing pension benefits
e Deferred members: former members of the Section not yel in receipt of pension

e Pensiongr members: In receipt of pension.

The defined benefit abligation is valued by projecting the best estimate of future benefrt outgaings (allowing for future salary increases
for active members, revaluation to retirement for deferred members and annual pension increases for all members) and then discounting
tc the balance sheet date. The majonity of benefils receve increases linked to the CPI inflation. The valuation method used is known as
the Projected Unit Method. The approximate overall duration of the Section’s defined obligation as at 31 March 2023 was 20 years.

The Trustee is required to carry out an actuanal valuation every 3 years, As al December 2022 this process was ongoing.

The last actuanal valuation for the Section was performed by the Scheme Actuary for the Trustee as at 371 December 2019. This valuation
revealed a surplus in the Section of £33,000 on the Scheme Funding basis. The Company agreed to pay annual contributions of 20.9%
pa of members’ section pay prior to 30 June 2018, and 21.7% pa of members’ pensionable salanes from 1 July 2018; all subject to the
Ommibus rate as defined i the Rules The Company expects to pay around £15,000 to the Section dunng the accounting year beginning
1 Apnit 2023. The difference between the actuanal valuation and the 1AS 19 valuation 1s due to the same principles as described in the
vp plc details abave, albeit the last acluarial valuation was performed at 31 December 2019.

Through the Section, the Company 1s exposed to a numbey of nisks:

® Assel volatilty the Section’s defined benefil obligation 1s calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond
yields, however the Section invests significantly in equities. These assets are expected to outperform corporate bonds in the long
term, but provide velatiity and risk in the short term.

® (hanges in bond yields a decrease in corporate bond yields would increase the Section's defined benefit obligation, however, this
would be partially offset by an increase in the value of the Section’s assets.

inflation risk: a significant proportion of the Section’s defined benefit gbligation is finked 1o intiation, therefore tugher inflation will
result In a hugher defined benefit obligation (subject to the appropnate caps in place). The majority of the Section’s assets are either
unaftected by inflation, or only loosely correlated with inflation, theretore an increase in inflation would also increase the deficit.

Life expectancy: 1f Section members live longer than expecled, the Section’s benefits will need to be paid for longer, increasing
the Section’s defined benefit obligation

The Trustee manages risks I the Section through the following strategies:

* Dwversification: investments are well diversified, such that the failure of any single investment would not have a matenial impact
an the overall level ol assets.

s Investment sirategy: the Trustee 1s required to review the investment strategy on a regular bass.

All actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the year 1n which they occur in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. From 1 April
2013 the Group and the Company has adopted 145 19 revised as set oul in the accounting policies in note 1

Present value of net surplus Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000
Present value of defined benefit obligation (7,201) {9,531) {6,012) (7,706)
Fair value of scheme assets 9,501 12,269 8,147 10,774
Present value of net surplus 2,300 2,738 2,135 3,068
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

The movement in the defined benefit surplus 1s as follows:

Group 2023 2022
Present Fair Present Fair
value of  value of value of value of -
obligation assets Total  obligation assels Total o]
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 f000 &;
At beginning of year (9,531) 12,269 2,738 (10,800} 12,775 2,175 %’9
Service cosls (31) 173) (207) (37 {145) (182} =
Interest {cost}/Income (250) 322 72 (177} 212 35
Re-measurements
Actuanal losses: change in demographic assumptions - - - (108) - {108)
Actuanal gains: change in financial assumptions 2,199 - 2,199 $11 - 911 Py
Acluarnal losses: experience dilfenng §
from that assumed {131) - (131) (1 - (1) 2
Actyaniat losses: actual return on assels - (2,387) (2,387) - (98) (98) ©
Contributions: employer - 16 16 - 16 16
Contributions: employees (7) 7 - {7 7 -
Benefits paid 553 (553) - 498 (498) . -
(7,201) 9,501 2,300 (9,537) 12,269 2,738 g
=3
=8
v
Company 2023 2022 =
Present Fair Present Fair 2
value of value of value of value of =
obligation assets Total  obligation assets Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Al beqinning of year (7,706) 10,774 3,068 (8,737) 11,394 2,657 :‘ar
Service ¢osts - (158) (158) - (136) (136} g
Interest {cost)/income (201) 282 81 (145} 189 44 g
Re-measurements 5‘
Actuarial losses: change in demegraphic assumptions - - - (88) - (86) 3
Actuarial gains: change in financial assumptions 1,507 - 1,507 765 - 765 g
Actuanal gains: experierice differing
from that assumed (113) - (113) 26 - 26
Actuanial losses: actual return on assets - (2,250) {2,250) - (202) (202)
Benefits paid 50 (s501) - 471 (4771 -
(6,012) 8,147 2,135 {7,706) 10,774 1,068
Expense/(income} recognised in the Income Statement Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000
Service casts 207 182 158 136
Net interest (72) {(35) (81) (44)
135 147 77 92
These expenses/{income) are recognised i the following line jtems 1n the Income Statement.
Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000
Cost of sales 207 182 158 136
Administrative expenses (72) (35) (81) (44)
135 147 77 92
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Amount recagnised in other comprehensive income Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000
Acluarial gains/{losses) on defined benetit obligation 2,068 792 1,394 705
Actual return on assets less interest {2,387) (99) (2,250) (202)
Amount recognised 1n other comprehensive income (319) 693 (856) 503

Cumulative actuanal net gains/(losses) reported in the statement of comprehensive income since 1 April 2004, the transition to adopted
IFRSs, for the Group are gain of £110,000 (2022 gan of £428,000), Company loss of £716,000 (2022. gain of £146,000).

Scheme assets and returns

The far value uf the scheme assets and the return on those assets were as follows:

Group Company

2023 2022 2023 2022

£000 £000 £000 £000
Fair value of assets
Giversified growth funds 4,043 4,145 4,043 4,145
Equities and other growth assets 555 1,088 - -
Bonds and cash 3,055 5,385 2,256 4,978
Lability driven investments (1D1) 1,848 1,651 1,848 1,651

9,501 12,269 8,147 10,774
Returns
Actual return on scheme assets {2,065) 114 (1,968) (13)

None of the fair values ¢f the assets shown above include any of the Cormpany’s own Iinancial Instruments of any property occupied by or
other assets used by the Company. The Scheme nvests in the “Matching Core” range of LDI funds provided by Legal & General Investment
Management (LGIM) (the Scheme’s investment manager}. These are unit-linked, pooled investment vehicles, with an unquoted unit price. The
markel value for the purposes of the finanaal statements was provided by LGIM and was the bid-value of the funds al the accounting date

Principal actuarial assumptions
The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet dale (expressed as weighted averages) are:

Group and Company

2023 2022
Inflation 3.5% 4.2%
Discount rate at 31 March 4.8% 2.7%
Expected future salary increases 2.0% 2.1%
Expected future pension increases 3.4% 3.9%
Revaluation of deferred pensions 2.9% 3.6%

Mortality rate assumptions adopted at 31 march 2023, based on 52PA CMI Model 2019, imply the following hie expectations on
retirement at age 65 far:

2023 2022
Male currently aged 45 23 years 23 years
Female cufrently aged 45 26 years 26 years
Mafe currently aged €5 22 years 22 years
Female currently aged 65 24 years 24 years
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
History of schemes
The history of the schemes for the current and prior years is as follows:

Group 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
£000 Loou £000 £000 £ 000 =
o
o
Present value of defined benefit obligation (7,201) (9,531} (10,600) (9,.812) {10,187} 2.
Fair value of plan assets 9,501 12,269 12,775 12,830 12,919 §
<
Present value of net surplus 2,300 2,738 2,175 3,018 2,732 =
Company 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Present value of defined beneht obligation (6,012) (7,706} (8,737) (8,312) (8,591) @
fair value of plan assets 8,147 10,774 11,394 11,665 11,757 g
o
Present value of net surplus 2,135 3,068 2,657 3,353 3,166 ?D

{Losses)/gains recognised in statement of comprehensive income

Group 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 §
2.
fference between expected and actual return on scheme assets. %
Amount (£000) (2,387) {98) 223 178 468 g
Percentage of scheme assets (25.1%) (0 .8%) 1.7% 1 4% 36% 3
m
=2
Expenence gans and losses ansing on the scheme liabilities: &
Amount (£000) (131) {11) 15 (8) 205
Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities (1.8%) {0.1%) 0.1% {(0.1%) 2.0% .
=
Effects of changes in the demographic and finanaial assumptions -
underlying the present value of the scheme habilities: g
Amount (£000) 2,199 303 {1,033) 198 (95) ]
Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities 30.5% 8 4% {9.7%) 2.0% (0.9%) =
3
Recognition of Rallways pension scheme 2
Amount (£000) - - - - - =
Percentage of present value of scheme habilities (0.0%) (0.0%) {0.09%) (0.0%) (0.0%)
Total amount recagnised in statement of comprehensive income:
Amount (£000) (319) £93 {795) 368 536
Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities (4.4%) 7 3% (7 5%) 3 8% 5 3%
Company 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Difference belween expected and actual return on scheme assets:
Amount {£000) (2,250) (202) 27 201 426
Percentage of scheme assels (27.6%) (1 9%) 0.2% 1.7% 3.6%
Experience gains and losses ansing on the scheme liabilities;
Amount {£000) {(113) 26 - - 192
Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities (1.9%) 0.3% 0.0% 0.0% 22%
Etfects of changes in the demographic and finantial assumptions
underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities:
Amount {£000) 1,507 679 {708) 33 (30}
Percentage of present value of scheme habilities 25.1% 8.8% (8.1%) 0.4% (0.3%;)
Total amount recognised n statement of comprehensive ncome.
Amount {£000) (856) 503 (681) 234 546
Percentage of present value of scheme habilities (14.2%) 6 5% (7.8%) 2.8% 6 4%
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25, EMPLOYEE BENEFITS {continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity aof the net pension asset/obligation to assumptions is set out below:

vp ple scheme

change in change in defined
Assumption assumption benefit obligation
Discount rate +/- 0 5% pa -5/ +6%
RPI inflation +/-0.5% pa +1% /1%
Assumed life expectancy + 1 year +50
Torrent Railways scheme

Change in change in detined
Assumption assumption benefit obligation
Discount rate + /- 0.5% pa -9 /+10%
CPl intlation +/- 0.5% pa +7% /-7 %
Assumed life expectancy + 1 yeal +4%

All of these are conststent with the prior year except Assumed Life Expectancy which was +4% compared to 5%

These calculations provide an approximate guide to the sensitivity of results and may not be as accurate as a full valuation carnied out
on these assumptions. Each assumption ¢hange 15 considered 10 1solation, which in practice 1s unlikely to occur, as changes In some of
the assumptions are correfated.

Defined contribution plans

The Group also operates defined contrbution schemes for other ehgible employees, the main schemes being the Vp money puichase
scheme and the Legal and General Stakeholder Scheme. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group. The
pension cost represents contnbutions payable by the Group and amounted to £2,310,000 (2022: £1,945,000) n the year

122 vpple.com  Vp ple Annual Report and Accounts 2023



Notes

26. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

During the prior year, the Group acquired the following business:

Name of acquisition

M &S Hire Limited

Details of the acquisition are provided below:

Date of acquisition

16 Novemnber 2021

Type of acquisition

Share purchase
(100% equity)

Acquired by

Hire Station Limited

Group
2022
Total
£000
Property, plant and equipment 1,647
Cash 107
Cther current assets 387
Tax, trade and other payables (196)
Deferred tax (351)
Fair value of net assets 1,594
Fair value adjustments
Intangibles on acguisition 191
Deferred tax on intangibles {36)
Fair value of intangible assets acquired 155
Goodwill on acquisition 1,051
Cost of acquisitions 2,800
satisfied by
Cash consideration 2,800
Analysis of cash flow
for acquisitions
Cash consideration 2,300
Net cash in acquisitions (107)
7,693

The farr value of net assets generally reflect the bogk value of assets in the acquired company/business. The acquisition was made to grow
market share and expand the product range. Intangibles identified 1n relation te the acquisition relate to customer lists. The amortisation
pefiods for these intangibles are set out in note 1. The goodwill ansing on acquisition is primarily attributable to the expected operational
synergies within the Group's businesses. The acquisition costs expensed in the year ended 31 March 2023 in relation to the acquisition were
£nil {2022; £56,500).

The acquired business' trade and assets were hived up nto Hire Station Lirmted at 1 December 2021 The acquired business contrbuted
revenues of £91,000 and net profit of £37,000 to the Group for the period 16 November 2021 to 30 November 2021,

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2021, consolidated pro-forma revenue and profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 would have
been £1,320,000 and £176,000 respectively. These amounts have been calculated using the subsidiary's results and adjusting them for:

« differences m the accounting poficies between the Group and the subsidiary; and
« the additional depreciation and amortisation that would have been charged using the fair value adjusiments to property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets had applied from 1 April 2021, together with the consequential tax effects
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Notes

27. RELATED PARTIES

Material transactions with key management (being the Directors of the Group) mainly constitute remuneration including share based
payments, details of which are included n the Remuneration Report 0n pages 52 to 69 and in note 6 to the Financial Statements

Trading transactions with subsidiaries - Group
Transactions between the Company and the Group's subsidianes, which are related parties, has been eliminated on consohdation and are
therefore not disclosed.
Trading transactions with subsidiaries - Parent company
The Company enters into transactions with its sybsidiary undertakings in respect of the following:
® |nternal funding loans
* Provision of Group services {including Seror Management, |7, Group Finance, Group HR, Group Properties and Shared Service Centre)
* Rehire of equipment on commercial terms
Recharges are made for Group services based on the utilisahon of those services In addition to these services the Company acts as 3

buying agent for certain Group purchases such as insurance and I services These are recharged based an utihsation by the subsidiary
undeftaking

The amount outstanding from subsidiary undertakings to the Company at 31 Maich 2023 totalled £65,349,000 (2022: £58,414,000)
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings by the Company at 31 #arch 2023 tolailed £54,857,000 (2022 £50,799,000}

The Company and certain subsidiary undertakings has enlered inte cross guarantees ol bank loans, private placement leans and overdrafts
to the Company. The total value of such borrowings at 31 March 2023 was £146 0 million (2022: £145.0 mullion).

28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

In an international Group a vanety of claims anse fram time Lo time 10 the normal course of business Such claims may arise due 1o
matters concerning suppliers or customers, actions being taken agamst Group companies as a result of nvesiigations by fiscal authonties
or under requlatary requirernents. Pravision has been made In these cansalidated financial statements against any clarms which the
Directors consider are likely to result in sigmificant liabilites of required under accounting standard 145 37

29. ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY

The Company 15 a subsidiary undertaking of Ackers P Investrnent Company Limited which is the ulimate Parent company incorporated
in United kingdom and registered at Central House, Beckwith Knowle, Otley Read, Harrogate, HG3 1UD. Consohdated accounts are
prepared for this company. Ackers P Investmeni Company Limited 1s uftimately controlled by a number of Trusts of which, for the purposes
of Sections 252 to 255 of the Companies Act 2006, Jeremy Pilington 1s deemed (o be a connected person

124 vpple.com  Vp ple Annual Report and Accounts 2022



Notes

30. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS
The investments in trading subsidiary undertakings as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 are:

Torrent Trackside Limted
Hire Station Limited
Arpac Rentals Pte Limited

Airpac Bukom Qiltield
Services {Curacag) NVA

Afrpac Bukem Gilfield
Services Middie Fast FZE

Alrpac Rentals
(Australia) Ply Limited

¥p GmbH

Vp Equipment Rental
(Ireland} Limited

¥p Equipment Rental Ply Limited
TR Pty Limited
Tech Rentals (Malaysiay SON BHD

Vidcom New Zealand Limited

Country of
Registration or
Incorporation
kngland

England

Singapore

Curacao

Sharjah

Australia

Germany

ireland

Australia
Australia
Malaysia

New Zealand

Principal
Activity

Rail equipment hire

Tool hire

Oilfield services

Oilfield services

Oiltield services

Oilfield services

Equipment hire

Equipment hire

Helding company
Equipment hire
Equipment hire

Equipment hire

Vp plc Annual Report and Accounts 2023 vpplc.com

Country of
Principal
Operation
UK

UK

Singapore

(uracao

Sharah

Australia

Germany

Ireland

Australia
Austraha
Malaysia

New Zealand

Class and
Percentage of
Shares Held

Ordinary shares 100%
Ordinary shares 100%

ordinary shares 100%

Ordinary shares 100%

Ordinary shares 100%

Ordinary shares 100%

Ordnary shares 100%

Ordinary shares 100%

Ordinary shares 100%

Ordinary shares 100%

Ordinary shares 100%

Ordinary shares 100%
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Notes

30. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS {continued)
The full list of the dormant subsidiary undertakings is:

Country of Country of Class and

Registration or Principal Principal Percentage of

Incorporation Activity Operation Shares Held
Stoppers Specialists Limited England Dormant n/a Ordmary shares 100%
Trench Shore Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
Vibroplant Investments Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
E:mgs@g;ﬁ;gg()”“e'd England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
fFred Pilkington & Son Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
Domindo Too! Hire Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
instant Tool Hire Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
The Handi Hire Group Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
Hire & Sales (Canterbury) Limited England Dormant n/a Crdmnary shares 100%
Vibroplant Trustees Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
UM (Holdings) Limited England Darmant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
U-Mole Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
727 Plant Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
Cannon Tool Hire Limited tngland Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
M.E.P Hire Limited 5cotland Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
Arcotherrmn (UK) Limited Fngland Dormant n/a Drdnary shares 100%
Vibroplant Lirmted England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
Mr Cropper Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
Direct Instrument Hire Limiled England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
g?;tug {Y‘;ﬂ;ﬁemem Hire England Dormant n/a ordinary shares 100%
Test & Measurement Hire Limited England Dormant n/a Crdinary shares 150%
Higher Access Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
Zenuith Survey Eguipment Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
Survey Connection Scotiand Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
Brandon Hire Group Limited England Dorrant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
Brandon Hire Group Holdings Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
8randon Hire Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
FNPR Holdings Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
First National Plant Rental Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
TPA Portable Roadways Limited England Dormant n/a QOrdinary shares 100%
Sandhurst Limited England Dormant n/a Ordinary shares 100%
M & S Hire bimited England Dormant n/a ordinary shares 100%
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Notes

30. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS (continued}
The registered offices of the campanies are

Country of Registration Registered Office Address
v
tngland Central House, Beckwith Knowle, Otley Road, Harrogate HG3 1UD %
=1
scotland Tofthills Avenue, Midmiil Business Park, Kintore, Aberdeenshire AB51 0QP é?
=
Singapore 9 Pioneer Sector 2, Singapore 628371
(uracao Brionplem 4, Curacao, Netherlands Antlles
Sharjah SAll Gffice PR-13-10, PO Box 121378, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates @
2
Australia 18 Joseph Street, Blackburn North, Victonia 3130 §
(g2
Germany Lurgiaflee 6-8, 60439 Frankfurt
Ireland 70 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay, Dublin 2
Malaysia Wisma Goshen, 2nd Floor, 60 & 62 Jalan §522/21, Damansara Jaya,

47400 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Dami Ehsan

New Zealand 27 Exmouth Street, Eden Terrace, Auckland 101

=
=
o
>
2,
=R
w
—
o
=
2
]
=2
=
el

The subsidiary companies listed below are exempt from the requirements of Compantes’ Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual

w
accounts by virtue of section 479A of Companies' Act 2006. %
=
Company Registered number %
Torrent Trackside Limited 01132882 %h
=
3
g
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Five Year Summary

Revenue

Cperating profit before amortisation and exceptional items
Profit before amortisation, taxation and exceptional items

Profit/{Loss) before taxation
laxation

Profit /{Loss) after taxation
Dividends*

Share capital
Capital redemplion reserve
Reserves

Total equity betore non-controlling interest

Share Statistics

Assel value
Earnings (pre amartisation}
Dividend**

Times covered {pre amortisation)

* Dividends under IFRS relate only to dividends declared in that year

2019
£000

382,830

51,571
46,829

33,581
(7,759)

25,822

(10,853)

2,008
30
166,549

168,858

421p
95.14p
30.20p

315

2020 2021 2022 2023
£600 £000 £00D £000
362,927 307,997 350,915 371,519
55,480 30,928 45,299 48,775
46,640 23176 38,946 40,206
28,366 (2,269) 35,644 30,706
(9,779) (2,332) {10,109) (7,696)
18,587 (4,601) 25,535 23,010
(12,055 (8,674) (14,054) (14,471)
2,008 2,008 2,008 2,008
301 30 301 301
167,585 150,781 164,276 172,623
169,894 153,090 166,585 174,932
473p 331p 415p 436p
8021p _46.56p 7124p 78.41p
_3045p 2300 __36.0p _37.5p
30 19 2.0 2.1

** Dividends per share stalistics are the dividends related to that year whether paid or proposed The speaa! dividend of 22 00 pence
per share declared on 17 January 2021 15 1n relation to the financial year ended 31 march 2020.
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Alternative Performance Measures

The Board menitors performance principalty through adjusted and like-for-like performance measures. Adjusted profit and earnings per share
measures exclude certain items including the impact of IFRS16, amortisation of acquired intangible assets and goodwil! impairment charges
and exceptional ierns.

The Board believes that such allernative measures are useful as they exclude one-off (amortisation, impairment of intangible assets and
exceptional items) and non-cash (amortisation of intangible assets) iterms which are normally disregarded by investors, analysts and brokers

in gaining & ueater understanding of the underlying pertormance of the Group from one vear 1o the next when making mvestment and é
other decisions. Equally, IFRS16 15 excluded from measures used by these same stakeholders and so 15 removed from certain APMs .§
The key measures used as APMs are reconciled below. r’é’
(=}
2023 2022 =

£000 £000

Profit hefnre tav as per Income Stotement 3u, /06 35,644

Adjustment to remove IFRS 16 impact 283 {41}
Adjusted profit before tax APM 30,989 35,603 o
Amortisaticn and impairment of intangible assets 4,490 3,302 5
Excepticnal items 5,010 - 2
Adjusted profit before tax, amortisation, impairment of "

intangible assets and exceptional items APM (PBTAE) 40,489 38,905

Interest {excluding interest on lease Nabilities) 5,542 4,431

Adjusted operating profit before tax, amortisation, impairment of
intangible assets and exceptional items APM 46,031 43,336 =
Depreciation (excluding depreciation of right of use assets) 46,853 45,532 é_
Adjusted EBITDA APM 92,884 88,868 g
— b — g
3
2023 2022

UK International Total UK International Total
Segment Segment Segment Segment %
Operating profit befare lax, amartisation, §-
impairment of intangible assets and exceplional tems 45,564 3,211 48,775 44,704 1,595 46,299 2
Adjustment to remove g
IFRS 16 1mpact (2,622) {122) (2,744) (2,872) (91} (2,963) g
Adjusted operating profit before tax, a
amortisation, impairment of intangible assets g

and exceptional items APM 42,942 3,089 46,031 41,832 1,504 43,336

Adjusted operating margin 1s calculated by dividing adjusted operating profit before tax, amortisation, imparment of intangible assets
and exceptional items by revenue.

2023 2022

Pence Pence

Basic earnings per share 58.1 64.5
Impact of amortisation, impairment of intangible assets

and exceptional items alter tax 20.3 6.7

Impact af IFRS 15 0.6 -

Adjusted basic earnings per share APM 79.0 2

2023 2022

£000 £000

Net debt including lease liabilities 192,886 188,247

Lease liabilities {58,518) (57.643)

Net debt excluding lease liabilities APM 134,368 130,604

Return on average capital employed {ROACE) is based on profit before Operating profit before tax, amortisation, impairment of
intangible assets and exceptional items as defined shove divided by average capital employed on a monthly basis using the
management accounts.
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